When telephoning, please ask for: Democratic Services

Direct dial 0115914 8320

Email democraticservices@rushcliffe.gov.uk
Our reference:

Your reference:

Date: Wednesday, 25 February 2026

To all Members of the Council

Dear Councillor

A Meeting of the Council will be held on Thursday, 5 March 2026 at 7.00 pm in
the Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena, Rugby Road, West Bridgford to
consider the following items of business.

This meeting will be accessible and open to the public via the live stream on
YouTube and viewed via the link: https://www.youtube.com/user/RushcliffeBC
Please be aware that until the meeting starts the live stream video will not be
showing on the home page. For this reason, please keep refreshing the home
page until you see the video appear.

Yours sincerely

Shegn

Sara Pregon
Monitoring Officer

AGENDA

Opening Prayer
1. Apologies for absence
2. Declarations of Interest

Link to further information in the Council’s Constitution

3. Minutes of the Meetings held on 20 and 27 November 2025 (Pages
1-20)

To receive as a correct record the minutes of the Meetings of the
Council held on 20 and 27 November 2025.

4. Mayor's Announcements
5. Leader's Announcements
6. Chief Executive's Announcements

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

Email:
customerservices
@rushcliffe.gov.uk

Telephone:
0115981 9911

www.rushcliffe.gov.uk

Postal address
Rushcliffe Borough
Council

Rushcliffe Arena
Rugby Road

West Bridgford
Nottingham
NG27YG

(2 disability
B confident

'—— EMPLOYER ——

RUSHCLIFFE - GREAT PLACE » GREAT LIFESTYLE = GREAT SPORT


https://www.youtube.com/user/RushcliffeBC
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/about-the-council/policies-strategies-and-other-documents/accessible-documents/council-constitution/#Councillor%20Code%20of%20Conduct

10.

11.

12.

13.

Citizens' Questions

To answer questions submitted by Citizens on the Council or its
services.

Petitions
2026/27 Budget and Financial Strategy (Pages 21 - 182)

The report of the Director — Finance and Corporate Services is
attached.

Council Tax Resolution 2026/27 (Pages 183 - 192)

The report of the Director — Finance and Corporate Services is
attached.

Update on the Political Composition of the Council and Committee
Membership

The report of the Chief Executive is To Follow.

Barton in Fabis Community Governance Review (Pages 193 - 212)
The report of the Chief Executive is attached.

Notices of Motion

To receive Notices of Motion

a) Councillor Birch
“Council notes that:

1. Physical cash remains essential for residents who cannot, or
choose not to, use digital payment systems.

2. Cash protects personal liberty by providing:
e autonomyover personal finances without reliance on
banks or devices;
e privacy without mandatory data trails;
e resilience when digital systems fail or networks go down;
and
e equality for residents excluded by digital-only services.

3. Removing cash acceptance risks making access to council
services conditional on technology, wealth, or digital
proficiency, which undermines fairness and public
confidence.

Council believes that:

a. Access to cash is a matter of civic freedom and informed


https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/have-your-say/public-speaking/
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/have-your-say/public-speaking/
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/about-the-council/policies-strategies-and-other-documents/accessible-documents/council-constitution/#_Toc106704299

choice, not nostalgia.

b. Councils should lead by example in preserving the right to use
cash for on-site payments.
C. Residents should not be compelled into digital systems to

participate in everyday civic life.
Council therefore resolves to:

1. Guarantee that physical cash will continue to be accepted as
a payment option at all council-owned premises where on-site
payments are taken.

2. Require an Equality Impact Assessment and committee
approval before any move to cashless operation is considered
for a Council service or venue.

3. Instruct the Chief Executive to review current payment
arrangements and report within three months on:
e where cash is currently accepted;
e where it has been removed in the last five years;
e options to reinstate cash access where appropriate.

Write to relevant partners and contractors to encourage the
continued acceptance of cash in Council-affiliated services.”

b) Councillor Thomas

“The Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD) for the Gamston/Tollerton Sustainable Urban Extension has
been subject to full public consultation and revision and was
unanimously supported at the cross-party Local Development Forum
on 7 January 2026. It was considered by Cabinet on 13 January
2026. Cabinet supported the principle of the SPD but paused the
approval process in order to write to various parties — this action has
now been taken, and replies have been received showing that
considerable progress has been made since this action was taken.

Council recognises both the importance of the SPD to delivery of
housing in Rushcliffe and the concerns expressed by residents about
potential contamination, flooding and highways matters.

Council supports adoption of the East of Gamston/North of Tollerton
Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document at the
earliest opportunity.

Council notes that the process going forward requires planning
applications for development on any part of the site, necessitating
public consultation, and in particular that:

(@) para 3.23 of the SPD has been amended to expand on
safeguards re contamination during the individual application
stages;



(b)  highways and access proposals will be published for full
public consultation before approval of any planning
applications on the site;

(c) a flood risk assessment will be required to accompany any
planning application on the site where this is relevant, to be
subject to review by the relevant consultees.”

Membership

Chair: Councillor J Cottee

Vice-Chair: Councillor R Butler

Councillors: M Barney, J Billin, T Birch, R Bird, A Brennan, A Brown, S Calvert,
J Chaplain, K Chewings, N Clarke, T Combellack, S Dellar, A Edyvean, S Ellis,
G Fletcher, M Gaunt, E Georgiou, P Gowland, C Grocock, R Inglis, R Mallender,
S Mallender, D Mason, P Matthews, H Om, H Parekh, A Phillips, L Plant,
D Polenta, N Regan, D Simms, D Soloman, C Thomas, R Upton, D Virdi,
J Walker, R Walker, L Way, T Wells, G Wheeler, J Wheeler and G Williams

Meeting Room Guidance

Fire Alarm Evacuation: In the event of an alarm sounding please evacuate the
building using the nearest fire exit, normally through the Council Chamber. You
should assemble at the far side of the plaza outside the main entrance to the
building.

Toilets: Are located to the rear of the building near the lift and stairs to the first
floor.

Mobile Phones: For the benefit of others please ensure that your mobile phone is
switched off whilst you are in the meeting.

Microphones: When you are invited to speak, please press the button on your
microphone, a red light will appear on the stem. Please ensure that you switch
this off after you have spoken.

Recording at Meetings

National legislation permits filming and recording by anyone attending a meeting.
This is not within the Council’s control.

Rushcliffe Borough Council is committed to being open and transparent in its
decision making. As such, the Council will undertake audio recording of meetings
which are open to the public, except where it is resolved that the public be
excluded, as the information being discussed is confidential or otherwise exempt



34

35

Agenda Iltem 3

Rushcliffe MINUTES
Borough Council OF THE MEET'NG OF THE
COUNCIL

THURSDAY, 20 NOVEMBER 2025
Held at 7.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena,
Rugby Road, West Bridgford
and live streamed on Rushcliffe Borough Council’s YouTube channel

PRESENT:
Councillors R Butler (Vice-Chair), M Barney, JBillin, T Birch, R Bird,
A Brennan, A Brown, S Calvert, JChaplain, K Chewings, N Clarke,
T Combellack, S Dellar, A Edyvean, S Ellis, G Fletcher, M Gaunt, E Georgiou,
P Gowland, C Grocock, R Inglis, R Mallender, S Mallender, D Mason, H Om,
H Parekh, N Regan, D Simms, D Soloman, C Thomas, R Upton, D Virdi,
J Walker, R Walker, L Way, T Wells, J Wheeler and G Williams

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE:

L Ashmore Director of Development and
Economic Growth

D Banks Director of Neighbourhoods

R Clack Deputy Monitoring Officer

A Hill Chief Executive

P Linfield Director of Finance and Corporate
Services

E Richardson Democratic Services Officer

H Tambini Democratic Services Manager

APOLOGIES:

Councillors J Cottee, P Matthews, A Phillips, L Plant, D Polenta and G Wheeler
Declarations of Interest

Councillors Brown, Butler, Clarke, Gowland, Om, Upton and J. Wheeler
declared an interest In respect of ltem 3 Local Government Reorganisation in
Nottingham and Nottinghamshire. They confirmed that as dual hatted members
of both Nottinghamshire County Council and Rushcliffe Borough Council, they
had attended earlier a meeting at Nottinghamshire County Council and voted
on the item being discussed this evening. They confirmed that they had come
to the meeting with an open mind and were ready to listen to the debate in the
interests of Rushcliffe’s residents.

Local Government Reorganisation in Nottingham and Nottinghamshire
The Leader and Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Borough-wide
Leadership, Councillor Clarke MBE presented the report of the Chief
Executive, which provided an overview of the draft Greater Nottinghamshire
Proposal for Local Government Reorganisation (LGR).

The Leader referred to its tremendous significance and thanked officers from

page 1



Rushcliffe and around the County for their hard work in producing this complex
submission. This report presented the strategic case for creating two, new
unitary councils, Nottingham Council and Nottinghamshire Council, to deliver
clear accountability, better services and stronger local leadership. The Leader
stated that despite the Government’s guidelines being unclear, a process had
to be followed, with residents’ needs always coming first; however, he felt that
the vast maijority of the public did not want LGR, especially as it was not in the
Labour Party’s Election Manifesto.

The Leader stated that the vision and ambition of this proposal was to apply a
strapline of ‘Safer, Simpler, Stronger’ governance, which would align with the
boundaries of the Combined Authority and the Integrated Care Service,
providing simplified service delivery. The proposals included Neighbourhood
Committees, giving real influence over priorities and funding, with joined up
services, allowing councils to act quickly, and it was hoped that the
reorganisation would allow a ‘digital first’ approach. The Leader stated that in
respect of economic growth, Nottingham was a national and international hub,
with the County focused on clean energy and advanced manufacturing.

The Leader referred to the complicated financial case, which could be
summarised as annualised savings of £122m by Year 3, rising to £235m by
Year 5, with an anticipated payback period of 1.34 years. In respect of
governance, it was proposed that 187 Councillors would represent both
authorities, which would reduce current numbers by more than half, increasing
workloads for individual Councillors. The creation of Neighbourhood
Committees for hyper-local decision making, having a stronger partnership with
parish and town councils was envisaged, with further work on this after
implementation in 2028. Before then, significant work would be required to
produce a comprehensive Implementation Plan, to ensure safe transition and
service continuity. The Leader confirmed that the submission aligned with
Government priorities and criteria, and that it would deliver better services,
empower communities, facilitate economic prosperity, and secure financial
resilience, and he felt that Option 1b was the best of the proposed three
options.

In moving the recommendations, the Leader referred to recommendation c)
and stated that the membership of the Task and Finish Group should be
expanded to a suitable number to ensure representation from across the
Council.

Councillor Brennan seconded the recommendation and reserved the right to
speak.

Councillor J Walker stated that LGR had come to the forefront due to the need
for long term financial sustainability, following years of austerity, which had
pushed many councils to the brink. She felt that everyone agreed that a way
was needed to make collective councils more sustainable, by looking at
funding distribution, and it was good that the future shape of Local Government
was being discussed. She welcomed the concept of a Task and Finish Group;
however, she wished it had been proposed earlier and suggested that it would
be better if it was Chaired by an opposition group member. She felt that there
had been no real cross-party consultation, referred to the Council’s decision to

page 2



align with the Reform led County Council and believed that the Conservative
Party was in decline. She noted that on this important matter, the
administration had chosen not to work with Rushcliffe Councillors but with
County Councillors, which no other district had chosen to do.

Councillor Thomas stated that Option 1b would be preserving and morphing
the two existing larger councils into two new ones and she could not support it,
as Councillors had been promised new organisations, with the Leader
accepting her amendment to include that in the resolution at the July Council
meeting. Councillor Thomas felt that the proposed names emphasised this lack
of change, with residents still being unsure who to contact. She stated that the
proposal failed to address concerns regarding critically important upper tier
functions, which should be run jointly. The most cost effective option would be
a single unitary authority, which had been ruled out; however, she believed that
it would still be possible for two unitary authorities to create a structure where
the upper tier functions could be run collectively. Councillor Thomas believed
the neighbourhood proposals were badly thought through and needed to be
more detailed for the Government to consider. Planning required a more local
approach and she questioned how this would work over such a large area and
was disappointed that this had not been addressed at this stage.

Councillor Birch proposed the following amendment to recommendation a),
which was seconded by Councillor Chewings, who reserved the right to speak.

a) supports the submission and recommends to Cabinet that the Greater
Nottinghamshire Proposal for Local Government Reorganisation be
submitted by the deadline of 28 November 2025 and sends a letter to
Government stating strongly that this Council although submitting a
proposal feels the Local Government Reorganisation process does not
have public support and the Government should have been open by
including this in their election manifesto.

Councillor Birch agreed that this was not in the Labour Government’s
Manifesto, which the amendment was noting and whilst the situation was far
from ideal, a decision had to be made and he felt that Option 1b was the least
worst option, with the most coherent geography and giving roughly an urban
authority and a rural authority. He questioned how Councillors who were now
voicing concerns about LGR had voted in favour of it at the County Council in
2018 and felt that this had to be noted.

The Leader confirmed that he accepted the amendment, which then became
part of the substantive motion.

Councillor Gaunt stated that whilst the Government's Manifesto did not
specifically mention LGR, it did include a pledge for the devolution of power
across England, which amounted to streamlining decision making, improving
financial viability and increasing accountability. He stressed the importance of
this decision and was disappointed that instead of all Councillors working
together from the start, the Conservative administration had refused to
consider any part of the Borough joining the City, and he felt that none of the
three options being put forward to the Government were acceptable.

page 3



Councillor Gowland agreed that the most cost effective option would be a
single unitary authority and disagreed that it would not follow Government
guidelines, and she advised that the current plan did not fit in with health based
partnership maps. She stated that the Labour Manifesto did talk about
devolution, this had been an issue for the past 10 years, and she was surprised
how quick the projected payback time was. She stated that Option 1b made no
sense for residents in West Bridgford and reiterated the need for local
representation in the area.

Councillor R Mallender expressed concern about the potential loss of local
knowledge, especially for planning and he referred to the need for local
representation and expertise, not just in Rushcliffe but throughout the County.
Neighbourhood Committees had been mentioned, but there was no detail and
it was vital to maintain those lower levels of democracy. Councillor Mallender
also referred to the importance of electoral reform and the need for proportional
representation, as the current system was no longer fit for purpose.

Councillor Soloman thanked officers for their hard work and stated that she
supported Option 1b, as she felt it addressed the challenges faced by
Nottingham City Council, whilst protecting the viability of other Nottinghamshire
councils and simplifying services. It provided a clear structure, stronger
delivery, with significant potential savings, and most importantly she felt that it
supported the best interests of local residents. Councillor Soloman spoke about
her significant involvement in producing the petition, which she believed was
intended to advocate for the best outcome for Rushcliffe’s residents through
cross-party collaboration, and she was disappointed that this had not
happened, and that her name was subsequently removed from the petition,
which she felt was a consequence of her leaving the Conservative Party. She
felt that decisions must be based on integrity and what was right for
Rushcliffe’s residents, based on geographical similarities, financial savings and
streamlined services.

Councillor Calvert thought that two tier authorities should be replaced by
unitary councils, and that any of the options proposed would be better than the
current system, as they would provide simpler, more cohesive and effective
local government, reducing the current disparity in levels of deprivation and
enhancing service delivery. He agreed that the proposed new Nottingham
Council should include parts of Rushcliffe, and as a minimum West Bridgford,
and that the whole County would benefit from a successful core City and in
supporting the case for a boundary review, he felt that the current system was
untenable. He stated that West Bridgford needed strong, local democratic
representation and sought reassurance that if Nottinghamshire Council was
established, that would happen, and he hoped that the Government would
make a timely decision. He also supported proportional representation.

Councillor Chewings stated that there was no support for LGR, and that it
came from a desire to make cuts, rather than making improvements. He felt
that the issues facing Rushcliffe were different to those in other parts of the
County; however, as a result of this process, the Borough would be linked to
them. He also referred to planning and the loss of local knowledge in the
decision making process. Councillor Chewings felt that the options being put
forward were not fit for purpose and would create a tier of government with no

page 4



link to the community, resulting in the removal of the embodiment of
Councillors’ responsibilities for their communities.

Councillor Grocock reiterated thanks to officers for their hard work and believed
that the standardisation of local authority structures into unitary authorities was
necessary and referred to the various areas where unitarisation had taken
place since the process began in the late 1960s. He stated that this was a long
standing and necessary process, and the challenges of delivering public
services could not be ignored. Council was reminded that under the current
system, decisions were already taken by County Councillors who were miles
away from Rushcliffe. He stated that Councillors should be explaining and
reassuring residents about the process, rather than alarming them about
possible mergers with the City, and Councillor Grocock stated that the
proposals put forward by Nottingham City Council were the most sensible and
more accurately reflected the urban, rural divide.

Councillor Barney stated that LGR was necessary to find ways of working more
effectively, doing more with fewer resources, being more efficient and working
together. It was a difficult situation and a decision had to be taken, and he
supported the recommendation, as he believed that it was in the best interests
for Rushcliffe.

Councillor R Walker suggested that whilst other options, including a single
unitary authority, or an expanded City might have merit, due to the stipulated
guidelines, they were unlikely to be successful, and he was satisfied that the
presented option was the best in the current situation.

Councillor Simms agreed that the process was flawed due to the Government’s
parameters and that there was not enough time to evaluate all possible
options. He stated that he was here to represent local residents, and whilst he
did not believe that LGR was the best option for residents, as it was bad for
local democracy, the proposed option was the best one for Rushcliffe.

In seconding the recommendation, Councillor Brennan stated that whilst she
agreed that there was little enthusiasm for LGR, it was pleasing that
Councillors were so passionate about the process, and she genuinely believed
that all Councillors were doing the best for local residents. She felt that this was
the best option for Rushcliffe and stated that she had not met a resident from
Radcliffe on Trent who wanted to join the City. Whilst recognising the ongoing
challenges the City faced, Councillor Brennan did not believe that Rushcliffe
could solve them, and she questioned even with expanded boundaries how the
City would be run to avoid previous mistakes. She questioned there being any
reference in the Labour Manifesto to LGR and reiterated the lack of support
generally for it and stated that the Conservative Group was fully supportive of
cross-party working.

The Leader advised that when the process started, Reform UK had no elected
members at the County Council, and Rushcliffe had already said that it did not
want to be part of any new Council, which would involve joining the City
Council. He stated that Rushcliffe had been very open, with cross-party
briefings taking place, and he advised that some Councils were not taking
reports to their Council meetings. The Leader confirmed that a single unitary

page 5



option had been considered; however, it had not been supported, as the
population would have been outside the guidelines. Strategic planning would
be undertaken by the East Midlands Combined Authority Mayor, and the
Leader was sure that some type of Area Committees would be set up to
consider planning applications. The Leader advised that any new council would
look at local representation for West Bridgford. He agreed that the process was
flawed, being pushed through too quickly and he wished that the process had
been different, to allow more discussion; however, a decision had to be taken,
and he considered Option 1b to be the best one for Rushcliffe. The leader
requested that a recorded vote be taken, which was agreed by four
Councillors.

| accordance with Standing Order Paragraph 4.23, a recorded vote was taken
for this item as follows:

FOR: Councillors M Barney, T Birch, R Bird, A Brennan, A Brown, R Butler, K
Chewings, N Clarke, T Combellack, S Dellar, A Edyvean, S Ellis, G. Fletcher, E
Georgiou, R Inglis, D Mason, H Om, H Parekh, N Regan, D Simms, D
Soloman, R Upton, D Virdi, R Walker, T Wells, J Wheeler, and G Williams

AGAINST: Councillors S Calvert, J Chaplain, P Gowland, R Mallender and S
Mallender

ABSTENTIONS: Councillors J Billin, M Gaunt, C Grocock, C Thomas, J Walker
and L Way

It was RESOLVED that Council:

a) supports the submission and recommends to Cabinet that the Greater
Nottinghamshire Proposal for Local Government Reorganisation be
submitted by the deadline of 28 November 2025 and sends a letter to
Government stating strongly that this Council although submitting a
proposal feels the Local Government Reorganisation process does not
have public support and the Government should have been open by
including this in their election manifesto;

b) recommends to Cabinet that it delegates authority to the Chief Executive
to approve the final design and any necessary minor editing revisions of
the Proposal document and submit it to the Ministry for Housing,
Communities and Local Government on 28 November 2025; and

c) recommends to Cabinet that it establishes a cross-party Task and Finish
Group to provide oversight of Local Government Reorganisation in
relation to the residents of Rushcliffe on the basis of the draft Terms of
Reference at Appendix Two.

The meeting closed at 8.22 pm.

CHAIR

page 6



36

37

38

39

Rushcliffe MINUTES
Borough Council OF THE MEET'NG OF THE
COUNCIL

THURSDAY, 27 NOVEMBER 2025
Held at 7.00 pm in the Council Chamber, Rushcliffe Arena,
Rugby Road, West Bridgford
and live streamed on Rushcliffe Borough Council’s YouTube channel

PRESENT:

Councillors R Butler (Vice-Chair), M Barney, JBillin, T Birch, R Bird,
A Brennan, A Brown, S Calvert, JChaplain, K Chewings, N Clarke,
T Combellack, S Dellar, A Edyvean, S Ellis, G Fletcher, M Gaunt, E Georgiou,
P Gowland, C Grocock, R Inglis, R Mallender, S Mallender, D Mason,
P Matthews, H Om, H Parekh, A Phillips, L Plant, D Polenta, N Regan,
D Simms, D Soloman, C Thomas, R Upton, D Virdi, Jd Walker, L Way, T Wells,
J Wheeler and G Williams

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE:

L Ashmore Director of Development and
Economic Growth

D Banks Director of Neighbourhoods

R Clack Deputy Monitoring Officer

A Hill Chief Executive

P Linfield Director of Finance and Corporate
Services

E Richardson Democratic Services Officer

H Tambini Democratic Services Manager

APOLOGIES:

Councillors J Cottee, R Walker and G Wheeler
Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest made.

Minutes of the Meeting held on 18 September 2025

The minutes of the meeting held on Thursday, 18 September 2025 were
approved as a true record and signed by the Deputy Mayor.

Mayor's Announcements

The Deputy Mayor thanked the children from Crossdale Drive School for
coming to sing Christmas Carols, which had been very enjoyable. He also
thanked everyone involved with organising the successful West Bridgford
Christmas Lights Switch On, which had been very well attended.

Leader's Announcements

The Leader referred to the recent event at the Sir Julien Cahn Pavilion

page 7



40

41

42

43

celebrating Nottinghamshire County Cricket Club winning the championship, in
conjunction with a re-launch of the refurbished Pavilion. The event was very
well attended and he looked forward to the Pavilion being well used, including
by the Women’s County Cricket Club.

The Leader referred to a fantastic achievement by the East Leake Community
Care Association, which had been awarded the King’'s Award for Voluntary
Service.

Chief Executive's Announcements

There were no Chief Executive’s Announcements.
Citizens' Questions

No citizens’ questions were received for this meeting.
Petitions

No petitions were presented at this meeting.

Rushcliffe Borough Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing
Policy 2025-2030

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Environment and Safety, Councillor Inglis
presented the report of the Director — Neighbourhoods detailing the Rushcliffe
Borough Council Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy 2025-
2030.

Before introducing the report, Councillor Inglis proposed that he would be
making an amendment to recommendation b) to read as follows, which was
seconded by Councillor Regan, who reserved the right to speak.

b) requires a review to be undertaken in respect of potential mandating of
CCTV in Taxi and Private Hire vehicles within 12 months, and the
findings be reported to the Licensing Committee

Councillor Soloman arrived at 7.11pm.

Councillor Inglis confirmed that the Policy had been subject to a six-week
consultation, and then considered by the Licensing Committee, which had
raised additional matters relating to mandating CCTV in taxis, which he would
refer to later. The Committee had agreed the Policy, which proposed some
significant changes to keep it legal, incorporate Government guidance and
reflect the current climate of the taxi industry. It was hoped to address the
decline in Hackney capacity, increase efficiency and lower costs, whilst
maintaining safety standards and encourage new drivers. Councillor Inglis
advised that the full summary of the proposed changes was in Annex 2 and he
highlighted the main updates as detailed in Paragraph 4.2 of the report. He
thanked the Assistant Director of Public Protection and his team for their
continued hard work.

page 8



Councillor Inglis referred to CCTV and stated that whilst this was not part of this
Policy review, it was an issue being considered at Chief Executive level across
the county. It was recognised that nationally legislation needed to be updated,
to bring uniformity and consistency. Councillor Inglis referred to taxis from other
authorities, who overwhelmingly outnumbered Rushcliffe’s own licensed
vehicles, in particular from the City of Wolverhampton Council, and he referred
to the importance of having locally licensed drivers, under Rushcliffe’s control.
It was positive that a review was a Government priority; however, time scales
were unknown. Councillor Inglis advised that all the Nottingham authorities had
concluded that mandating CCTV must be a national policy; however, he was
concerned that this might not take place before Local Government
Reorganisation (LGR). Council was reminded that Rushcliffe was proud to
currently promote the White Ribbon Awareness Campaign and support the
campaign to end Violence against Women and Girls. It was important that
drivers were protected too, so waiting for change was not an option and
Rushcliffe wanted to start the process. Councillor Inglis referred to the
recommendation from Licensing Committee, which had been included as
recommendation b), and believed that a review was necessary before any
application for a mandatory CCTV scheme could be successful. The review
would include engagement, offer support to Rushcliffe’s drivers and operators
and encourage voluntary implementation of a CCTV scheme. Councillor Inglis
concluded by stating that he was passionate about safety for all and that this
could be achieved by everyone working together.

Councillor Grocock acknowledged that this was an important issue, felt that the
Borough was adopting a sensible approach and referred to the lack of national
regulations, allowing operators to work anywhere, which could result in
Rushcliffe losing more drivers, if it introduced mandatory CCTV. Safety was
vital, he confirmed that the Labour Group supported the introduction of CCTV
and felt that the current regulations prevented Rushcliffe addressing this issue
alone and welcomed recommendation c). He referred to the importance of
Rushcliffe increasing its driver and operator numbers, to increase oversight,
improve economic development and ensure covering throughout the Borough.
Referring to the review, Councillor Grocock stated that to ensure appropriate
consultation, to allow the Borough to be prepared in 12 months’ time, he
proposed the following additional recommendation, which was seconded by
Councillor Chaplain, who reserved the right to speak.

f) consults with licenced operators and drivers in the Borough, and
industry representative groups and drivers' trade unions, more broadly,
to gain insights into developing and implementing the most effective
CCTV schemes.

Councillor Inglis confirmed that he accepted the amendment, which then
became part of the substantive motion.

Councillor Chewings advised that due to the amendment, he wished to declare
that he was a trade union representative for the RMT, which represented taxi
drivers. However, he felt that the matter under debate did not directly impact on
the finances or well-being of his interest and he was satisfied that he could
approach his decision making with an open mind.

page 9



Councillor Dellar advised that she did not agree with CCTV in taxis and felt that
any reference to it in the Policy should be removed. There was no evidence
that it was required or improved safety, it would incur costs and the Police had
not advised the Council that there was a problem. Councillor Dellar felt that this
could intrude on peoples’ rights and suggested that if it was mandated by the
Government, then it could be reviewed.

Councillor Soloman was pleased that a review had been proposed; however,
she felt that by not making CCTV mandatory now, the Council was missing an
opportunity to make taxis as safe as possible. She stated that the voluntary
scheme was not working and that evidence overwhelming supported CCTV as
a safeguarding measure. Those she had spoken to were in favour of this, and it
would also protect drivers and she referred to two recent cases locally that had
shown why CCTV was necessary. She agreed that the Government should
make this mandatory and supported recommendation c); however; she felt that
Rushcliffe should lead rather than follow. Councillor Soloman stated that 96%
of taxis were licensed in Wolverhampton and proposed an amendment, which
was seconded by Councillor Thomas, who reserved the right to speak.

Councillor Soloman hoped that by encouraging the City of Wolverhampton
Council this would be a positive step given the number of taxis it licensed.

9) Rushcliffe Borough Council writes to the City of Wolverhampton Council,
as one of the largest licensing authorities in the UK, to lead by example
by introducing mandatory CCTV (and where lawful, audio recording)
within its Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy,
recognising its national impact through cross boundary vehicle
operations.

Councillor Inglis confirmed that he did not accept the amendment as Rushcliffe
was already taking the lead and it could not dictate actions to another Council,
which could incur significant costs.

The Leader felt that the amendment took away from the recommendations, as
Rushcliffe was asking the Government to mandate CCTV across the country,
and writing to the City of Wolverhampton Council would not achieve
Rushcliffe’s goal of safeguarding passengers in its own, local vehicles. The
Leader confirmed that James Naish MP had stated that he would be pushing
for the Government to introduce mandatory CCTV across the country.

In seconding the amendment, Councillor Thomas stated that in general it was
better to have taxis licensed in the Borough. She felt that reaching out to the
City of Wolverhampton Council would help to raise the profile of mandating
CCTV and she did not agree that this would weaken the approach to the
Government, as everyone agreed that any regulations needed to be applied
nationally.

Councillor Soloman was surprised that the amendment had been rejected, as it
would have no negative impact on Rushcliffe. A letter would acknowledge that
Wolverhampton held all the power, and she felt that it would be a good thing to
ask them to look at this issue, as continued delays were putting more people at
risk.

page 10



Councillor Inglis stated that it would be illegal for the Council to mandate CCTV
now, Rushcliffe was following the correct procedure by having a review,
collecting evidence and looking at the legislation and engaging with other local
authorities.

On being put to the vote, the amendment was defeated.

Councillor Thomas thanked officers in the Licensing Team for their continued
hard work and was pleased that a review had been proposed. She agreed that
CCTV would improve safety; however, there were implications that required
consideration before making it mandatory. She felt that the review would
highlight relevant issues and brief everyone.

In supporting the Policy, Councillor Brown referred to the importance of the
Government making CCTV mandatory, which was now fitted to most public
transport. He stated that he would like to see all local authorities introduce a
mandatory practical driving assessment and expressed concern that drivers
could hold a licence without having much experience. He called for all local
authorities to have the same requirements when issuing a licence as this safety
issue was as important as CCTV provision.

Councillor Polenta stated that whilst CCTV cameras helped, prevention came
through investment in community structures to improve safety and attitudes
towards women and children, that security did not just come from surveillance
and referred to the findings of the Jay report. Any new policies must be shaped
alongside workers and community needs, and the risks to passengers and
drivers should not be ignored. Councillor Polenta agreed that it was important
to consult with the trade unions, as they were aware of positive and negative
aspects of CCTV and called for clear rules on what information could be
recorded and for community based reporting.

Councillor R Mallender stated that as a local authority, Rushcliffe had limited
options. He referred to an inquiry launched by the Transport Committee in July,
and although it did not specifically mention CCTV, it was looking at future
reforms, including safeguarding, and he was pleased that this was taking place
nationally as well as locally.

Councillor Birch stated that he disagreed with the motion primarily on privacy
grounds and agreed with Councillor Dellar. He felt that it was a massive
infringement on civil liberties and a burden on businesses. Whilst wanting
everyone to be safe, previous incidents of child abuse already referred to were
primarily caused by the inability of a local authority to take any action, with the
abuse not taking place in taxis.

Councillor Chewings referred to the lengthy debate at the Licensing Committee
meeting and that there were now only seven Hackney Carriage vehicles
licensed in the Borough. He stated that it was important going forward to have
a structure in place and any changes were made nationally, so he agreed with
recommendation c). He referred to the 22 local authorities that had already
mandated CCTV and questioned why Councillor Inglis had said that this would
be illegal. Councillor Chewings referred to the railways and stated that CCTV

page 11



drastically reduce violent incidents and provided clarity and security for
everyone. He agreed that if CCTV was mandated in Rushcliffe now, drivers
were likely to move to another authority, and he called for the Government to
bring in national legislation.

Councillor Parekh stated that putting CCTV cameras in taxis did not
automatically make them safer, as the situation was complex, because unless
cameras were part of a national, standardised and enforced system it would be
fragmented, with different rules and regulations. She stated that CCTV alone
did not stop violent crime, as evidence showed that they rarely prevented
attacks and could not intervene when one was taking place, with figures
showing that it was far more effective in reducing property crime. National
legislation and oversight was also required, to ensure that CCTV could be as
effective as possible.

Councillor Brennan agreed with comments made regarding the pros and cons
of CCTV and stated that despite its flaws, she strongly supported mandating it.
She appreciated that it would protect drivers but made it clear that women and
girls were primarily the victims, and that it was vital that action was taken
without having to wait for attacks to take place in Rushcliffe. Whilst privacy was
an issue, Councillor Brennan felt that additional safety measures were more
important, with compromises required, and she called upon the Government to
bring in national legislation as soon as possible.

The Leader agreed that safety was the main issue and it was a fact of life that
more cameras were being used, including on public transport, as it was
important to safeguard both passengers and drivers. It was vital to lobby the
Government and the Leader reiterated that in talks with James Naish MP, he
had made it clear that he would be writing to him, about this issue, and he
asked the Labour Group to do the same. He referred to the evidence given by
Councillor Soloman that CCTV was effective, and whilst appreciating that it
was after the event, the Leader stated that no system was perfect and public
safety was paramount.

Councillor Combellack stated that as a mother she would have been happier
knowing that her children were using a taxi with CCTV installed, and she was
sure that most parents would agree. She acknowledged that there were cost
implications; however, having CCTV was a unique selling point and it could
give a perception of being safer.

In seconding the recommendation, Councillor Regan agreed that CCTV in taxis
was a powerful safeguard, protecting passengers, drivers and protecting the
reputation of the taxi trade. He understood the calls to mandate CCTV
immediately, as the public expected the Council to act with urgency; however,
to do so now, without following due process and procedures, would expose the
Council to legal challenge and operational chaos. A duty would be imposed on
drivers, without understanding the financial burden, technical requirements or
regulatory implications, and could force drivers out of the Borough to be
licensed elsewhere. He thanked Councillor Thomas for her recommendation to
undertake a review in 12 months, giving adequate time for the Council to
undertake research, produce a full cost analysis and ensure that it met national
Government guidelines. Its introduction should be phased and supported by

page 12



the trade to ensure a safe, trustworthy policy and a blue print for a national
standard. Councillor Regan requested that a recorded vote be taken, which
was agreed by four Councillors.

Councillor Inglis hoped that CCTV would increase crime prevention, with
Rushcliffe wanting to lead by example having realistic and achievable goals.
He confirmed that without considering relevant legal obligations and
procedures it would be illegal to introduce mandatory CCTV. The review would
look at issues related to privacy, together with all the regulations that would
have to be complied with and he noted the points made about practical driving
assessments. He agreed that it was imperative that this was looked at and
everyone was united to do the best for Rushcliffe.

In accordance with Standing Order Paragraph 4.23, a recorded vote was taken
for this item as follows:

FOR: Councillors M Barney, J Billin, R Bird, A Brennan, A Brown, R Butler, S
Calvert, J Chaplain, K Chewings N Clarke, T Combellack, A Edyvean, S Ellis,
G Fletcher, M Gaunt, E Georgiou, P Gowland, C Grocock, R Inglis, R
Mallender, S Mallender, D Mason, P Matthews, H Om, H Parekh, A Phillips, L
Plant, D Polenta, N Regan, D Simms, D Soloman, C Thomas, R Upton, D Virdi,
J Walker, L Way, T Wells, J Wheeler, and G Williams

AGAINST: Councillors T Birch and S Dellar
It was RESOLVED that Council:

a) approves the revised Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing
Policy (Appendix 1);

b) requires a review to be undertaken in respect of potential mandating of
CCTV in Taxi and Private Hire vehicles within 12 months, and the
findings be reported to the Licensing Committee;

c) sends a letter to the Secretary of State for Transport requesting
Government take action to mandate CCTV provision within Taxi and
Private Hire vehicles nationally;

d) shares this letter with the Nottinghamshire Licensing Group, to request
their endorsement of the Council’s position;

e) engages and encourages licensed operators and drivers operating in
the Borough to implement the voluntary CCTV scheme in their vehicles;
and

f) consults with licensed operators and drivers in the Borough and industry
representative groups and drivers’ trade unions, more broadly, to gain
insights into developing and implementing the most effective CCTV
schemes.

page 13



44

45

Update on the Political Composition of the Council and Committee
Membership

The Leader and Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Borough-wide
Leadership, Councillor Clarke MBE presented the report of the Chief Executive
providing an update on the political composition of the Council and committee
membership.

The Leader advised that this was a technical item and moved the
recommendations set out in the report.

Councillor Brennan seconded the recommendation and reserved the right to
speak.

Councillor Calvert referred to Paragraph 4.3 of the report, which stated that
where there was a majority party, it must have a majority of seats on all
committees and referred to the rules of proportionality, as set out in Paragraph
4.7, which explained the proposed changes. He referred to the appointment of
the new Vice-chair of Planning Committee, which he was happy to support;
however, he felt that it was not ideal that the Chair and proposed Vice-chair
represented the same ward.

Councillor Soloman stated that she appreciated that this had not been a
straightforward exercise, and thanked officers for their hard work in dealing with
this process. Turning to her appointment onto the Member Development
Group, she expressed her disappointment, as this was an inward facing Group,
as in previous years she had been an active member across a number of
committees and now she felt that she would be unable to participate and
scrutinize matters which affected local residents. Nevertheless, Councillor
Soloman stated that she would continue to work hard and to contribute
constructively where she could, to ensure that her residents’ voices were
heard.

It was RESOLVED that:

a) the revised allocation of committee seats as set out in Appendix 1 be
confirmed;

b) the changes to the appointments of the Chair of Standards Committee
and Vice-chair of Planning Committee as set out in Paragraph 4.8 of the
report be confirmed; and

c) the changes in membership of committees as set out in Appendix 2 be
confirmed, in line with Group Leaders’ wishes.

Notices of Motion

The following notice of motion was proposed by Councillor Birch and seconded
by Councillor Chewings.

page 14



This Council resolves to:

1. Formally support the Committee on Standards for Public Life (CPSL)
recommendations for a mandatory minimum Code of Conduct, a
laddered scale of sanctions (including suspension and disqualification
where necessary), and an independent appeals mechanism.

2. Request that the Leader of the Council write to the Secretary of State for
Housing, Communities and Local Government to communicate this
Council’s support for these reforms.

3. Commit to reviewing this Council’s own Code of Conduct and Standards
Committee arrangements in response to any legislative changes,
ensuring that they are robust, transparent, and in line with best practice.

In moving the motion, Councillor Birch felt that these were sensible actions,
and in respect of potential concerns regarding sanctions, which he shared,
particularly around suspensions, the report stated that this would only be for
the most egregious cases, and he hoped that everyone would endorse this.

Councillor Chewings seconded the motion and reserved the right to speak.

Councillor J Wheeler confirmed that he was happy to accept the motion and
advised that the Government had responded to the consultations and it
seemed that they would not be going forward with all of the recommendations,
and the Council would be happy to write to the Government to ask it to
reconsider. Councillor Wheeler referred to point 3. and stated that if national
legislation changed, that would be implemented, and the Code of Conduct
reviewed as a result of that.

The Leader reiterated that this was likely to be become law, and as and when
that happened, Rushcliffe would adhere to that, as part of its Code of Conduct.

Councillor Way supported the motion and stated that Rushcliffe already had a
comprehensive Code of Conduct, which it was good to review, and to remind
everyone of their responsibilities, in particular in relation to showing respect to
each other, officers and the public.

Councillor Parekh referred to the seven Nolan Principles of Public Life and
stated that since becoming a Councillor and being in this Chamber, she felt
that not everyone was adhering to the Code of Conduct and she hoped that
those standards would be adhered to not just in Rushcliffe but everywhere.

Councillor Birch thanked everyone for supporting the motion and he agreed
with Councillor Way. He stated that he had been shocked at some of the
behaviour that had been levelled at him and his family during the 2023 election
by a member of Cabinet and the lack of action taken by the Conservative
Association. He stated that this was why the Code of Conduct needed to be
followed and that the current standards system was not fit for purpose.

The motion was put to the vote and carried.

page 15



The following notice of motion was proposed by Councillor J Walker and
seconded by Councillor Billin.

Council resolves to:

1. Approve the establishment of Councillor Policy Panels on a pilot basis to
strengthen member engagement in policy development.

2. Authorise the Monitoring Officer and Democratic Services to finalise
detailed operating procedures for the Panels, including membership,
scope, and reporting arrangements.

3. Request that at least two pilot Panels (for example, on a West Bridgford
Town Council and a Participatory Budget) be launched between January
and June 2026.

4. Request that Overview and Scrutiny review the pilot outcomes after 12
months and report findings to Cabinet in Autumn 2026.

5. Commit to considering full implementation of Panels from 2027 onwards,
subject to the pilot's evaluation and considerations around Local
Government Reorganisation (LGR).

In moving the motion, Councillor J Walker stated that she was bringing forward
this proposal to strengthen governance, broaden democratic participation and
improve policy development, by providing a new mechanism to give Councillors
a meaningful role in shaping policy at an early stage. She stated that under the
current Cabinet system, executive authority rested with Cabinet, with the
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny groups reviewing decisions; however, over
recent years she felt that participation for minority Group Leaders had declined,
with Members having little input until late in the process. The current structures
did not allow Councillors to explore ideas and bring forward their community
knowledge and Councillor Walker believed that Policy Panels would broaden
Member engagement at the earliest stage of policy development, increase
transparency and trust and build cross party collaboration. The Panels would
complement the current system, giving Councillors space to look at matters in
more depth and propose solutions, reviewing issues of interest and producing
a report to Cabinet. Councillor Wiaker stated that this process would increase
democratic engagement, draw in diverse perspectives and strengthen
collaboration across political groups. She believed that costs would be modest
and largely absorbed within existing resources and suggested two pilot Panels
be held next year, with a report to Cabinet in the Autumn and full rollout from
2027.

Councillor Billin seconded the motion and reserved the right to speak.

Councillor Virdi agreed with the need for robust governance but stated that this
motion was unnecessary, uncosted and completely out of step with both the
demands of the Council and the direction of national policy. He said that it
would create unnecessary bureaucracy, additional costs and would not survive
for more than two years, with the Council already having a scrutiny system in
place, that worked. He referred to the various major items coming through the

page 16



scrutiny process next year and said that the framework and structures for policy
review already existed. He noted the lack of reference to resource implications
and estimated that costs could be up to £70,000 and questioned the timing
given impending Local Government Reorganisation (LGR). He questioned
which other local authorities in Nottinghamshire had Policy Panels and thought
that they would bring additional responsibilities for already busy Councillors
and create unrealistic resource demands for officers. Recent feedback from
Councillors was that the current system worked and Councillor Virdi noted that
the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny had confirmed that new unitary
authorities would need to adopt the Cabinet system and he felt that the Panels
would create cost without having any value or a future.

Councillor Polenta thought that democracy could not be monetized and that
this motion would amplify scrutiny and allow Members from across the
Chamber to shape policy before decisions were made, rather than only
examining them afterwards. Minority groups had become spectators rather
than participants and Policy Panels would provide opportunity for meaningful
participation and collective deliberation, drawing on the knowledge of residents
and strengthening relationships. She referred to a number of local authorities
and countries offering participatory systems and said that this motion offered a
chance to shape the future.

Councillor Williams highlighted the importance of the scrutiny process, which
not only reviewed policies and decisions but looked at policy development
going forward. He said that many strategies and policies had been through the
scrutiny process and provided input into wider Nottinghamshire strategies. He
referred to existing scrutiny cross-party membership and that Councillors had
recently been asked to consider a potential review of the scrutiny process, with
little response and felt that this motion would create a duplicate of existing
processes.

Councillor Gaunt stated that he did not think that the proposed panels would
create additional work and stated that they would provide an opportunity for
people to meet, including members from the community, stakeholders and
experts to help shape policy early in their formation, rather than scrutinise
existing policies. He noted reference to the mechanism for those panels
already existing within the Constitution and asked how they could be actioned.

It was proposed by Councillor Gowland and RESOLVED by Councillors that
the meeting be extended and would finish no later than 10.30pm.

Councillor Gowland stated that she did not agree with Government getting rid
of committees, as they provided an effective way of working through detailed
problems and she found the current scrutiny process to be extremely negative.

Councillor Parekh recognised the intentions behind the motion and supported
strong engagement and a collaborative council but thought that creating more
complexity and bureaucracy would cause more confusion and deliver little
meaningful improvement. She stated that any Councillor could propose items
for scrutiny or policy development and thought this proposal would increase
costs and require more officer resources, taking them away from delivering
frontline services. She did not think that the proposed timeframe for evaluation

page 17



was realistic and it might be scrapped under LGR. She stated that the Cabinet
system provided clarity and accountability and suggested stronger and better
use of existing scrutiny structures, with a more open culture of collaboration.

Councillor Grocock clarified that the motion was not requesting an entirely new
structure, just two pilot panels, noted that many Councillors had only just
learned that there was an existing mechanism for Policy Panels within the
current scrutiny process and referred to a previous panel that he had been a
member of that had worked very effectively.

Councillor Simms stated that he was here to represent the people of his ward
and to develop policies and procedures on their views. He questioned the
amount of time required for the proposal and said that the mechanisms were
already in place within this organisation and that better communication was
required.

Councillor Chewings referred to LGR, which had been debated by Full Council
several times and suggested that it would have been preferable to have set up
a Policy Panel to work through options prior to a Cabinet position being put
forward. He did not support having a Panel regarding a West Bridgford Town
Council and thought this should be instigated through a petition. He supported
having Policy Panels as a positive proposal.

Councillor S Mallender stated that the motion would not result in a committee
system and as the Council already had facility to create panels she did not see
why it would result in significant cost and supported the motion in the interests
of democracy, collaboration, and cooperation. She also agreed that West
Bridgford should have a Town Council and that with LGR looming it would be
an appropriate time to discuss that.

Councillor J Wheeler emphasised that there was an existing scrutiny process,
which worked, through which all Councillors could influence policy. He referred
to LGR and officers’ considerable input into that, and the additional costs this
proposal would create and suggested that Councillors used the current system
more effectively.

Councillor Combellack felt that this motion would create more layers and result
in less efficiency, could delay policy development and stated that enormous
changes would be taking place with LGR, which would require focus and
resources, and it would be inappropriate to change things now. Councillor
Combellack also questioned the suggested proposed timescales in the motion.

Councillor Birch proposed that Council moved to vote on the motion and this
was seconded by Councillor Chewings. The vote was lost.

The Leader believed that the proposal would be a duplication of current
scrutiny functions, which included both review and policy development, and a
facility to set up Policy Panels within it. He said it which would create a new
system of administration and bureaucracy with additional costs incurred to
administer it. The Leader stated that it was incumbent on Councillors to bring
forward items for scrutiny and noted that they could submit scrutiny requests.
He referred to the continued work required for LGR and stated that this would

page 18



46

be likely to bring forward many changes.

Councillor Billin supported the motion as he believed it to be at the heart of
democracy, it was not about duplication, it was about informed decision
making. He stated that it would not replace the Cabinet’s role in approving
policies, it would be informing the policy decision making process. He
requested that a recorded vote be taken, which was agreed by four
Councillors.

In accordance with Standing Order Paragraph 4.23, a recorded vote was taken
for this item as follows:

FOR: Councillors J Billin, T Birch, R Bird, S Calvert, J Chaplain, K Chewings, S
Dellar, G Fletcher, M Gaunt, P Gowland, C Grocock, R Mallender, S Mallender,
A Phillips, L Plant, D Polenta, D Soloman, C Thomas, J Walker and L Way

AGAINST: Councillors M Barney, A Brennan, A Brown, R Butler, N Clarke, T
Combellack, A Edyvean, S Ellis, E Georgiou, R Inglis, D Mason, P Matthews, H
Om, H Parekh, N Regan, D Simms, R Upton, D Virdi, T Wells, J Wheeler, and
G Williams

The motion was not carried.

Questions from Councillors

The questions from Councillors were not considered. A written response would
be provided after the meeting.

The meeting closed at 10.30 pm.

CHAIR

page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 9

Council
Thursday, 6 March 2026

) 2026/27 Budget and Financial Strate
Rushcliffe g 9

Borough Council

Report of the Director — Finance and Corporate Services

Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Borough-wide Leadership,
Councillor N Clarke

1. Purpose of report

1.1.  This report presents the detail of the 2026/27 budget and the five-year Medium
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) from 2026/27 to 2030/31. It includes the
revenue budget, the proposed Capital Programme, the Transformation and
Efficiency Plan, the Capital and Investment Strategy (with associated prudential
indicators), and the Pay Policy Statement.

1.2. Cabinet has considered the attached budget and strategies and recommended
their acceptance by Council, along with the resultant decisions regarding
Rushcliffe’s Band D Council Tax and Special Expenses for 2026/27. The
Governance Scrutiny Group has also recommended the Capital and Investment
Strategy for adoption by Full Council.

1.3. The final financial settlement has been received from Central Government and
has had a materially negative impact on the Council, following late changes to
transitional funding linked to the national Business Rates pool methodology.
These adjustments reduce the Council’s funding by £1.2m over the three-year
period, with only mitigation in 2026/27 through a one-off grant.

1.4. Annex A gives authoritative commentary from the Council’s s151 Officer, a legal
requirement, so that Councillors have all the relevant information available to
them when making budget and Council Tax decisions.

2. Recommendation
Itis RECOMMENDED that Council:

(@)  accepts the report of the Council’s Responsible Financial Officer on the
robustness of the Council’s budget and the adequacy of reserves (as
detailed at attached Annex A);

(b)  adopts the budget setting report and associated financial strategies
2026/27 to 2030/31 and appendices (attached Annex B), including the
summarised Special Expenses budget at Appendix 1, Budget Summary
at Appendix 2, use of Reserves at Appendix 4, Transformation and
Efficiency Plan at Appendix 5, Core Spending Power at Appendix 6 and
Report of the Nottinghamshire Finance Officers on the Business Rates
Pool at Appendix 7;

page 21



41

()

adopts the Capital Programme as set out in Appendix 3;
adopts the Capital and Investment Strategy at Appendix 9;

sets Rushcliffe’s 2026/27 Council Tax for a Band D property at £161.77
(no increase from 2025/26, a freeze for one year);

sets the Special Expenses for 2026/27 for West Bridgford, Ruddington
and Keyworth, resulting in the following Band D Council Tax levels for
the Special Expense Areas:

o West Bridgford £67.40 (£64.84 in 2025/26);
o Keyworth £3.35 (£3.21 in 2025/26);
e Ruddington £3.40 (£3.14 in 2025/26);

with regards to recommendations €) and f), sets the associated Bands in
accordance with the formula in section 36(1) of the Local Government
Finance Act 1992;

adopts the Pay Policy Statement at Appendix 8;

supports consideration of the Second Homes Premium policy by
scrutiny, with the outcome of such review to be reported to Cabinet for
approval and ultimately the decision to be reflected as part of the MTFS
2027/28; and

supports development of a policy for a Council Tax discount for the
terminally ill by scrutiny, such policy to be reported to Cabinet for
approval, to apply from 1 April 2026.

Reasons for Recommendation

To comply with the Local Government Finance Act (1972) and ensure the
budget enables corporate objectives to be achieved. The Council is required to
set a balanced budget and demonstrate that it has adequate funds and
reserves to address its risks. Recent economic events highlight the importance
of adequate reserves to withstand volatility

Supporting Information

The Budget and Associated Strategies

The attached report and appendices detail:

a.

The anticipated changes in funding over the five-year period including
changes to fees and charges;

The financial settlement and Fair Funding Review for 2026/27 (including
core spending power analysis and revised Business Rates and impact
on the Nottinghamshire Business Rates Pool) and the budget pressures
the Council must address over the medium term,

The budget assumptions that have been used in developing the 2026/27
budget and MTFS and proposed use of reserves;

page 22



4.2

j-

The detailed budget proposals for 2026/27 including the Transformation
and Efficiency Plan (TEP) to deliver the anticipated efficiency and
savings requirement;

The recommended levels of Council Tax for Band D properties for the
Council and Special Expense areas of West Bridgford, Ruddington and
Keyworth;

The projected position with the Council’s reserves over the medium term;
Risks associated with the budget and the MTFS;

The proposed Capital Programme;

The proposed Pay Policy Statement; and

The proposed Capital and Investment Strategy.

Key points within the MTFS are as follows (MTFS report (Annex B) references
in parenthesis):

a)

The Government’s provisional settlement announced in December 2025
marks the first multi-year funding deal in a decade, covering 2026/27 to
2028/29 and providing greater certainty for medium-term planning. The
settlement is underpinned by the Fair Funding review, which
redistributes resources based on deprivation indices. As a result,
Rushcliffe faces a 2.25% reduction in core spending power over the
period, despite prudent assumptions in the Medium-Term Financial
Strategy enabling a balanced budget. (Section 3.1).

Business Rates have undergone a national reset as part of the Fair
Funding Review, resulting in a significant reduction in retained income—
from £6.676m in 2025/26 to £2.675m in 2026/27 (a 60% reduction). A
transition grant will partially offset this in 2027/28 and 2028/29. The
revised schedule of revaluations (every three years, next due 1 April
2026) may result in fluctuations in collectible rates which may impact the
budget further going forward. A short-term transition grant partially
offsets this impact. The Nottinghamshire Business Rates Pool will be
dissolved due to increased risk. (Section 3.2).

It is proposed that Council Tax for 2026/27 will be frozen at £161.77 for
Band D (0% increase). This still means that Rushcliffe’s Council Tax
remains the lowest in Nottinghamshire and amongst the lowest in the
country. Noting there is a trade-off in lost income now (£0.223m) and
foregone income in the future (over five years £1.228m) with a benefit to
the taxpayer of £4.59 (a 2.84% increase if the Council chooses to
maximise its Council Tax income). The tax base has increased by 1.5%
in 2026/27 and is assumed to increase by 1.8% per annum thereafter.
The impact of the Council Tax Freeze on CSP is to increase the
reduction between 2025/26 and 2028/29 from 2.25% to a 4.12%.
(Section 3.3).

It is proposed to revoke the Second Homes Premium given the view that
it has little effect on the Council’s strategy for bringing empty homes into
use. This will impact the Council Tax base going forward and the

page 23



changes will be reflected in the 2027/28 MTFS if implemented. The
impact is an estimated de minimis amount of a £20k reduction in Council
Tax income for Rushcliffe. This policy change is to be considered by
scrutiny with Cabinet to make any recommendations thereafter.

The Council recognises the impact of poverty at the end of life for
individuals. It therefore proposes the introduction of a Council Tax
deduction scheme for the terminally ill. An initial budget of £0.2m over
five years has been provided subject to a policy being determined by a
scrutiny review and thereafter Cabinet approval of the policy.

Special Expenses are increasing to £1.069m (£1.012m in 2025/26).
Taking into account tax base changes, this results in Band D charges for
West Bridgford increasing by £2.56 to £67.40 (£64.84 in 2025/26).
Keyworth increases from £3.21 to £3.35, and Ruddington increases from
£3.14 to £3.40, reflecting minor maintenance works and tax base
changes (Section 3.4).

Revenue Support Grant (RSG) has been reintroduced as part of the Fair
Funding Review, with Rushcliffe receiving £4.726m in 2026/27, but this
is set to reduce in future years. Previous grants, including New Homes
Bonus and Employers NI, have been consolidated into the RSG
(Section 3.5).

New Homes Bonus (NHB) has now been rolled into the RSG as part of
the Fair Funding Review, with no separate NHB payment from 2026/27
onwards (Section 3.7).

The budget reflects ongoing inflationary pressures, with an average rate
of 3% assumed for 2026/27. Pay costs are budgeted to increase by 3%
in 2026/27 and 2% per annum, thereafter, driven by national wage
settlements and the rising minimum national living wage. Higher interest
rates have a positive effect on investment returns, partially offsetting
inflation (Section 2).

Car parking charges were increased in 2025/26 to cover three years,
with the next planned increase in 2028/29, in line with the Council’s Off-
Street Car Parking Strategy (Section 3.8).

Some fees and charges have been increased by 3.5% or more to offset
increased costs caused by inflation and pay increases, while limiting
increases in areas for the more vulnerable (such as home alarms)
(Section 3.8).

Garden waste fees are increased annually by £2; for 2026/27 this
includes an additional increase of £5 for second and subsequent bins.
There will remain a differential of £5 from 2027/28 between the first bin
and two or more bins (Section 3.8).

Simpler Recycling requirements for kerbside recycling (mainly glass and
food waste) place pressure on both capital and revenue budgets, due to
the requirement for additional vehicles and crews. Extended Producer
Responsibility (EPR) Grant is intended to offset the increased costs;
however, by 2030/31 there is a net annual budget pressure of £0.879m

page 24



which will be managed through the Simpler Recycling Reserve in the
medium term (Section 4.2).

Taking into account resource predictions, spending plans and savings
already identified, the Transformation and Efficiency Plan (TEP) delivers
£1.998m of efficiencies over the five-year period, with a net deficit of
£0.815m. The Organisation Stabilisation Reserve will be used to smooth
the effect of variation in net budget requirement. With impending Local
Government Reorganisation (LGR), there is more uncertainty over the
medium term, and the Transformation Plan will undergo iterative
development over the coming years (Section 7).

Commercial investment income is budgeted to remain stable, with no
new commercial investments included in the Capital Programme. The
Council continues to focus on maximising returns from its existing
portfolio, which contribute to total investment income. These are
continually managed and are proportionate given the risks and
opportunities associated with such investments (Section 3.8).

The Council’'s earmarked reserves are projected to increase from
£24.3m in 2025/26 to £24.9m by 2030/31, though most reserves have
specifically identified uses such as LGR, climate change, and vehicle
replacement. The operational and financial environment remains volatile,
and the local government finance settlement has shown a significant
decrease in real terms funding meaning reserves even more critical to
ensure the Council can continue to operate and withstand any
unexpected shocks (Section 6). Economic growth is a key objective to
enable Rushcliffe remains a great place to live; this remains a priority.
£50k is earmarked for master planning for East Leake and as required
can be expanded to other settlements such as Ruddington and
Keyworth. Further funding would be appropriated from the New Homes
Bonus reserve and reported through the Council’s usual financial
governance process.

The MTFS projects a net deficit of £0.815m over the five-year period.
The Organisation Stabilisation Reserve will be used to manage
fluctuations, but with inflation and LGR on the horizon, this is subject to
potential fluctuation (Section 5).

While there are capital pressures, external borrowing is not anticipated
in the medium term. Borrowing would only be considered if all other
options, such as leasing or use of reserves, have been exhausted.

Key risks to the MTFS are highlighted, including the potential impact of
the LGR, implementation of Simpler Recycling, inflationary pressures
and risks from volatility to funding. Business Rates reform will take effect
in 2026/27 and the impact of which will become clearer as the year
progresses. Carbon reduction and rising demand in areas such as
housing and homelessness, present challenges to both revenue and
capital costs and income (Section 8).

The Capital Programme remains ambitious at £24.3m over the five
years. In addition to rolling replacement schemes, the Programme

page 25



4.3

4.4.

4.5.

6.1

6.2

6.3

focuses on maintaining and enhancing existing assets supporting
economic development and meeting statutory requirements. Capital
resources are projected to be £9.2m at the end of the five-year
Programme. The level of Capital Receipts will only significantly increase
if major assets are identified for disposal. External borrowing is not
anticipated in the medium term but would be considered if necessary
(Section 9).

Annex A, the Section 25 Statement, is an extremely important document
provided by the Council’'s Section 151 Officer. It provides critical context for
budgetary discussions. The provision of this information is a legal requirement
and ensures that all members have regard to the professional advice provided
by the authority’s Chief Financial Officer when final budget decisions are
determined. There is much commentary on the policy choice to freeze Council
Tax which reduces Council Tax income going forward than if a maximum
increase was implemented. It is affordable given the relative excellent financial
position as a result of past prudent financial decisions taken by the Council.

The MTFS has been developed at a time of significant change and economic
volatility. Global conflict and policy changes add even more uncertainty but
undoubtably the biggest risk and uncertainty is LGR. Whilst this MTFS has been
prepared for a five-year period, it is likely that the Council will be operating under
a new unitary council before the end of this MTFS period.

The MTFS process has been rigorous and thorough and includes a
Transformation and Efficiency Programme incorporating targets that are robust
and achievable whilst delivering the most significant item of change: LGR. The
settlement will see the Council receive a significant reduction in funding.
Prudence and strong financial stewardship means the Council can freeze
council tax and is able to navigate the financial constraints on both the revenue
and capital budgets and continue to deliver the Council’s Corporate Priorities.
To facilitate growth in the borough and support residents during the cost-of-
living challenges with a Council Tax freeze for this year.

Alternative options considered and reasons for rejection

Other options, such as increasing Council Tax by a number of different
amounts, were considered. A freeze for 2026/27 is recommended as the
Council can balance the budget over the MTFS period without putting the
Council at risk of issuing a S114 notice. The financial impact of not maximising
Council Tax increases is detailed in the main report.

Risk and Uncertainties

Section 8 of Annex B covers key risks that may impact upon the MTFS. The
Council continues to monitor upside risks such as the Freeport and Combined
Mayoral Authority, which may facilitate greater economic growth.

Undoubtedly a Council Tax freeze reduces future revenues and could inhibit
the delivery of services. This is not anticipated in the medium term.

Freezing Council Tax also reduces Core Spending Power further (the

Government’s assessment of the Council’s ability to fund services). The

perception therefore is that Rushcliffe has enough resources with a Council Tax
page 26



7.1

7.2.

freeze despite the fact that it has already had reduced funding this year
compared to previous years. This could adversely impact future funding from
central Government. Arguably that has happened in any case when in the more
recent past the Council has, for example, not been allocated Levelling-Up
funding.

Implications

Finance Implications

7.1.1.

7.1.2.

These are detailed in the attached budget report (Annex B). The Council
is required to set a balanced budget for the 2026/27 financial year, and
the proposals present a balanced budget. In the opinion of the S151
Officer, a positive assurance is given that the budget is balanced, robust
and affordable (Annex A). The Capital Programme is achievable,
realistic, and resourced, with funds and reserves including the General
Fund, adequate to address the risks within the budget.

Regarding the Council Tax freeze the Council by virtue of having one of
the lowest Council Tax levels in the country has been disadvantaged by
referendum limits. 3% on a higher Council tax generates more than 3%
on a lower value. Freezing Council Tax widens this differential.

Legal Implications

7.2.1.

7.2.2.

7.2.3.

7.2.4.

The recommendations of this report support compliance with the Local
Government Finance Act 1972.

The Council must set the budget in accordance with the provisions of the
Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended) and approval of a
balanced budget each year is a statutory responsibility of the Council. It
is a legal requirement for the Council to approve its budget and set its
Council Tax before 11 March each year. Failure to do so may have
significant financial, administrative and legal implications for the Council
and could result in Government intervention. Sections 25 to 29 of the
Local Government Act 2003 (as amended) impose duties on the Council
in relation to how it sets and monitors its budget. These provisions
require the Council to make prudent allowance for the risk and
uncertainties in its budget and regularly monitor its finances during the
year.

When the Council is making the calculation of its budget requirement, it
must have regard to the report of the Council’s Section 151 Officer as to
the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the calculations
and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves pursuant to Section
25 of the Local Government Act 2003. The report of the Council’s Section
151 Officer on the robustness of the Council’'s budget and the adequacy
of reserves is attached at Annex A and must be given due regard by
Members when considering the recommendations set out in this report.

When considering the recommendations in this report Members must
bear in mind their fiduciary duty to Council Taxpayers. The report and
accompanying Appendices set out the relevant considerations for
Members to consider during their deliberations and Members are

page 27



7.2.5.

reminded of the need to ignore irrelevant considerations. Members have
a duty to ensure that the Council acts lawfully and must not come to a
decision which no reasonable authority could come to; balancing the
nature, quality and level of services which they consider should be
provided, against the costs of providing such services.

Members are also individually reminded that, under Section 106 of the
Local Government Finance Act 1992, Members who are two months or
more in arrears with their Council Tax at the date of the meeting must
declare this to the meeting and must not vote on budget
recommendations as to do otherwise can be a criminal offence.
Members are not barred from speaking, provided the appropriate
declaration is given.

7.3  Equalities Implications

There are no equalities implications associated with the recommendations of
this report.

7.4 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 Implications

There are no Section 17 implications associated with the recommendations of
this report.

7.5 Biodiversity Net Gain Implications

There are no Biodiversity implications associated with the recommendations of
this report.

8. Link to Corporate Priorities

The Environment Allocating resources to invest in projects that support the

Council’s environmental objectives.

Quality of Life Ensuring services that residents value are maintained and

enhanced.

Efficient Services Ensuring efficient use of resources and maximising returns

and the development of the Transformation and Efficiency
Plan.

Sustainable Growth | Ensuring the Council supports the Economic Growth

Strategy and engages in projects such as the Freeport.

Recommendation

Itis RECOMMENDED that Council:

(@)

accepts the report of the Council’s Responsible Financial Officer on the
robustness of the Council’s budget and the adequacy of reserves (as
detailed at attached Annex A);

adopts the budget setting report and associated financial strategies
2026/27 to 2030/31 and appendices (attached Annex B), including the
summarised Special Expenses budget at Appendix 1, Budget Summary
at Appendix 2, use of Reserves at Appendix 4, Transformation and

page 28



Efficiency Plan at Appendix 5, Core Spending Power at Appendix 6 and
Report of the Nottinghamshire Finance Officers on the Business Rates
Pool at Appendix 7.

adopts the Capital Programme as set out in Appendix 3;
adopts the Capital and Investment Strategy at Appendix 9;

sets Rushcliffe’s 2026/27 Council Tax for a Band D property at £161.77
(no increase from 2025/26, a freeze for one year);

sets the Special Expenses for 2026/27 for West Bridgford, Ruddington
and Keyworth, resulting in the following Band D Council Tax levels for
the Special Expense Areas:

e West Bridgford £67.40 (£64.84 in 2025/26);
e Keyworth £3.35 (£3.21 in 2025/26);
e Ruddington £3.40 (£3.14 in 2025/26);

with regards to recommendations e) and f), sets the associated Bands in
accordance with the formula in section 36(1) of the Local Government
Finance Act 1992;

adopts the Pay Policy Statement at Appendix 8;

supports consideration of the Second Homes Premium policy by
scrutiny, with the outcome of such review to be reported to Cabinet for
approval and ultimately the decision to be reflected as part of the MTFS
2027/28; and

supports development of a policy for a Council Tax discount for the
terminally ill by scrutiny, such policy to be reported to Cabinet for
approval, to apply.

For more information contact: Peter Linfield

Director — Finance and Corporate Services
0115 914 8439
plinfield@rushcliffe.qov.uk

Background papers Available for
Inspection:

Ministry of Housing Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG) website, 2025/26 Financial
settlement papers

List of Annexes and Appendices
(if any):

Annex A Section 25 Statement

Annex B to the Budget Report

Appendix 1 Special Expenses

Appendix 2 Revenue Budget Service Summary
Appendix 3 Capital Programme 2026/27 -
2030/31 (including appraisals)

Appendix 4 Use of Earmarked Reserves 2026/27
Appendix 5 Transformation and Efficiency Plan
Appendix 6 Core Spending Power

Appendix 7 Report on the Business Rates Pool
Appendix 8 Pay Policy Statement 2026/27
Appendix 9 Capital and Investment Strategy
2026/27 to 2030/31

page 29



mailto:plinfield@rushcliffe.gov.uk

Appendix 10 Cabinet Addendum 10 February
2026

page 30




Annex A

Commentary of the Responsible Financial Officer

REPORT UNDER SECTION 25 OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2003
(To be read in conjunction with the Council Budget Report and Annex B)

Purpose

Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires that when considering the
financial plans for the year ahead, the Council’s Responsible Finance Officer reports
to the Authority on the robustness of the budget and the adequacy of the reserves so
that Members have authoritative advice available to them when making their budget
and Council Tax decisions.

Background

Councils decide each year how much council tax they need to raise. The decision is
based upon a budget that sets out estimates of what they plan to spend on each of
their services.

The decision on the level of Council Tax is taken before the year begins and cannot
be changed once set. It follows that an allowance for risks and uncertainties must be
made by:

o making prudent allowance in the budget for each of the services, and in
addition;
o ensuring that there are adequate reserves to draw on if the service estimates

turn out to be insufficient.

Robustness of Estimates

| am content that the Council has followed a comprehensive and detailed budget
process when preparing the budget for 2026/27 which complies with both statutory
requirements and best practice principles.

This year’s budget has been particularly challenging with substantial changes to the
government’s allocation of funding to local authorities known as Fair Funding. This
incorporates changes to both the funding formula and the business rates system,
including the resetting of the business rates baseline position. The process was not
helped by significant changes from the provisional financial settlement to the final
settlement in early February. Whilst it is a 3-year settlement it is a poor settlement for
Rushcliffe with core spending power (CSP), from 2025/26 to 2028/29 reducing by
2.25%. CSP being revenues from Government and anticipated Council Tax and
Business Rates. The impact of this reduction is exacerbated by likely annual inflation
increases over this period. The key determinants that have influenced reduced funding
levels are population growth, deprivation and service demand (for example funding
directed towards upper tier authorities for areas such as children’s care and adult
social care services).

page 31



Recommended to Full Council is a Council Tax freeze which has impacts CSP
reducing it by 4.12%. By not maximising Council Tax the Council will lose around
£0.245m per annum, £1.225m over 5 years (see Section 11 of the MTFS). Council
Tax is one of the Council’s more stable income streams anything less than maximising
an increase makes the budget less affordable, sustainable and prudent. Inevitably less
Council tax income leads to a less favourable future financial position whether for
Rushcliffe or a new authority, but it currently would not put the Council in a s114
position which many Councils find themselves either in, or on the precipice of, and
therefore Rushcliffe does not require exceptional financial support. The overall
financial position over 5 years shows a £0.815m budget deficit, as a result of the late
changes by the Government in the final settlement.

The MTFS assumes ongoing increases (2027/28 onwards) in Council Tax (to the
maximum referendum limit allowable) which is both prudent and sensible given the
operational and financial challenges the Council faces. The Council remains within the
lowest quartile in comparison to district and borough Councils nationally for its element
of Council Tax and whilst Council Tax is ‘capped’ this will remain the case until, as
expected, the Council becomes part of a larger authority with LGR. The Council has
always had a reputation of being commercially sound in its decision making and we
are mindful that a positive legacy for Rushcliffe before LGR is that this should continue
so the new authority is on the best financial footing possible and services for Rushcliffe
residents are not diminished in any way.

Lower Council Tax is undoubtedly good news for residents given cost of living
challenges, although Rushcliffe’s element of Council Tax is already in the lowest 25
percent nationally. Freezing Council Tax heightens the systemic weaknesses in the
system where those authorities with lower Band D Council Tax (ie Rushcliffe) will see
a widening differential compared to the higher Band D Council Tax authorities given
referendum limit percentage increases, where higher Council Tax rates gain more
from the same percentage increase.

There are proposals to both consider removing the Second Homes Premium and
introduce a Council tax discount for the terminally ill. These will also have an adverse
impact on the budget estimated at £60k per annum (subject to an agreed policy by
scrutiny). Freezing council tax should be considered against the optics of other policy
decisions and similarly policy decisions should be considered against the backdrop of
the Council’s overall financial position.

The amount of Council Tax raised will, be dependent on the realisation of our Local
Plan housing targets. This impacted by both developer and general public confidence
in the economy and therefore their propensity to respectively build and acquire
houses. For 2025/26 the tax base is estimated to increase by 1.5% and thereafter
1.8% per annum, reflective of recent trends. This is reviewed annually.

Business Rates has undergone substantial change as the Government aims to restore
the balance between aligning funding with need and rewarding business rates growth
locally (Section 3.2 Annex B). Rushcliffe’s baseline funding level has reduced from
£6.67m (2025/26) to £2.675m (2026/27) a £4m or 60% reduction. Some sectors in the
business community will face challenges given the combination of increases in

page 32



valuations (by the Valuation Office) and changes in business rates multipliers, the
latter to help offset the rateable value increases. A good example being the impact on
pubs and further changes the Government have implemented to mitigate risks in this
sector. This creates pressures for businesses and could have a detrimental impact on
local economic growth and business rates collection. As a result of the changes to the
business rates system the Nottinghamshire business Rates Pool has been dissolved
from 2026/27, agreed by all the members of the Pool.

LGR comes with both opportunities and risks and from 2028/29 the likelihood of a new
unitary authority and new budgets. We do not know enough at this stage and future
iterations of the Council’'s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) will reflect the
‘direction of travel’ and be updated accordingly. An LGR reserve is specifically in place
to help manage and mitigate associated risks. National policies continue to be
implemented such as ‘Simpler Recycling’ where there remains a lack of clarity on how
such schemes will be fully funded. Annex B Section 4.2 of the MTFS shows that by
2030/31 there is an expected £0.879m deficit in funding of this scheme.

There remain international conflicts which adds more uncertainty. Uncertainty can
inhibit the ability of an economy to grow which is an important component of
government economic policy along with having low inflation. The impact of this
inevitably is that it places pressure upon the public services finance envelope.

There remain rising employment costs pressures with an assumed employee budget
increase of 3% for 2026/27 followed by 2% per annum thereafter. The employees’
budget in 2026/27 rising from £16.9m to £19.15m (2030/31). An increase by over 13%
and this presents a challenge given Council Tax increases of 3% over the same period
(excluding 2026/27). Inflation also impacts upon other areas of the budget such as
supplies and services and energy, fuel and utility costs. The main lever for the
Government to control inflation is interest rates. The expectation over the medium term
is that both interest rates and inflation will reduce, although the trajectory and pace of
this is not as quick as the Government would like. Higher interest rates have benefitted
the Council with greater investment income returns which help offset expenditure
pressures. Importantly the Council remains debt free and therefore does not have debt
repayment liabilities.

The challenge of higher inflation is that it influences employee pay expectations.
Combined with both the national living wage increasing and labour market supply
issues, means there is still significant downside risk on the budget regarding pay.
Every 1% pay increase amounts to around £0.15m in cost. Use of contingency or in-
year budget efficiencies will mitigate this risk in the short term if pay agreements
exceed our assumptions. Some key assumptions within the MTFS are detailed at
Annex B, Section 2 of the MTFS.

The Council continues to bear the cost of last year’s decision to increase employer
National Insurance Contributions (NIC) by 1.2% to 15%. The grant it received last year,
which only partially offset the increase, is now part of the broader Revenue Support
Grant (RSG) calculations (Section 3.5 Annex B). RSG has substantially changed as
it incorporates the loss of New Homes Bonus funding and reduces in later years as
the Council adjusts to the new funding formula and its impact (from £4.72m In 2026/27
to £2.5m in 2028/29).

page 33



Council income streams have largely remained resilient but clearly with ongoing cost-
of-living challenges and the already mentioned rising business rates there are risks
that with reducing disposable income households could use Council Services less;
and sundry debtor, Council Tax and Business Rates collection rates could worsen;
and with economic slowdown housing growth may reduce. Pleasingly in recent years
the Council has maintained its collection rate levels still having amongst the highest
Council Tax and Business Rates collection rates in the country, which demonstrates
the strength and resilience of both the local economy and community. Areas such as
Planning income are at risk, a slight dip anticipated in 2026/27 of £0.2m to £1.386m,
with any downturn in the construction industry, and we continue to monitor their
performance, along with other service areas (Section 3.8 Annex B). These are all
reasons the Council has to maintain healthy levels of reserves so that in times of
difficulty it has sufficient ‘insulation’ to both withstand shocks and it enables the Council
to continue to provide excellent services to the Borough'’s residents. Positively the
Crematorium is anticipating rising income over the MTFS period.

As reported to Full Council in September 2020, the Council has a number of
mechanisms at its disposal to support the budget. This approach has not changed if a
financial crisis arises, before resorting to reducing service provision, namely:

(a) identification of Transformation and Efficiency Programme efficiencies and
the use of in-year underspends should they arise;

(b) use of the Organisation Stabilisation Reserve and New Homes Bonus
Reserve (if necessary) and not applying the Voluntary Revenue Provision
in relation to the Arena;

(c) A review of earmarked reserves and their use: where possible transfer
those reserves not being applied, to the Organisation Stabilisation Reserve,
as necessary, to improve resilience going forward in the event of one-off
economic shocks or if new risks materialise the creation of new reserves
(such as LGR); and

(d) Ultimately use of its £2.6m General Fund Balance.

The Council’s Transformation and Efficiency Programme (TEP) are designed to meet
the emerging financial challenges. The TEP combined with effective financial
management (resulting in budget efficiencies over several years) have ensured the
Council has the capacity to use reserves, only if absolutely necessary.

The TEP (detailed at Annex B, Section 7) identifies the Council’s approach to meeting
its saving requirement. By 2030/31 with £1.998m of efficiencies there is a minor
surplus of £72k. Over the MTFS period there is a projected budget deficit of £0.815m
which is manageable over the period.

A positive budget position will prevail as long as the Council continues its cost control
and income generation measures (including fees and charges and Council Tax). The
Council continues to identify efficiencies and has had to do so given inflation pressures
outstripping growth in Council Tax income. The Council continues to balance the

page 34



demands and opportunities of growth in the borough and continuing to provide
excellent services, against a backdrop of rising costs. This consists of a combination
of existing projects such as increasing Leisure contract efficiencies, continuing to both
optimise income streams and reduce costs.

Going forward we cannot be complacent; there are significant financial challenges that
lie ahead with the implications of both the Devolution and Levelling-up and
Environment Acts (Simpler Recycling) with ongoing evaluation and macro-economic
uncertainty. Going forward though we do have more certainty over the next 3 years
albeit LGR should have taken place for 2028/29 with 2027/28 being a ‘shadow year’
of operation. Resources will need redirecting to support this and a specific Reserve
has been created for this purpose of £2.9m by the end of 2027/2028. Updates will be
provided through the Council’s usual governance and reporting processes. This will
be the single biggest Transformation Programme the Council will face.

As a Council we will continue to grow the Borough, galvanising the borough’s high
streets, and playing an active role in significant economic growth projects such as the
Freeport and the development of the Radcliffe-on-Soar power station site. The Council
continues to work with the East Midlands County Combined Authority (EMCCA) to
develop a symbiotic relationship and leverage in funding where it can and focus on
areas such as economic growth.

Both the MTFS and the TEP are iterative in their nature and will evolve over time to
respond to, for example: changes in funding levels; the impact of the national
economic climate; changes in government legislation; and developing corporate and
service objectives.

Adequacy of Reserves
Reserves are held for two main purposes:

o a working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and
unexpected events or emergencies (General Fund balance); and

o to build up funds to meet known or predicted requirements (earmarked
reserves).

Whilst there is no statutory guidance on reserves, the Chartered Institute of Public
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) recommends that each local authority should base
its decisions on professional advice from its Responsible Finance Officer and its
understanding of local circumstances.

Taking into account such considerations in October 2011 the Cabinet approved as
part of its MTFS, the following guiding principle:

“General Fund Balance should not fall below £1.25m and overall revenue reserves
should not fall below 20% of net revenue expenditure.”

page 35



This remains a prudent position which | do not recommend changing at this time
particularly with the uncertainty of LGR. Given the significant challenges already
stated, such prudence will enable the Council to navigate its way through periods of
undeniable uncertainty as the Council transitions towards a potential new council. A
General Fund Reserve of £2.6m should remain. Whilst earmarked reserves hover
around £25m us of expenditure form the reserves is not fully profiled and they will
diminish. For example, we know LGR will require considerable expenditure but the
detail and timing of this is to be determined. The Council’s reserve position relates to
its risk profile, and this oscillates as the environment we operate in fluctuates.

The Council has a number of earmarked reserves (Section 6 of the MTFS) to help
mitigate risks such as LGR and maximise economic development opportunities for
Regeneration and Community Projects. Additional challenges arise from likely
expenditure pressures linked to addressing climate change and the Council’s Climate
Change Action Plan. A projected balance of £0.816m is available from 2026/27 in the
Climate Change Action Reserve. Because of both the uncertainty and significant
financial pressures of Simpler Recycling a specific reserve has been created peaking
at£2.48m (2028/29). The earmarked reserves are constantly reviewed many are used
for capital purposes including Treasury Capital Depreciation and Vehicle
Replacement. The Leisure Centre Maintenance Reserve is due to increase to £2m
recognising the transitioning of the East Leake contract from Private Finance Initiative
(PFI) arrangements to the leisure centre management contract.

The New Homes Bonus (NHB) scheme in its current form has now ended (Section
3.7 of Annex B) the use of the remainder of the NHB reserve is profiled and committed
to fund the council’s Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) over the life of this MTFS
and beyond. The commitment for the repayment of the Arena is now complete, with
£1m paid for 10 years. It is also being used to fund economic development master
planning work across the Borough for our main towns and villages and grants to
enhance football pitches across the borough The Council remains committed to
developing its towns and villages, so Rushcliffe remains a great place to live, work and
enjoy sport and recreation.

Annex B, Section 8 highlights key risks with regards to the MTFS and many of the
issues already mentioned above are cited in the table of risks. It is important the
Council retains its level of reserves given that there are heightened risks: impending
local government reorganisation, inflationary pressures; the challenges that
addressing climate change brings; and helping to fund the future capital programme.
Whilst there is an increase in Revenue Support Grant the Council still has a high
degree of self-sufficiency. Council Tax, fees and charges and other income account
for around 79% of income.

The Council, due to its level of cash balances, is not planning on externally borrowing
in the medium term and therefore not incurring the additional cost of borrowing. The
Council still retains an ambitious capital programme (£24.3m over 5 years) to deliver
its corporate objectives (Section 9, Annex B). The excellent projects in particular to
be delivered in 2026/27 include Radcliffe on Trent Master Plan development, West
Bridgford Town Centre redevelopment; to support the more vulnerable with ‘Warm
Homes’ and disabled facilities grants and to support registered housing providers; and

page 36



to facilitate more empty properties into use. The Council continues to invest across the
Borough and for a wide range of groups within the Borough.

Without additional capital receipts or external grants, the Council’s capital resources
inevitably diminishing over time. By 2030/31 projections indicate that £9.17m of capital
resources remain (Section 9.3, Annex B). With the advent of LGR being within this
time frame capital resources are sufficient to meet current needs.

The Council will only borrow when it has to and when the right economic conditions
prevail. Deferring borrowing remains a preferred approach whether via utilising
additional capital receipts or accessing external grants or continuing to internally
borrow (ie using its cash balances). There is a perception of Rushcliffe in the sector of
being an authority that has less of a requirement for funding and therefore accessing
any external funding remains a challenge. Where it can the Council will aim to leverage
external funding supported by appropriate business cases.

The Council will continue with sensible financial management, follow a number of
guiding principles, thus enabling future financial sustainability. The principles include
individuals should pay for the services they use, maximise income streams and
recover full costs, reduce discretionary expenditure and maximise the use of council
assets.

Despite the inflationary pressures and rising demand for services, Rushcliffe maintains
a relatively robust financial base. Once capital demands have been met, overall
revenue reserves (excluding retained New Homes Bonus) remain stable over the
period of the MTFS. Even with the significant uncertainty prevailing in the local
government sector the Council must continue to act with due diligence, continuing ‘to
be brave but not reckless’ and to deliver its corporate objectives. The Council must
be diligent in the decisions it takes and cannot afford to continue to freeze council tax
particularly given reduced government funding over the 5 years and inflationary
pressures. The MTFS represents a balanced approach to meeting the financial
challenges that face the Authority.

| am not complacent regarding the Council’s position. | remain confident in the ability
of the Council to deliver its Corporate Strategy and associated corporate priorities. The
Council needs to continue to be financially astute and agile to deliver the Corporate
Strategy. It has to be sensible in its decision making and that decisions taken are
affordable, prudent and sustainable. If the Council veers away from this path then
financial difficulties will ensue. Previous achievements with regards to the TEP provide
reassurance that the budget requirement will be met in a sustainable manner, although
LGR will provide challenges to officers and members in its magnitude. It is likely that
the MTFS for 2027/28 will be a 2-year strategy assuming LGR is legislated for.

In conclusion, therefore, it is my opinion that the budget proposed in this report, and
the sundry strategies which support it, are properly developed and provide an
appropriate approach for meeting the significant financial challenges and funding risks
facing the Authority at this time. The Council is currently not at risk of requiring
Exceptional Financial Support (EFS) or issuing a s114 Notice which unfortunately
some authorities have had to do. Particularly given the certainty of a 3-year settlement

page 37



should provide. | believe the budget is overall prudent, sustainable and affordable with
reserves in place to meet future challenges.

Peter Linfield

Executive Manager — Deputy Chief Executive and Executive Manager - Finance and
Corporate Services (and Section 151 Officer)

February 2026

page 38



6< abed

ANNEX B

RUSHCLIFFE BOROUGH COUNCIL

BUDGET SETTING REPORT AND ASSOCIATED FINANCIAL STRATEGIES
2026/27-2030/31



oy abed

ANNEX B

Contents
1 INTRODUCTION AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ... 4
S A 011 Yo [ o £ o PSSP 4
2 BUDGET ASSUNMPTIONS ......cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiietee ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt et et ettt ettt e et ee et e et et e et e e et et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeneeeeees 9
3 AN A L O B ] @ 0 | 0 P 11
3.1 Fair FUNING COMMENTAIY ... .ottt ettt e oo e e ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e s e e eeeeeeeeessaaa e eeeeeeeeesssasanaeaeaeeeennnnes 11
3.2 BUSINESS RAIES ...ttt e oo oot ettt oo e e e e e et ettt e e e e e e e e e et e etaa e e e eeeeeeetann e e e eaaeeeanees 12
X B O o 18 (o7 | I I QTR 15
3.4 SPECIAI EXPENSES. .....eeeeiiiee e e ettt ettt et e e e e e et ettt e e e e e eeeee e et ——eeeeeeeeeettanaaaeeeeeettattnaaaeeeeeeeaetrnnaaaaeeeeeeanras 18
3.5  Revenue Support Grant (RSG) .....coooo oo 19
B T © 114 =T T =T o | O EPPPRRPRTN 19
3.7 NEW HOMES BONUS ....eeiiiiiiii ettt et oo e ettt e e e e e e e e et eetaa ot e e e e e eeeeeetasn e eeeeeeeeeasssan e eeeeeeeesessnnnnaeeneeeeeennnns 20
3.8 Fees, Charges and Rental INCOME...........ooooiiiiiii ettt e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e ab e e eeeaseeeenees 20
e B @i o 1= gl [ ToTo] oI SRR 23
3. 10 INCOME SUMIMAIY ...ttt e e e e e et e e e e e ettt et e e e e e ettt eeaa e e eeeeeeesaessaaa e eeaeeeeeesssaaa e eeeaeeeeeessaaaaaeeeeeeeesssssanneeeeaeeeennnnes 25
4 2026/27 SPENDING PLANS ... aaaesssesseassssassssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss s s snssssssssssnssssnnnnnnn 26
4.1 Explanations fOr Main MOVEMENTS ...........uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiti e aeeaeseeeeeeeaeeessaesssanssssesssnsssnnssnnsnssnsnssnnnnnnnnnnnnnnns 27
11 141 0] 1= gl =T oo 1T 28
5 BUDGET REQUIREMENT ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt et ettt eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeeeees 29
6 ] Y s PP 31
7 THE TRANSFORMATION AND EFFICIENCY PLAN ... 34



R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

T obed

© o

10
11
12

ANNEX B

LIS N NN | IR = N £ 8 I I P 36
CAPITAL PROGRAMME ......oeitiiiitiitititieeeeeieeeeaeeeeeeeaeeaeeaaaaeesaeseeese—e——sss—eaesesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnssnssssnsnnnnnnnsnnnnn 38

9.1 Setting the Capital Programme ... 38
9.2  Significant Projects in the Capital Programme ...........ooooiiiiiiiiii e e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e eeeannes 38
9.3 Table 19 — Five-year capital programme, funding and resource implications ..............ccccoeviiiiiiiii e, 41
9.4  Capital FUNAING RESOUICES .......ooviiiiie ettt oo e e e ettt et e e e e e e et e e e st eeeeeeeeeeessaa e e eeeeeeeeesssaanaeaeaeeeennnnes 42
9.5  Future Capital @nd PriNCIPIES ......uuuiii ettt e et e e e e e e e e et et e e e e e e e e e e et b e e e eeeeeeeessaaa e eeeeeeeennnees 42
TREASURY MANAGEMENT ... e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e aeeaaaaaaeas 44

L0 ] I8 45

o e = 1 [0 47
12.1  Appendix 1 — Funding Analysis for Special EXPENSES AICaS .........uciiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiei et e e et e e e e e e e eeeann s 47
12.2 Appendix 2 — Revenue Budget SErviCe SUMMATY .........oi oot e e e e e e e e e e 48
12.3 Appendix 3 — Capital Programme and APPraiSalS..........cccceeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e eeeaaa s 49
12.4 Appendix 4 — Use of Earmarked ReSErves in 2026/27 ...........oooeuuuiiiie ettt e e e e e e e e e e 100
12.5 Appendix 5 — Transformation and EffiCiENCY Plan ... e 101
12.6  AppendiX 6 — COre SPENAING POWET .........uiiii e e e e e e et e e e e e e e eeeaesaa e e e e eeeeeeeesasaaeeeeeeeeenssnnnnnnes 102
12.7 AppendiX 7 — BUSINESS RAIE POOI ...t e e et e e e e e e e e e ee et e e e e e e e eeensannnes 103
12.8 Appendix 8 — Pay PoliCY STatE@MENT ........oooiiiiiiieee ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt e e e e e eeaes 106
12.9 Appendix 9 — Capital and Investment Strategy 2026/27-2030/31 .......ccooeiiiiiiiiiee e 112

12.10 Appendix 10 — Cabinet Addendum 10 February 2026 ............ooooiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeee ettt e et e e e e e e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeees 141



] a y ANNEX B

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

1 INTRODUCTION AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 Introduction

The final settlement released by Government in February 2026 is the first multi-year settlement in a decade; this covers the
three financial years from 2026/27-2028/29 and brings an increased certainty for medium term planning. The settlement is
based on the long-awaited Fair Funding review which as the name suggests attempts to distribute the fixed funding pot more
fairly between local authorities through a refresh of the apportionment methodology. However, as this has been based on
deprivation indices, Rushcliffe is one of the worst authorities affected seeing a reduction in core spending power of 2.25%
between 2025/26 and 2028/29 (see appendix 6 for comparative breakdown). The Council mitigated this risk with prudent
assumptions built into last year's Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and careful planning has allowed a balanced
budget to be achieved. The resource allocation has less focus on rewarding and compensating authorities with regards to
growth, epitomised by the loss of New Homes Bonus, which was a significant funding stream for the Borough (regularly circa
£1.5m or more).

Fair Funding has consolidated previous grants including New Homes Bonus and Employer NI grant, rolling them into one
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) which has been calculated to give a revised allowance based on indices with a high weighting
towards deprivation. Business Rates baselines (expected collection amounts) have been reset, and a mansion tax for
properties over £2m has been introduced, however this will be retained by Government and possibly recycled to Local
Government from 2028/29. The effect of the reset is a reduction from £6.676m in Business Rates income in 2025/26 to
£2.675m in 2026/27 a 60% reduction, however due the late adjustments to the methodology between the provisional and the
final settlement, a one-year adjustment grant will be paid to offset the adverse impact of the change (£0.484m). Further
transition grant in 2027/28 and 2028/29 totalling £1.115m additional income offsets this in the short term however this only
represents protection to a 95% funding ‘floor when compared to Core Spending Power in 2025/26. Due to the business rates
reset all Nottinghamshire authorities in the Nottinghamshire Business Rates Pool have agreed to dissolve the pool as
downside risks outweigh upside risks (Appendix 7 gives further information).

2 obed

Implementation of Simpler Recycling (SR) has begun with kerbside glass collections commencing in 2025/26 and will be
followed by kerbside food collection in 2027/28. There remain uncertainties around the level of funding with an indication of
£1.279m for 2026/27 and the expectation that this will reduce as producers seek to minimise the Extended Producer
Responsibility (EPR) charge by changing packing which drives the EPR grant paid to Local Authorities. With costs of these

4



R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

ey abed

ANNEX B

increased collections estimated at £1.5m by 2030/31, it is clear that there will be both significant revenue and capital
pressures. A Simpler Recycling Reserve was established to mitigate these pressures and has been replenished by £1.25m
in 2028/29 but may need to be topped-up for future years if additional funding is not secured. The Council will continue to
make representations to the Government that the imposition of such duties should be properly funded by the Government as
with any ‘new burden’.

In previous years the Transformation and Efficiency Plan (TEP) has helped to reduce the funding gap. As budgets become
increasingly lean, identifying further savings is proving a greater challenge and Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) will
become the overriding Transformation Programme on its own and will take significant resource to deliver. Prudent
management of Council budgets combined with the Council driving ongoing financial efficiencies means RBC is in a relatively
stable financial position going into increasingly challenging times. Future opportunities may arise from the use of technology
and artificial Intelligence. There still remain ongoing resource intensive projects such as the exit from the East Leake Leisure
Centre private finance initiative (PFI) arrangements. Whilst this may contribute significant savings of £0.807m in the three
years to 2028/29 as part of the Transformation Plan the Council will still be responsible for the asset and therefore will need
to fund future capital expenditure on this asset rather than the current PFI arrangement. This means an increase in earmarked
reserves for leisure centres as the Council continues to invest in its assets. This constitutes good financial planning.

The Council are one of the few councils who are debt free with a reasonable level of reserves, which helps to protect against
unexpected pressures. Reserves are increasing from £24.3m in 2025/26 to £24.9m by end of 2030/31 however most reserves
have specifically identified uses such as for LGR which are not yet reflected in the budget and so financial risk remains
significant. Recruitment and retention of staff and the potential use of agency resource along with system and process
changes are heightened risks with LGR and a specific reserve has been created to mitigate such risks (£2.9m by March
2028).

The budget has assumed an average inflation rate of 3%, with specific areas such as insurance and some IT contracts subject
to higher rates (up to 10%) based on current renewal information. The Government uses interest rates as a key tool to contain
inflation and interest rates are expected to fall to 3.25% during 2026 although there are many macro-economic factors which
can influence assumptions, such as geo-political conflict. Commendably the Council remains debt free, so is not yet subject
to interest costs from borrowing. As interest rates fall the interest earned on treasury investments reduces.

The Government assumes Council Tax will be maximised at the higher of £5 or 3% in its funding assessment and this is what

5



R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

7t abed

ANNEX B

the MTFS assumed last year. This budget now includes a freeze on the Rushcliffe element of the Council Tax for 2026/27.
This is good news for residents with a saving of £4.59 per annum as the Council recognises cost of living pressures. There
are downsides to this freeze, resulting in lost income of £0.222m and £1.225m over 5 years MTFS period (see section 11).
Core Spending Power (CSP) is already reducing by 2.25% between 2025/26 and 2028/29 and a Council Tax freeze will
increase the CSP reduction to 4.12%. With inflation at over 3% there are therefore real term pressures on council budgets.
The reduction in Council Tax reduces this element of future income for this Council or a new unitary authority, whilst it is
affordable now, increasing Council Tax by the maximum, is what the Government anticipates Councils will do. Not maximising
Council Tax by the maximum amount impacts on financial sustainability and prudence. The Council is already in the lowest
25% of district councils for its element of Council Tax and whilst freezing Council tax is good for residents it exacerbates the
gap between Rushcliffe and other districts and worsens its ability to raise future Council Tax income, one of its more stable
income streams. Thus, a council tax freeze perpetuates an existing inequality within the current funding system.

Cabinet have recommended the revocation of the second homes premium given the small cohort of properties that are second
homes in Rushcliffe and are therefore not convinced of its ability to assist in the supply side for more housing within the
Borough. Given this potential policy change it is recommended it is reviewed by scrutiny and any recommendations to be
made by Cabinet. This therefore means any decision can only take effect from 2027/28. More information is provided in
Section 3.3 and Appendix 10. Any revocation will impact the Council Tax Base going forward and will be reflected in the
2027/28 updated MTFS.

A further policy change proposed by Cabinet is to introduce a Council Tax discount for the terminally ill. A policy needs to be
formulated as part of a scrutiny review to be recommended to Cabinet with the in. Again, this is covered further in section 3.3
and Appendix 10, with a £0.2m budget commitment over 5 years,

The Council will continue to focus on delivering budget efficiencies through either cost reduction or raising income. Broadly
fees for discretionary services have been increased by 3.5% to recover the increase in the costs of delivering these services;
however, this is also balanced with the demand for services (given cost of living pressures) and services used by the more
vulnerable in our community; and other fees have been adjusted in line with market forces.

The Council remains sustainable due to its range of income streams which have been increased to contain aforementioned
inflation costs, including commercial property income and fees and charges, with a proportionate approach to generating
income, therefore, despite the financial challenges, the net projected financial position over the 5 years gives a £0.815m

6



(R

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

Gy abed

ANNEX B

deficit. The deficit includes two years of transition grant and by 2030 the in-year surplus is minimal.

The Council continues to invest in its assets within the borough with a 5-year capital programme of £24.3m so it can continue
to deliver excellent services to residents. Given this commitment capital resources continue to be depleted and are estimated
to be in the region of £9.2m at the end of the MTFS period. There remains a rising asset base, including the vehicle
requirements of Simpler Recycling and acquisition of land for carbon offsetting, which places more demands on capital,
revenue resources and therefore balancing the revenue budget. Schemes that are good for ‘place’, the community and
economic growth are not self-financing in the same way more commercial investments maybe. Improving Rushcliffe as a
place and encouraging growth, remain key priorities, as such the capital programme includes schemes which focus on the
delivery of core services and supporting the more vulnerable in the Borough such as enhancements to our buildings and the
delivery of funded initiatives such as Support for Registered Housing Providers, Disabled Facilities Grants (which has included
in the last 12 months additional funding) and the Warm Home Scheme. Also included is £0.4m allocation for capital grants
for 3G football pitch and changing room upgrades subject to applications, for the whole of the Borough. We are focused on
both the present and the future so there remains sustainable growth in the borough and our main towns. Hence there is
funding for the Radcliffe on Trent Masterplan of £1m and £50k to support master planning work across key settlements such
as East Leake and if necessary further funding will be provided for other areas such as Ruddington and Keyworth. It is
important we future proof Rushcliffe, so it continues to be a great place, with a great lifestyle and great sport, irrespective of
the type of local government organisation that follows.

Executive Summary

This report outlines the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) through to 2030/31 including the revenue and
capital budgets, supported by several key associated financial policies alongside details of changes to fees and charges.
Some of the key figures are as follows:

Table 1 — Five-year Budget Estimate

2026/27 | 2027/28 | 2028/29 | 2029/30 | 2030/31

Net (Surplus)/Deficit (£) (212,200) (186,200) 923,600 (-11,200) (71,900) 814,500



(R}

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

9oy abed

Table 2 — Key changes

202526 2026/27  Change

RBC Precept £7.728m
Council Tax Band D £161.77
Council Tax Increase 2.46%
Council Tax Band D with Special Expenses £182.94
Council Tax Increase with Special Expenses 2.99%
Retained Business Rates £6.676m
Revenue Support Grant £0.123m
Transitional Grants £0m
New Homes Bonus £1.478m

Table 3 — Change in precepts - Special Expenses

o 202526 | 2026/27 £change % Change

Total Special Expense Precept ' £1,011,600 £1,069,300

West Bridgford £64.84 £67.40
Keyworth £3.21 £3.35
Ruddington £3.14 £3.40

£7.843m
£161.77
0%
£183.81
0.48%

£0.115m
£0
(2.46%)
£0.87
(2.51%)

£2.675m (£4.001m)

£4.726m
£0.484m

£4.603m
£0.484m

£0.000m (£1.478m)

£57,700
£2.56
£0.14
£0.26

5.70%
3.95%
4.36%
8.28%

ANNEX B

The Local Government Act 2003 introduced a requirement that the Chief Financial Officer reports on the robustness of the
budget. The estimates have been prepared in a prudent manner, although it should be recognised that there are elements
outside of the Council’s control. Several risks have been identified in Section 8 of this report, and these will be mitigated

through the budget monitoring and risk management processes of the Council.



] a y ANNEX B

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

2 BUDGET ASSUMPTIONS

Table 4 — Statistical assumptions which affect the five-year financial strategy

Assumed increases/inflation  Note | 2026/27 | 2027/28 | 2028/29 | 2029/30 | 2030/31

Utilities a 3% 3% 3% 3% 3%
Diesel/Fuel b 3% 3% 3% 3% 3%
Contracts a 3% 3% 3% 3% 3%
Pay costs increase C 3% 2% 2% 2% 2%
Employer's pension contribution rate d 16.70%| 16.70%| 16.70%| 16.70%, 16.70%
Return on cash investments e 3.31% 3.25% 3% 3% 3%
Tax base increase f 1.5% 1.80% 1.80% 1.80% 1.80%
Employers National Insurance g 15.00%| 15.00%| 15.00%| 15.00%, 15.00%

Notes to assumptions

)y 9bed

a) High inflation has resulted in a permanent increase in the Councils spending levels and has been built into
future year budgets to ensure commitments can be met. Inflation peaked at 11.2% in October 2022, this has
fallen to 3.6% as December 2025 and is expected return to the Government’s target of 2% within the MTFS
period, perhaps during 2026, but this as in recent years this can soon increase based on local and global
events. A standard rate of inflation of 3% for contracts has been assumed, however there is variation within
this for specific contracts.

b) The majority of the Council’s fleet vehicles have now been converted to use HVO fuel. Fuel by its nature is
volatile in price but we have assumed a 3% increase in future years, and we will continue to review costs
over the medium term.

c) Payroll projections have increased due to upward pressure on National Living Wage and pay negotiations
(also driven by inflation) which also include the agreed pay award for 2025/26 of 3.2%.

d) The Council has recently received the results of the latest triennial valuation of the pension fund, covering
the period 2026/27 to 2028/29. The valuation shows an improved asset position, resulting in a reduction of
the employer’s primary contribution rate from 18.50% to 16.70%. The estimated annual deficit payment (to



] a y ANNEX B

Rushcliffe

Borough Council
meet historical pension liabilities) has also fallen for the forthcoming 3-year period from £0.720m per annum
average to a £0.661m per annum average (£0.637m, £0.661m, £0.685m in 2026/27, 2027/28 and 2028/29
respectively).

e) Cash investment returns are based on projections consistent with the Council’s Capital and Investment
Strategy. The Bank of England Base rate dropped from 4.25% in April 2025 to 3.75% in December 2025 and
is expected to be 3% by the end of the MTFS period, recent UK and World events may affect this and
projections can change.

f) The tax base for 2026/27 has reduced from 1.8% to 1.5% to reflect current trend, this forecast will remain at
1.8% growth for future years in the expectation this will increase to prior levels.

g) The increase in Employers National Insurance (13.8% to 15%) and reduced threshold in 25/26 equated to
approximately £300k per annum. In 2025/26 the Council received a grant of £123k towards this increase, for

2026/27 onwards this has now been rolled into Revenue Support Grant (redistributed through the Fair
Funding Review).

gy abed

10



] a y ANNEX B

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

3 FINANCIAL RESOURCES

3.1 Fair Funding Commentary

The Fair Funding Review (FFR) is the Government’s overhaul of how core local government funding is distributed. It
reallocates funding based on relative need and relative resources, updating formulae that determine each authority’s
Baseline Funding Level (BFL) and how business rates and grants are redistributed. The Government’s updated
methodology emphasises deprivation, which disadvantages more financially stable districts such as Rushcliffe. The
FFR introduces a transition mechanism that prevents councils experiencing extreme year-on-year reductions in funding.
This is achieved through a funding floor: a guaranteed minimum percentage of assessed post-reform funding level.

When comparing income before and after the reform, the Government has confirmed that the Council will receive
transition funding totalling £1.115m across 2027/28 and 2028/29. No transition grant will be provided beyond this period.
Although the funding offers some short-term protection against a sudden drop in income, the Council will only benefit
from a 95% funding ‘floor’, whereas many other district councils will receive full (100%) protection. This difference arises
from the Fair Funding Review methodology, which places significant emphasis on deprivation.

61 abed

Because Rushcliffe is considered relatively financially secure, supported by prudent financial management, it receives
less favourable treatment under the redistribution model. As a result, the Council is disadvantaged compared with areas
assessed as having higher levels of need.

The provisional settlement announced by Government on 17 December 2025, ended the single year settlements and
delivered the long-awaited business rates reset and fair funding review, the absence of which in recent years has made
budget setting increasingly challenging. The final settlement was announced in February 2026 and unusually included
significant change to the provisional funding announced in December. The Council will receive reduced transitional
funding (£1.2m) when compared to the provisional settlement as a result of a change to the allocation methodology
although due to the lateness of the changes, 2026/27 allocations will be protected by a one-off adjustment grant. The
settlement covers three years of funding allocations from 2026/27 to 2028/29, however future years are illustrative and
subject to change based on a continuing annual settlement.

For district councils generally there was approximately a £150m (4.8%) total cash increase in Core Spending Power

11



R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

0g abed

ANNEX B

(CSP) in 2028-29 compared to 2025-26 after transitional protection. This average increase masks cash cuts for more
than 50 individual district councils of which Rushcliffe is one, suffering a decrease of 2.25%. Appendix 6 shows a
breakdown of funding and per head analysis which shows a reduction of 4.57% per head from 2025/26 to 2028/29. The
settlement figures assume that district councils maximise their ability to raise Council Tax to referendum limits which
remain at 2.99% for 2026/27. A freeze in Council tax for the Rushcliffe element in 2026/27 would increase the reduction
in CSP from 2.25% to 4.12% when comparing 2025/26 to 2028/29. When setting the budget last year, reduced funding
was expected and mitigated by careful planning and appropriations to reserves.

The provisional outcome of the Fair Funding Review has allocated funding across two main streams, Business Rates
Retention (BRR) and Revenue Support Grant (RSG), with some additional funding added to local authority figures
through Baseline Funding Level (BFL — the amount the Government thinks we need) indexing and RSG increases.

Homelessness, Rough Sleeping and Domestic Abuse grants are now part of the Core Spending Power and received
as a single ringfenced grant with its own distribution methodology. Simpler Recycling Enhanced Producer Responsibility
(EPR) payments are outside the scope of Core Spending Power and will be additional income, however it is expected
that this will taper off as producers seek to reduce their levy.

Grants previously received for New Homes Bonus and Employers NI have been rolled into the Fair Funding Assessment
and redistributed under the Fair Funding Review. Confirmation on future Internal Drainage Board Funding is to be
determined by Government, and they are looking at consulting on this later in the year. Currently this places an unfair
expenditure pressure on the Council of £0.46m (£0.447m 2025/26) which Rushcliffe taxpayers have to pay for.

This section of the report outlines the resources available to the Council: Business Rates, Council Tax (RBC and Special
Expenses), Revenue Support Grant, Fees, Charges and Rents, and Other Income

3.2 Business Rates

The Business Rates reset from 1 April 2026 is part of the Government’s Fair Funding Review. The reset is long overdue
and aims to restore the balance between aligning funding with need and rewarding business rate growth locally. All
local authorities have been subject to an updated assessment of need and assigned new Business Rates Baselines

12



R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

1S abed

ANNEX B

(BRBs), Baseline Funding Levels (BFLs), and top-up or tariffs. The Government intends to deliver regular resets;
however, the reset periods are yet to be determined.

The BFL has been set to the amount that Local Authorities expect to collect in 2026/27, business rates growth previously
retained locally has been added to national totals and redistributed based on Fair Funding 2.0. An increased safety net
at 100% of BFL, guarantees this level of funding in 2026/27 regardless of actual income. This will fall to 97% in 2027/28
and return to the usual rate of 92.5% in 2028/29, with the risk that Councils are more likely to go into safety net.

Alongside the reset, the Business Rates tax base has been revalued for 2026/27 which removes the need to adjust for
valuations in top up/tariff adjustments, however an adjustment will be required in 2027/28 for any difference between
the provisional and final revaluations in March 2026 after the final settlement and this will be doubled to account for
both 2026/27 and 2027/28.

Changes to multipliers have been made, the previous small and standard multipliers have been subdivided into Retail
Hospitality and Leisure (RHL) and non-RHL, and a fifth multiplier created for all high value properties. The move from
the two to five-tier system is intended to ensure fairer contributions from larger operations and replaces the annual RHL
relief. This means that the Council will have a larger proportion of the rates to collect from businesses rather than
received through direct relief payments.

The Council ordinarily makes assumptions reflecting national experience of successful business ratings appeals. This
has been built into the settlement allocation for Rushcliffe using the national average appeals percentage 3.75%, also
included in the settlement figure is 0.9% allowance for bad debts.

The Business Rates element of the Collection Fund is estimated to be in deficit by £0.393m (RBC share £0.157m) at the end

of 2025/26 and this will be recovered in 2026/27.

The Nottinghamshire Business Rates Retention (BRR) Pool, operating since 2013/14, may have continued into 2026/27, but
a full system reset and changes to levy and safety net arrangements mean pooling offers little benefit and carries significant
risk. Growth above baseline is unlikely, most authorities will not exceed the new 10% levy, and pooling could result in
substantial losses due to increased safety net payments. Scenario testing shows losses are far more probable than gains;
therefore, the decision has been made by all Nottinghamshire pool participants to dissolve the existing pool for 2026/27

(Appendix 7).

13



%

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

2S abed

Table 5 - Forecast position for Business Rates

| 2025/26 | 2026/27 | 2027/28 | 2028/29 | 2029/30 | 2030/31 |
*Retained Business Rates £'000

(6,676) (2,675) (2,796) (2,857) (2,943) (3,031)
Increase/(Decrease) £'000 1,213 (4,001) 121 61 86 88
Increase/(Decrease) % 2% (60%) 5% 2% 3% 3%

*Retained Business Rates figures include baseline funding plus Business Rates receipts from Renewable Energy
Hereditaments within the borough.

ANNEX B

14



R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

eg abed

ANNEX B

Chart 1 — Business Rates Projections

Retained Business Rates £'000

B B i H H

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

3.3 Council Tax

The Government has assumed in future funding projections that Councils will take up the option of increasing their Council
Tax by the higher of 3% or £5 for a Council Tax Band D (maintained at 3% for a fourth year). The Council is required to consider
Special Expenses when assessing increases against the referendum limit and ensure that together the Special Expenses
and Borough increase totals the higher of £5 or 3%. When setting Council Tax, the Council’s priority is to maintain service
delivery despite rising costs and to ensure adequate reserves to safeguard against unforeseen risks, however the Council
acknowledges the cost-of-living challenges that residents face. Whilst maximising Council Tax is the most prudent and
sustainable decision, a reduced Council Tax charge would benefit the residents of the borough during this challenging period.
There is a financial impact of not maximising Council Tax increases, for example, if the Council were to increase by the full
3% this would be a total increase of £5.47, with Rushcliffe’s element £4.59 or 2.84%, by choosing to freeze Council Tax for
2026/27, income of £0.222m is foregone and this represents a loss of £1.225m over the 5 years. A range of options (zero to
maximum) are shown in Section 11. After careful financial analysis the conclusion is that over the 5-year period the Council

15



R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

G abed

ANNEX B

is able to balance the budget with a Council Tax freeze and this would not put the Council at risk of issuing a S114 notice,
considering current risks. The loss of future income will impact the new unitary authority although is not material to the overall
business case. For 2026/27 it is therefore recommended that the Rushcliffe Element of Council Tax is frozen. Going forward
the assumptions are to revert to the maximum increase of 2.99%. The Special Expense increases are discussed in paragraph
3.4.

The 2026/27 tax base has been set at 48,486.30, an increase of 1.5% based upon the current Council Tax base and
anticipated growth during 2026/27 (reflected in a lower increase in precept of £115k). Thereafter it is assumed a 1.8%
increase per annum. This will be reviewed as the Council looks to deliver its housing growth targets.

The overall collection fund net surplus for 2025/26 is expected to be £0.316m (RBC share £25.6k) which will be distributed in
2026/27.

Second Homes Premium

Currently 130 properties (0.23% of properties) are subject to this premium (introduced 1 April 2025). This provides for Rushcliffe
around an additional £20k in Council Tax. Cabinet having considered the policy are not convinced it supports, with any great
effectiveness, the current strategy for getting empty homes into use. Given this is a change in policy it is to be reviewed by
scrutiny for Cabinet to make an appropriate recommendation. If the policy is revoked it will take effect from 1 April 2027 as part
of this MTFS. The financial impact will manifest itself in future years’ tax base calculations and ultimately reduced Council Tax
income. Appendix 10 provides more information.

Council Tax Discount for the Terminally ill

During 2024, Marie Curie, the UK’s leading end of life charity, published a report that explored poverty and fuel poverty at the
end of life in the UK. The report identified that in 2023, 111,000 people died in poverty, more than one in six deaths registered
in England, Scotland and Wales. Several Councils are starting to introduce a Council Tax discount scheme for the terminally ill.
The scheme would be administered as a S13a local discount, so all costs of the scheme would be borne by Rushcliffe Borough
Council. This cost may vary between £30k and £150k per year, therefore an annual budget of £40,000 has been earmarked in
the budget. Over 5 years this equates to £0.2m and will increase the overall budget deficit position (which is reflected in the
overall net deficit of £0.815m). Prior to adoption, the proposals will be subject to scrutiny review to be approved by Cabinet.

16



] a J ANNEX B

Earooen Couns
Table 6 - Movement in Council Tax, the tax base, precept, and the Council Tax Collection Fund deficit
*rounding applies
| 202526 | 2026/27 | 2027/28 | 2028/29 | 2029/30 __ 2030/31 |
Council Tax Base (@) 47,769.80 48,486.30 49,359.10 50,247.60 51,152.10 52,072.80
Council Tax (b) £161.77 £161.77 £166.96 £172.79 £178.58 £184.53
Annual Increase (RBC element) £3.89 £0 £5.20 £5.83 £5.79 £5.96
% Increase (RBC element) 2.46% 0% 3.22% 3.49% 3.35% 3.34%
Gross Council Tax Collected* (axb) (7,727,300) (7,843,100) (8,241,200) (8,682,300) (9,134,600) (9,609,200)
Increase in Precept £308,800 £115,800  £398,100 £441,100 £452,300 £474,600
Council Tax (Surplus) / Deficit (£6,100) (£25,600) 0 0 0 0
IS Council tax including Special 182.94 £183.81 £189.31 £194.97 £200.80 £206.80
Q Expenses (SE)
o Annual Increase (inc SE) £5.31 £0.87 £5.50 £5.66 £5.83 £6.00
% Increase (RBC & SE) 2.99% 0.48% 2.99% 2.99% 2.99% 2.99%

17



(R}

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

9g abed

ANNEX B

3.4 Special Expenses

The Council sets a special expense to cover any expenditure it incurs in a part of the Borough which elsewhere is undertaken
by a town or parish council. These costs are then levied on the taxpayers of that area. As with previous years, special expenses
will be levied in West Bridgford, Ruddington and Keyworth.

Appendix 1, summarised in Table 7, details the Band D element of the precepts for the special expense areas. Expenditure in
West Bridgford has increased by £56.1k, this is mainly due an increase in the annuity charge of £47.6k to cover capital works
to Sir Julien Cahn Pavillion and Gamston, however this has been offset by the removal of works relating to West Park which
is no longer a special expense. This results in an increase in the Band D charge of £2.56 (3.95%) or 4.9p per week. Historically,
the amount collected from the precept has not been sufficient to cover actual spend, as at 31 March 2025 this deficit amounted
to £184k. Due to the use of external grant funding for some of the capital works, the surplus on the annuity collected has
increased to £78k, it is proposed to utilise this to reduce the revenue balance. Planned repayments of the revenue deficit in
2025/26 will bring this down to £90k, but this will be subject to the year-end outturn position. Additional annuity payments of
£30k in 2026/27 to 2028/29 will bring this to zero.

The Band D amount for Keyworth has increased by £0.14 (4.36%) and Ruddington has increased by £0.26 (8.28%), both
relate to small increases in the precept due to minor maintenance works at the cemeteries. The small values give a distorted
percentage increase. The budgets for the West Bridgford Special Expense area have been discussed at the West Bridgford
Special Expenses and Community Infrastructure Levy group (in October 2025 and January 2026), given the more detailed
nature of the budget.

Table 7 - Special Expenses

- 2025/26 2026/27

Band D Band D %
Cost £ £ Cost £ £ Change

West Bridgford 991,100 64.84 1,047,200 67.40 3.95
Keyworth 10,100 3.21 10,600 3.35 4.36
Ruddington 10,400 3.14 11,500 3.40 8.28

Total 1011600 | 1069300

18



] i y ANNEX B

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

3.5 Revenue Support Grant (RSG)

As part of Fair Funding 2.0, Rushcliffe will receive overall less Government support under the new methodology. RSG funding
has been allocated for a three-year period amounting to £10.864m for Rushcliffe, gradually phasing out to allow the Council
time to adjust to the lower levels of funding. The final two years of the MTFS have been estimated at a 3% increase. Previous
grants for New Homes Bonus, Employers NI and the legacy Business Rates multiplier under indexation have been rolled into
the Fair Funding assessment and redistributed as part of the Fair Funding Review. The Homelessness Grant (including
Domestic Abuse and Rough Sleeping) is a separate grant which is ringfenced and therefore reflected in the net service
expenditure budget.

Table 8 — Revenue Support Grant

| 2025/26 2026/27 | 2027/28 2028/29 ' 2029/30 2030/31

Revenue Support Grant £000 (123) (4,726) (3,634) (2,505) (2,580) (2,657)
Increase/(Decrease) £'000 4,603 (1,332) (1,129) 75 77
Increase/(Decrease) % 97% (30%) (45%) 3% 3%

)G abed

3.6 Other Grants

In 2025/26 grants were received for Employers National Insurance compensation £123k and Minimum Funding Guarantee
£101k, and Green Plant and Machinery (Business Rates related) £17k, as part of Fair Funding, these have been rolled into
the Revenue Support Grant. Additional grants may arise during the year in the form of New Burdens; these are unknown and
not included in the budget.

19



(R}

ANNEX B
Rushcliffe
Borough Council
3.7 New Homes Bonus

The New Homes Bonus (NHB) scheme was intended to give clear incentive to local authorities to encourage housing growth

in their areas. For the past few years one-year extensions to this payment have been awarded with £1.478m funding received
in 2025/26. This has now been rolled into the RSG grant calculations as part of the Fair Funding Review.

Chart 2 — Historical New Homes Bonus Payments

New Homes Bonus Received £'000

] i i ]

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

gG abed

2024/25 2025/26 2026/27

3.8 Fees, Charges and Rental Income

The Council is dependent on direct payment for many of its services. The income, from various fees, charges, and rents, is a
key element in recovering the costs of providing services which accord with the Council’s principles of cost recovery. Where

possible fees and charges have increased by 3.5% or more, others have increased to offset increased costs whilst in some
areas price increases are limited in those areas that affect the more vulnerable (such as home alarms).

20



(R}

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

65 abed

The Fees, Charges and Rental Income budget is shown in Table 9.

Table 9 — Fees, Charges and Rental Income

ANNEX B

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Car Parks (1,228) (1,228) (1,228) (1,328) (1,328) (1,328)
Licences (334) (388) (390) (393) (393) (393)
Non Sporting Facility Hire (160) (154) (155) (156) (157) (157)
Other Fees & Charges (966) (996) (1,007) (1,014) (1,020) (1,026)
Planning Fees (1,585) (1,386) (1,435) (1,485) (1,537) (1,591)
Rents (2,217) (2,157) (2,264) (2,268) (2,273) (2,277)
Service Charge (486) (494) (494) (494) (494) (495)
Crematorium Income (759) (857) (939) (1,026) (1,116) (1,212)
Garden Waste & Bin sales 1,770 1,939 2,110 2,285 2,466 2,651

Income assumptions are determined by several factors including current performance, decisions already taken and known
risks and opportunities. Where possible, the MTFS has made provision for future inflationary increases in fees and charges
to balance the cost of providing services whilst having regard for the local economy, service market position and the ability of
residents to pay. Anticipated income from commercial property investments is budgeted to increase in-line with contractual
rent reviews.

Car Parking charges — prices at Bingham and West Bridgford Car Parks were increased in 2025/26 to cover 3 years. The
next increase is planned for 2028/29.

Licensing income budgets show an increase in 2026/27 from 2025/26, mainly due to bringing budgets in-line with the current
trend / increases in license applications (mainly taxis). This is a cost neutral service, no assumed increase in income or
expenditure has been built into later years.

Non-sporting facility hire consists of room hire at the community buildings and service charges relate to home alarms, prices
and demand are market driven. The 2026/27 budgeted income is based on fees and charges and anticipated usage; this is

21



] a y ANNEX B

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

reviewed each year.

Statutory increases in Planning Fees, which came into effect December 2023, didn’t result in income levels budgeted for due
to a national decline in large applications. This has resulted in a downward base budget adjustment in income levels for 2026-
27 with inflationary increases in planning fees and charges going forward.

Rent and Service charges relate to commercial property investments, increases to individual rents are made according to the
leases period, there is also an element of vacancy lapse which means actual income tends to remain mostly static.

Crematorium income is budgeted to rise steadily, above the rate of inflation, over the next five years as it is now establishing
itself in the market.

Garden Waste, historically increased every three years, is now increased annually by £2 per annum to balance the additional
costs incurred to deliver the service. The 2026/27 budget includes an increase in charge of £5 for second and subsequent
bins in addition to the annual inflationary increase. There will remain a differential of £5 from 2027/28 between first bin and
two or more bins.

09 abed

22



(R}

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

19 abed

3.9 Other Income

ANNEX B

In addition to fees and charges, the Council also receives a range of other forms of income, these are summarised in Table

10 below.

Table 10 — Other Income

Sub Total

(3,939)

(4,412)

(4,467)

(4,433)

(4,381)

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Council Tax Costs Recovered (305) (354) (354) (354) (354) (354)
Council Tax' Housing Benefit Admin Grants

(148) (149) (153) (158) (163) (168)
Interest on Investments (1,435) (1,318) (1,284) (1,208) (1,132) (1,069)
Other Income (1,517) (1,684) (1,699) (1,719) (1,738) (1,738)
Recycling Credits 0 (200) (200) (200) (200) (200)
Other Government Grants 534 707 777 794 794 794

(4,323)

Housing Benefit Subsidy 11,758 12,103 12,459 12,741 13,118 13,118

Total

(15,697)

(16,515)

(16,926)

(17,174)

(17,499)

(17,441)

The majority relates to Housing Benefit Subsidy (£12.103m in 2026/27) which is the Council’s reimbursement of the costs of
the national housing benefit scheme. Over recent years the subsidy has been reduced due to the transfer of new claimants to
Universal Credits, and this is expected to continue to decline over the coming years although this is offset by inflationary
increases to benefits. From 2028/29 Discretionary Housing Payments income is not included as this will move to the County

Council, equal and offsetting expenditure has also been removed.

Other Income mainly arises from the Leisure Contract £1.2m which has increased in line with inflation and improved

performance at Edwalton Golf Course.

Interest from investments reflects assumptions based on balances available to invest and expected interest rates (see
Appendix 9, Capital and Investment Strategy). Interest rates are expected to reduce next year, plateauing around the 3.25%
rate. This, together with a drop in the amount available for investment (namely due to reserve balances and S106 and

23



] a y ANNEX B

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) monies decline), will see interest from investments reduce year on year until 2030/31.

Recycling Credits were expected to reduce to zero from 2025/26 with the introduction of Simpler Recycling and the receipt of
Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) funding, however this has not been the case, as such the income has been added
back to the budget for the remainder of the MTFS. E PR funding of £1.279m has been advised for 2026/27, there is a risk as
funding beyond 2026/27 has not yet been confirmed and if producer habits change then the funding may well reduce. This
has been reflected in the budget assumptions with funding reducing year on year (section 4.2 gives more detail).

In 2026-27, Other Government Grants consists of NNDR (£119k), Domestic Violence (£35k), Housing Benefits Administration
(£12k) and Homelessness Prevention of £577k (increased from £360k in 2025/26, along with increased responsibilities).

29 abed

24



(R}

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

3.10 Income Summary

Table 11 — All Sources of Income

2025/26

£000

2026/27
£000

2027/28
£000

2028/29
£000

2029/30
£000

ANNEX B

2030/31
£000

Retained Business Rates (6,676) (2,675) (2,796) (2,857) (2,943) (3,031)
Business Rates Pool Surplus (400) 0 0 0 0 0
Transitional Reliefs 0 (484) (256) (859) 0 0
Other Grants (231)
RSG Grant (123) (4,726) (3,634) (2,505) (2,580) (2,657)
Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR)
Grant (1,407) (1,279) (1,000) (750) (600) (600)
- New Homes Bonus (1,478) 0 0 0 0 0
S Council Tax (RBC) (7,728) (7,843) (8,241) (8,682) (9,135) (9,609)
® Council Tax (Special Expenses) (1,012) (1,069) (1,103) (1,115) (1,137) (1,160)
8 Collection Fund Surplus (835) (26) 0 0 0 0
Fees, charges and rental income (9,505) (9,599) (10,022) (10,449) (10,784) (11,130)
Other income (15,697) (16,515) (16,926) (17,174) (17,499) (17,441)
Total Income (45,092) (44,216) (43,978) (44,391) (44,678) (45,628)




] a J ANNEX B

Rushcliffe
Borough Council
4 2026/27 SPENDING PLANS
The Council’s spending plans for the next five years are shown in Table 12 and include the assumptions in Section 2.
Table 12 — Spending Plans
2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employees 16,403 16,899 17,753 18,453 18,803 19,149
Premises 1,763 1,776 1,778 1,835 1,903 1,957
Transport 1,757 1,786 1,965 2,092 2,155 2,200
Supplies & Services 5,212 5,749 5,823 5,804 5,930 6,021
= Transfer Payments 11,949 12,382 12,753 13,056 13,451 13,857
2 Third Party 1,311 666 418 343 345 346
g Depreciation / Impairment 1,895 4,246 4,007 3,890 3,890 3,890
I Capital Financing 0 114 90 65 52 45
Capital Salaries Recharge 175 160 80 70 50 30

Gross Service Expenditure
Reversal of Capital Charges (1,895) (4,246) (4,007) (3,890) (3,890) (3,890)
Collection Fund Deficit 0 157 0 0 0 0
Transfer to Reserves 2,148 3,398 3,232 3,425 1,760 1,686
Minimum Revenue Provision 1,174 1,237 432 312 318 325

Overall Expenditure

26



R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

G9 abed

4.1

ANNEX B

Explanations for main movements

Employee costs include a budgeted 3% salaries increase in 2026/27 and 2% thereafter, as well as an increase
in waste collection staffing 2027/28 onward in respect of the introduction of food waste collection. These are
offset by a reduction in employer pension contributions (18.5% to 16.7%) following the triennial pensions
valuation.

Premises costs include utilities which have been rebased for 2026/27 which resulted in a reduction in estimate
due to actual increases in prices being less than anticipated. Both Business Rates and utilities have been
budgeted for with an increase of 3% each year however the pending revaluation and multipliers are likely to
impact these.

Transport costs show an increase over the 5-year period mainly due to increased motor insurance premiums,
increased maintenance costs and the additional vehicle costs related to Simpler Recycling.

Supplies and services have increased in-line with assumed inflation and in 2026/27 by an additional £50k for
East Leake Masterplan.

Transfer Payments (Housing Benefit Rent Allowances) are assumed to increase with inflation increases to
benefits; however, some level of decrease due to claimants moving to Universal Credit has been included. This
will be mostly offset by Housing Benefit Subsidy which has been set accordingly see table 10.

Depreciation is net zero impact on the general fund (fully offset by the reversal of capital charges line)

Capital Salaries relate to staff time spent working on capital programme schemes (mainly Property services
staff), which reduce in later years due to the profiling of capital schemes.

The Collection Fund deficit relates to £219k deficit arising from estimated year-end position in 2025/26. Council
Tax has a small, estimated surplus of £26k which can be seen in table 11.

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) (predominantly repayment of the Arena) decreases in 2027/28 as this
comes to an end. The final payment in relation to East Leake PFI arrangement (IFRS16 Right of use asset) is
also 2027/28 and contributes to the movement. No new debt is envisaged over the medium term, and the Capital
Programme is fully funded.

27



(R}

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

99 abed

ANNEX B

4.2 Simpler Recycling

In October 2023 the Government announced their plans for the introduction of ‘Simpler Recycling’. Kerbside glass collection
commenced in 2025/26 requiring an additional collection crew and vehicle costs, this is offset by savings on glass bank
collections. Food collection is due to commence in 2027/28 and will require additional crews and associated vehicle costs.
Current Revenue Support Grant is expected to fund food waste demand although it is unclear what this level of funding is
and how it has been calculated.

As part of this scheme an Extended Producer Responsibility fee is levied on producers based on their product lifecycles and
the type of packaging, this is passed on to Local Authorities for recycling collections as an EPR Grant. For 2026/27 this grant
has been indicated to be £1.279m. Future years have not yet been confirmed but it has been assumed that some level of
funding will be received, however it is expected that this will decline as producers seek to reduce and improve packing to
minimise the EPR charge. These risks to funding may place increasing pressure on the revenue budget. Table 13 below
shows the estimated effect, with an overall shortfall of £1.171m across the 5 years. A Simpler Recycling Reserve was created
to smooth the cashflows and to make provision for this shortfall.

The revenue budget pressures are detailed below and the respective impact on employees and other operating costs are
within each of the budget lines in Table 12.

Table 13 Revenue Budget Pressure

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 | 2029/30 | 2030/31 |
Revenue 0[O 0[O £000 £000 £000

‘Glass 129,400 157,500 185,700 189,000 193,000

613,200 1,238,100 1,261,000 1,286,000

'EPR grant | (1 279 000) (1, ooo 000) 750 ooo (600 000) (600 000)

Net Budget Pressure 1,002,600) (229,300) 673,800 850,000 879,000

28



(R}

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

)9 abed

ANNEX B

5 BUDGET REQUIREMENT

The budget requirement is formed by combining the resource prediction and spending plans. Appendix 2 gives further detail
on the Council’s five-year Medium Term Financial Strategy.

Table 14 Net Budget Position

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Total Income (44,216) (43,978) (44,391) (44,678) (45,628) (222,891)
Gross Expenditure 44,004 44,164 45,315 44,667 45,556 223,706
Net Budget Position (Surplus)/Deficit

Table 14 shows an overall net budget deficit of £0.815m over the period of the MTFS with a largely balanced in-year budget
by 2030/31.

The overall deficit will be managed using the Organisation Stabilisation Reserve to smooth the effect of variation in net budget
requirement. The budget includes Transformation and Efficiency Plan savings of £1.998m (Table 17) over the 5-year period.

Table 15 shows the comparative figures if Council tax were not frozen, this would be a surplus position over the 5-year period
of £0.413m.

Planned Transfer to/from reserves include items outside of the revenue budget such as the transfer from New Homes Bonus
Reserve to fund Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). Further details can be found in Section 6.

29



ANNEX B

Rushcliffe
Borough Council
Table 15 Budget requirement if Council Tax was not frozen and maximised in 2026/27
2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
£°000 £°000 £°000 £°000 £°000
Total Income (44,439) (44 211) (44 ,935) (45,898)
Gross Expenditure 44 004 44 164 44 667 45 556
Net Budget Position (Surplus)/Deficit
ge)
QD
Q
@
(o))
(o6]

30



R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

69 abed

ANNEX B

6 RESERVES

Table 16 details the estimated balances on each of the Council’s specific reserves over the 5-year MTFS. This also shows the
General Fund Balance which remains stable at £2.6m. Total Specific Reserves projected to increase from £24.3m to £24.9m
(2025/26 — 2030/31). Appendix 4 details the movement in reserves for 2026/27 which also includes capital commitments.

A Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) Reserve has been created with appropriations of £1.09m transferred in from the
Organisation Stabilisation Reserve, it has been increased with past in-year efficiencies leaving £2.7m as at 31 March 2031,
however it is expected that this reserve will be largely exhausted by vesting day (start of a new Council under LGR).
Expenditure is not yet profiled as the timing of costs are unknown.

The Climate Change Reserve supports projects that contribute to the Council’s ambitions to protect and enhance the
environment including the reduction of its carbon footprint. A projected balance of £0.816m is available from 2026/27 after the
use of £1.5m to acquire land for carbon offsetting planned in 2025/26 and further measures relating to carbon offsetting of
£0.176m. The reserve has been increased in the latter years of the MTFS to allow for potential energy improvements to
industrial units and leisure centres. Allocations from the Climate Change Reserve will be made as projects get approved and
this will be affected by LGR in later years. Existing capital schemes are assessed for any carbon reduction measures and
funding from the reserve allocated. The Council continues to look at avenues of external funding to support carbon reduction
initiatives (such as at its leisure centres); and if successful these will be reported via Cabinet and Corporate Overview Group
and Climate Change scrutiny reviews, in their financial updates.

The Simpler Recycling Reserve is used to smooth the shortfall between EPR government grants and expenditure on both
capital and revenue Simpler Recycling schemes (glass and food waste) this reserve has been topped up in 2028/29 to protect
against any variance to assumptions of grant income (section 4.2 provides more information).

A Vehicle Replacement Reserve exists to support the acquisition of new vehicles, plant, and equipment. Additional waste
collection rounds following Simpler Recycling require an increase in the number of waste vehicles, an annual allocation has
been increased from £0.185m to £0.685m to provide for this.

A total of £2m has been added to the Leisure Centre Maintenance Reserve over four years to cover any upgrades required

31



R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

0/ abed

ANNEX B

to maintain existing centres and to allow for any works required under the transition of East Leake Leisure Centre from PFI
into the leisure management contract and therefore the responsibility of the Council.

The Treasury Capital Depreciation Reserve (currently £1.3m) exists to mitigate the potential losses of reductions in the capital
value of the Council’s multi-asset investments. These assets provide a relatively large proportion of the Council’s total
investment income but are however at-risk due to fluctuations on market value linked to adverse impacts on the economy of
global conflict. There is currently a statutory override in place until March 2029 mitigating risk until 2029/30.

The New Homes Bonus reserve stands at £8.383m on 1 April 2026; no further income is expected as this grant has now been
rolled into Fair Funding Assessment. In 2026/27 this reserve will be used to fund MRP, Empty Homes Compulsory Purchase
Orders, Grants for Football Facilities and Radcliffe on Trent Masterplan. A further £50k is earmarked for economic
development masterplanning, in particular for East Leake and if necessary further funding will be appropriated, if required, for
other key settlement areas such as Ruddington and Keyworth. This is now included within Growth and Economic
Development line of Appendix 2.

The Elections reserve is built up each year to meet the cyclical cost of borough elections. With LGR the next election is
anticipated for the shadow authority in May 2027.

It is important that the level of reserves is regularly reviewed to manage future risks. Although the reserves balances appear
healthy at £24.9m as at 31 March 2031, it should be noted that most reserves have specifically identified uses with spend to
be identified and profiled. The Organisational Stabilisation Reserve protects the Council against any future unforeseen
expenditure and risks. The release of reserves will be regularly reviewed to balance funding requirements and the potential
need to externally borrow to support the Capital Programme, although not anticipated during the period of the MTFS. Being
prudent, we need to ensure we do have future funds to deliver capital projects, and we aim to top up reserves from any in-
year revenue efficiencies identified.

It is the professional opinion of the Council’s Section 151 Officer, that the General Fund Reserve position of £2.6m is adequate
given the financial and operational challenges (and opportunities) the Council faces.

32



(R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

1/ 9bed

Table 16 — Specific Reserves

Balance

31.03.26

Balance
31.03.27

Balance
31.03.28

Balance
31.03.29

Balance
31.03.30

ANNEX B

Balance
31.03.31

Investment Reserves:

Regeneration and Community Projects 3,625 2,534 2,358 2,081 721 280
Sinking Fund - Investments 569 649 449 564 764 964
Corporate Reserves:

Organisation Stabilisation 6,359 6,411 6,486 5,436 5,873 5,530
Treasury Capital Depreciation Reserve 1,310 1,310 1,310 1,310 1,310 1,310
Climate Change Action 816 531 481 1,223 1,790 2,357
Flood Grant & Resilience 22 22 22 22 22 22
Simpler Recycling Reserve 965 1,685 1,902 2,478 1,628 1,200
Vehicle Replacement Reserve 460 845 1,225 1,610 2,115 2,500
LGR Reserve 1,090 2,014 2,938 2,862 2,786 2,710
Risk and Insurance 100 100 100 100 100 100
Planning Appeals 340 340 340 340 340 340
Elections 151 201 8 83 158 233
Operating Reserves:

Planning 85 85 85 85 85 85
Leisure Centre Maintenance 33 498 1,013 1,528 2,000 2,015
Total Excluding NHB Reserve 15,925 17,225 18,717 19,722 19,692 19,646
New Homes Bonus 8,383 6,144 5,770 5,596 5,422 5,248
Total Earmarked Reserves 24,308 23,369 24,487 25,318 25,114 24,894
General Fund Balance 2,604 2,604 2,604 2,604 2,604 2,604

33



R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

Z/) abed

ANNEX B

7 THE TRANSFORMATION AND EFFICIENCY PLAN

Since 2010, the Council has successfully implemented a Transformation and Efficiency Plan (TEP), to drive change and
efficiency activity to deal with the scale of the financial challenges the Council faces. The TEP strategy to cover the period to
2029/30 was presented as part of the budget report in 2025/26 and no changes have been made. The Executive Management
Team, alongside budget managers, have undertaken a review of all Council budgets, any resulting savings have been fed into
the MTFS. The TEP focuses on the following themes:

e Service Efficiencies
e Thematic Reviews
e Additional income

This Programme will form the basis of how the Council meets the financial challenge summarised at Appendix 5. The below
demonstrates that by 2030/31 with £1.998m of efficiencies a £2.8m deficit over 5 years results in a net deficit of £0.815m.

Table 17 — Savings targets

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

£°000 £°000 £°000 £°000 £°000

Gross Budget Deficit excluding Transformation Plan 6,832 7,956 9,216 8,462 8,584
Cumulative savings in Transformation Plan (6,658) {7,044) {7,770) (8,292) (8,473)
Gross Budget Deficit/(Surplus) 174 912 1,446 170 111
Additional Transformation Plan Savings (386) (726) (522) (181) (183)
Net Budget Deficit/{Surplus) (212) 186 924 (11) (72)

The Council’s budget for 2026/27 and beyond includes the impact of inflationary increases whilst also being restricted by
Government policy on commercial activity to generate additional income, limiting borrowing for wider projects dependent upon

34



(RJ ANNEX B

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

capital spending proposals and excluding borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) where capital spend is solely
for commercial gain. The Council has continued to review its services and processes and, where possible, identify efficiencies
and increase income.

The Council maintains an ongoing annual review of its current transformation projects. The initiatives and efficiency proposals
scheduled for delivery from 2026/27, outlined in Appendix 5, primarily stem from renegotiating the Leisure Strategy provision.
Identifying additional savings within already lean budgets remains challenging, particularly given inflation and with Local
Government Reorganisation (LGR) leading to significant change. Consequently, the Council’s capacity to undertake new large-
scale projects such as Rushcliffe Oaks and Bingham Arena, which significantly contributed to savings is now limited. The
Council will continue to deliver projects as demonstrated by the Capital Programme and technological developments such as
Artificial Intelligence (Al), may offer future efficiency savings and improvements to customer experience. LGR will be a
substantial transformation project, and resources will be directed towards this increasingly as the Council, as expected,
approaches 1 April 2028 and ceases to operate in its current form.

¢ ) abed

35



R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

ANNEX

8 RISK AND SENSITIVITY

The following table shows the key risks and how we intend to treat them through our risk management practices. Further
commentary on the higher-level risks is given below the table.

Table 18 — Key Risks

Risk Likelihood | Impact | Action
Central Government policy changes e.g Fairer | Medium Medium Engagement in consultation in policy creation
Funding, ceasing NHB and Business Rates and communicating to senior management
reset leading to reduced revenue; or and members the financial impact of changes
mcr_eased demanq on resources for example via the MTFS. Budget at baseline plus
\?Vg\gtrgcvrﬂleg::;{’eoél%r%hﬁggﬁgig':gi:egards to renewables for business rates in years of
S (Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) and gncertalpty. Inclusion of demgnd andjor
& weekly food collections); changes to DFG income in th_e MTFS and Capital Pr_ogramme,
) allocations. and calculations to understand the impact of
N any proposals.
Impact on resources to transition to a new High High Engage in relevant working groups and
authority as part of LGR report back to Cabinet or Full Council. LGR
reserve created.
Lifespan of this MTFS likely to be curtailed, High High To update the MTFS in future years and
for example 2027/28 could be the last year report to Full Council
for this Borough Council’s budget
Environmental carbon reduction and bio- High Medium Climate Change Reserve being replenished
diversity net gain (BNG) commitments (including for potential land acquisition for
leading to greater pressure on revenue and carbon reduction), ongoing review of
capital budgets. significant projects and outcome of scrutiny
review. A vehicle replacement reserve
which will help fund, for example, electric
vehicles. Apply for external funding where
possible.

36



R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

G/ abed

ANNEX

The Council is unable to balance its budget,
and the budget is not sustainable in the
longer term as a result of increased inflation
and other risks.

Medium

Medium

S151 Officer s25 Statement which is
presented with the budget. Going concern
report presented to Governance Group to
confirm that the Council has sufficient
reserves to withstand the short-term financial
shocks. Budget set to include latest
assumptions on inflationary increases.

The Council recognises there are upside risks in maximising opportunities. The risks above can change depending on changes
in the services as a result of TEP projects or other changes to the environment, particularly legislative. The Council maximises
income generating opportunities and efficiencies wherever possible, so it remains self-sufficient and continues to grow the

Borough and provide excellent services.

The MTFS presents a net deficit of approximately £0.815m over the 5-year period and the Organisation Stabilisation Reserve
will be used to smooth the impact of fluctuations in income and new expenditure. Reserves are necessary to ensure the
Council can continue to deliver services to its residents and to protect the Council from risks in relation to funding uncertainty
and rising costs. The expectation is LGR will be within the lifespan of this MTFS and a reserve has been created to support
the costs associated with transition, although upfront costs of LGR are to be determined once we know which unitary option

is chosen and thereafter the operating model.

37



] a y ANNEX

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

9 CAPITAL PROGRAMME
9.1 Setting the Capital Programme

Officers submit schemes to be included in a draft Capital Programme, which also includes on-going provisions to
support Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) and investment in Social Housing. This draft programme is discussed by
Executive Management Team (EMT) along with supporting information and business cases where appropriate with the
big projects and the overall fiscal impact reported to Councillors in budget update sessions. Seismic projects normally
involving capital acquisition, will also be reported separately to Cabinet for approval. The draft Capital Programme
continues to be further refined and supported by detailed appraisals as set out in the Council’s Financial Regulations.
These detailed appraisals are included at Appendix 3 along with the proposed five-year capital programme which is
summarised at Table 19. This remains an ambitious programme totalling £24.3m for 5 years, although the programme
is diminishing as resources reduce and therefore the likelihood of borrowing increases.

9.2 Significant Projects in the Capital Programme

9/ abed

The Council’s five-year Capital Programme shows the Council’s commitment to deliver more efficient services, improve
its leisure facilities, enable economic development and be more environmentally sustainable. Against a background of
financial challenge, with both inflation pressures and the perilous state of public finances, the strength of the Council’s
financial position is such that it continues to support economic growth and sustainable excellent services in the Borough.
The Programme is approved for the five-year period and allows flexibility of investment to enhance service delivery,
provide widened economic development to maximise business and employment opportunities. The programme is
reviewed by Full Council as part of the budget setting process. A major focus of the Capital Programme is to improve
services, be transformative and generate revenue income streams to help balance the Council’'s MTFS. Significant
projects in the Capital Programme include:

a) £0.605m is included in the programme for enhancements to the Council’s portfolio of Investment Properties.
This investment ensures that we have high quality lettable retail and business units capable of delivering a robust
revenue income stream thereby supporting economic development. Cost of enhancements on Investment
Properties are met from the Investment Property Reserve.

38



] a y ANNEX

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

b) A provision of £1m has been included for the Radcliffe-On-Trent Masterplan for the acquisition of land or
property, to include professional fees and costs of any contract works (to be reported to March 2026 Cabinet).

c) A provision of £500k remains for West Bridgford Town Centre Regeneration, to help ‘pump prime’ a larger
initiative with public sector partners, such as pedestrianisation of Central Avenue.

d) The on-going vehicle replacement programme totals £6.1m over 5 years. This includes provision for investment
in additional vehicles to accommodate new legislation to provide kerbside food recycling — estimated expenditure
on food recycling totals £1.6m with expected government grants totalling £1.2m, the balance to be met from the
Simpler Recycling Reserve. The vehicle replacement programme will be subject to future review as
consideration is given to transitioning to electric/hybrid vehicles.

e) The provision for Support to Registered Housing Providers has benefitted significantly from Planning
Agreements monies arising from Land North of Bingham £3.8m. This sum, together with the balances of other
Planning Agreement monies and capital receipts set aside for Affordable Housing gives a total provision available
of £3.7m. Options for commitment of these monies continue.

f) £1.7m over the 5 years for investment in the upgrade of facilities at Leisure Centres and other Leisure Sites
(Gresham, Lutterell Hall, and Toothill School). There are planned refurbishments to changing villages; floor
replacement; roof enhancements; and upgrades for plant and lighting. Schemes are considered in the light of
the Leisure Strategy and are aimed at maintaining excellent standards of leisure provision.

) ) abed

g) £0.4m has been included in the programme to offer grants to third party sporting organisations to develop football
facilities in the Borough as part of the Football Foundations Local Facilities Plan. This has been split equally
between 2026/27 and 2027/28, however this maybe accelerated or slipped dependant on the timing of demand.

h) £1m is included in the programme to facilitate delivery of Warm Homes Grants to assist residents to improve the
energy efficiency of their properties. This scheme is fully funded by Government Grant.

i) £0.750m has been included in the programme to support the Compulsory Purchase of Empty Homes. The aim
is to dispose of such properties in a back-to-back transaction to generate capital receipts to cover the acquisition
costs. It is expected there will be some costs incurred that will not be recovered as part of the sale.

j) Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) provision of £4.5m has been provided in the 5-year programme. This is based
on MHCLG award letter for 2025/26, it includes £0.150m allocation from revenue underspends. Funding has

39



R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

g/ abed

ANNEX

become extremely tight to meet the statutory spending requirement, and Rushcliffe had to take the unusual step
of allocating £0.7m of its own resources to support spending pressures, this is not sustainable. Cabinet and
Senior Officers have actively lobbied Central Government and Local Authorities across Nottinghamshire for
additional and redistributed Better Care Fund (BCF) grant allocations. This has resulted in the government
announcing a further £50m funding for DFGs in January 2026. It is estimated RBC’s share will be £0.065m
although it is not certain this funding will be available in future years. The government have also announced a
review of the way DFG funding is allocated to Local Authorities and this is due to be published later this year.
Rushcliffe’s future BCF spending plans are no longer able to support discretionary DFGs, Assistive Technology
(Home Alarms) or the Warmer Homes on Prescription scheme. This will be reviewed in the light of additional
grant monies made available.

Rolling provisions for the Information Systems Strategy (£1.3m across the 5 years) will ensure that the Council
keeps pace with innovative technologies, protects itself against cyber-attacks and continues to modernise
services and deliver ‘channel shift’ in an increasingly virtual world.

£425k has been included across the 5 years to enhance Play Areas in West Bridgford on a rolling programme.
These costs are subject to the West Bridgford Special Expense.

m) A Contingency sum of £0.1m has been included each year, to give flexibility to the delivery of the programme

n)

and to cover unforeseen circumstances.

Given the projected level of the Council’s cash balances at March 2026 and future years and LGR, external
borrowing is unlikely to be needed in the medium term. The cash flow balances are strongly underpinned by the
holding of Developer Contributions: S106s and CIL monies. It is anticipated that the Council will not need to
borrow internally either to finance the Capital Programme. The projected Capital Financing Requirement (CFR -
the Council’s underlying need to borrow) reduces from is £8.4m at the end of 2025/26 to £5.4m at the end of
2030/31. The timing and incidence of internal/external borrowing will be affected by any slippage in, or additions
to, the capital programme, delayed capital receipts, and cash balances and this is reflected in the CFR shown
at table 2 of the Capital and Investment Strategy (Appendix 9).

40



R,

ANNEX
Rushcliffe
Borough Council
9.3 Table 19 — Five-year capital programme, funding and resource implications
2026127 2027128 2028/29 2029/30 2030131
. . . . . MTFS 5 Year
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate TOTAL £000
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 .
Expenditure Summary
Development & Economic Growth 1,470 450 Filal 0 0 2 685
Meighbourhoods 5,143 3823 3377 4 410 2953 19,806
Finance & Corporate Senices 485 330 330 330 330 1,805
Total 7,098 4,703 4472 4,740 3,283 24 296
Funded By
LIsable Capital Receipts 325 625 315 915 435 26156
= Government Grants 2224 1,733 a70 a7o a7io 6,567
2 Earmarked Resenves 4 5449 1,928 1,670 1,975 1,973 12,100
o Grants and Contributions 0 0 0 0 ] 0
a Section 106 / CIL Contribution to
Affardable Housing projects 0 417 1,617 80 0 3,014
Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 7,098 4,703 4472 4,740 3,283 24 296

Capital Resources

Opening Balance
Projected Receipts

ze of Resources
Balance Carried Forward

2026127 2027128
Estimate Estimate
£000 £000
15,008 12,070
4 160 4453
093 4703
12,070 11,820

2028129
Estimate
£000
11,820
3,603
4 472
10,951

2029130
Estimate
£000
10,951
3,367
4 740
9,578

2030131
Estimate
£000

9578
2,879

3,283
9,170

41



] a y ANNEX

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

9.4 Capital Funding Resources

The Council’s capital resources are slowly being depleted to fund the Capital Programme. It is projected that capital resources
will be in the region of £9.2m at the end of the five-year life of the Programme. This comprises: £7.9m Earmarked Capital
Reserves; £0.5m Capital Receipts; and £0.8m S106 contributions. The level of Capital Receipts will increase slightly by
repayment of loans by third parties but will only significantly increase if major assets are identified for disposal in the future.
The Council continues to review its asset base and the potential for asset disposal.

Capital receipts expected over the course of the MTFS include:

e £0.552m in repaid loan principal from Nottinghamshire County Cricket Club

e An estimated £50k per year from the Right to Buy Clawback agreement which gives the Council a share of
Preserved Right to Buy arrangements following Large Scale Voluntary Stock Transfer in 2003 (A change to
Government Policy which reduces the discount percentage applied to Right to Buy Sales should increase the
amount the Council receives from any future sales, however the change may cause a reduction in the number
of sales and this cannot be predicted).

08 abed

The following significant capital grants and contributions will be used to support the funding of the proposed capital programme:

e £3m from Planning Agreements for off-site affordable housing. £2.6m of this comes from a new S106 for Land
North of Bingham

e £1.157m government grant awards under EPR to fund Simpler Recycling for food waste.
e £1.060m funding via the East Midlands Net Zero Hub to deliver Warm Home Grants.
¢ An estimated £0.870m per annum from the Better Care Fund to deliver Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants

9.5 Future Capital and Principles
We have projected forward the impact on capital resources of spend on core capital such as property, vehicle and ICT
replacement and ongoing DFG pressures and by 2040 the reserves will be depleted. Given prospective LGR future capital
spend will be the preserve of a new local authority.

The Council has always been mindful of the fundamental principles of good capital and treasury management namely ensuring

42



] a y ANNEX

Rushcliffe
Borough Council
we remain prudent, and it is both affordable and sustainable (i.e. the revenue consequences are built into our plans). This in
line with the CIPFA Codes on Treasury and Capital management. The Council is not afraid to borrow but this must be done in
a sensible and manageable way and not put Rushcliffe’s future financial and operational future at risk. Before we borrow, we
will always look at utilising the Council cash balances, external funding (grants) and capital receipts as more sensible options
and other factors such as the timing of loans and pervading interest rates. If a capital scheme is required that does not pay for
itself and this is a corporate objective, then financial budget will be required from elsewhere, and this must be demonstrated
prior to any approval. We will continue to be sensible even with the spectre of LGR and continue to adopt good professional
practice and governance. The following are guiding principles that we are now following regarding the budget, to ensure the
risk of the budget being unsustainable is reduced:
e Where possible individuals that use facilities should pay for them
e Maximise income where we can and ensure costs are recovered
e Focus on reducing discretionary expenditure
S e Those that own assets are responsible for their maintenance
% e Continue to identify budget expenditure efficiencies
o e Maximise the use of Council assets

e Defer borrowing for as long as possible and ensuing costs (using cash, balances, reserves, additional capital
receipts and external funding where possible), with individual schemes having robust business cases

e Capital projects should be considered within the context of LGR to ensure activity supports the future direction
of the Council.

43



(R}

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

28 abed

ANNEX

10 TREASURY MANAGEMENT

Attached at Appendix 9 is the Capital and Investment Strategy (CIS) which integrates capital investment decisions with cash
flow information and revenue budgets. The key assumptions in the CIS are summarised in the following table:

Table 20 — Treasury Assumptions

- | 2026/27  2027/28 | 2028/29 2029/30 | 2030/31

Anticipated Interest Rate 3.31% 3.25% 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%
Expected Interest from investments (£) 1,263,100, 1,235,200 1,163,300 1,091,900 1,033,900
Other Interest 54,400 48,800 44,300 39,900 35,200

Total interest (£) 1,317,500, 1,284,000 1,207,600 1,131,800/ 1,069,100

The CIPFA Treasury Management and Prudential Codes includes guidance on existing commercial investments, reference to

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) in the Capital Strategy, quarterly monitoring of Prudential Indicators, Investment
Management Practices (IMPs) and the Liability (or Asset) Benchmark.

The CIS covers the Council’'s approach to treasury management activities including commercial assets. It documents the
spreading of risk across the size of individual investments and diversification in totality across different sectors. The Council
primarily focusses on maximising the returns from its existing portfolio with no new commercial investments included in the

Capital Programme. The Council undertakes regular performance reviews on its commercial assets with the next review due
to be reported to Governance Scrutiny Group in June 2026.

44



(R

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

eg abed

11 OPTIONS

ANNEX

As part of its consideration of the budget, the Council is encouraged to consider the strategic aims contained within the
Corporate Strategy and, in this context, to what extent they wish to maintain existing services, how services will be prioritised,

and how future budget shortfalls will be addressed.

Instead of freezing Council Tax as proposed (see 3.2), the Council could choose to increase by the 3% assumed by central
government or increase by a lower amount. Table 21 sets out the budget impact of applying the maximum 3% Council Tax
increase each year (equivalent to a £4.59 rise for Rushcliffe in 2026/27, or 2.84%), compared with several alternative
scenarios: a one-year tax freeze in 2026/27 (recommended); a two-year freeze in 2026/27 and 2027/28 followed by 3%
increases; and annual uplifts of 2% or 1%. The proposed option to freeze Council Tax in 2026/27 leads to around £0.222m
of lost income in 2026/27 and £1.225m over five years, compared with applying a 3% increase each year Freezing for two
years would increase this to £2.329m over the 5-year period. Income foregone against other options when compared with a

council tax freeze as detailed in the table below.

Table 21 - Alternative Council Tax Levels

Total council tax income £'000 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 Total
Option 1 - Freeze for 2026/27 (Band D £183.82 - Rushcliffe
element £161.77), and 3% per annum thereafter (8,913)| (9,345)| (9,797)| (10,272)| (10,769)| (49,096)
(Recommended Option)
Option 2 - Freeze for 2 years (26/27 Band D £183.82, 27/28
Band D £184.11 - Rushcliffe element for both years £161.77) (8,913)| (9,088)| (9,528) (9,990)| (10,473)| (47,992)
and 3% per annum thereafter
Option 3 - 3% uplifit per annum (Band D £188.41 - Rushcliffe

21
element £166.36) (9,135)| (9,578)| (10,042)| (10,528)| (11,038)| (50,321)
Option 4 - 2% uplift in 2026/27 and 3% per annum thereafter. | (9,070)| (9,509)| (9,970)| (10,453)| (10,959)| (49,961)
Option 5 - 1% uplift in 2026/27 and 3% per annum thereafter. (8,992)| (9,427)| (9,884)|(10,362)| (10,864)| (49,529)

45



(R}

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

18 abed

ANNEX
Difference (£'000) 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 Total
Freeze 2026/27 vs 3% per annum (222) (233) (244) (256) (269)| (1,225)
Freeze 2026/27 vs 2% 2026/27 & 3% per annum thereafter (157) (165) (173) (181) (190) (865)
Freeze 2026/27 vs 1% 2026/27 & 3% per annum thereafter (79) (82) (86) (91) (95) (433)
Two year freeze v's 3% per annum (222) (490) (514) (539) (565)| (2,329)

Other than the above options for Council Tax increases there are no alternate proposals concerning the Budget, Medium

Term Financial Strategy or Transformation Strategy

46



(R}

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

12.1

12 APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1

Appendix 1 — Funding Analysis for Special Expenses Areas

2026/27

Change

2025/26
£

West Bridgford
Parks & Playing Fields

Community Halls

Annuity Charges
Sinking Fund
Total

Tax Base
Special Expense Tax

Keyworth
Cemetery
Annuity Charges
Total

Tax Base
Special Expense Tax

Ruddington
Cemetery
Total

Tax Base
Special Expense Tax

Total Special Expenses

West Bridgford Town Centre

Repayment of revenue deficit
Revenue Contribution to Capital Outlay

496,000.00
117,400.00
131,300.00

16,000.00
100,000.00
110,400.00

20,000.00
991,100.00

15,285.10
64.84

9,600.00
500.00
10,100.00

3,148.20
3.21

10,400.00
10,400.00

3,311.30
3.14

1,011,600.00

page 85

£ %

471,000.00
130,600.00
137,600.00
30,000.00
100,000.00
158,000.00
20,000.00
1,047,200

15,538.20
67.40

10,000.00
600.00
10,600.00

3,165.10
3.35

11,500.00
11,500.00

3,383.10
3.40

1,069,300.00

47

3.95%)|

4.36%)|

8.28%)|




Rushcliffe

Borough Council

9g abed

12.2  Appendix 2 — Revenue Budget Service Summary

2025/26

£

2026/27
E

2027/28
E

2028/29
£

2029/30
E

APPENDIX 2

2030/31
£

Net Service Expenditure

14,911,500

17,344,400

17,558,500

17,844,700

Chief Executive 1,613,000 1,783,200 2,005,900 1,787,100 1,821,500 1,852,900
Finance and Corporate Services 4,892,400 5,593,900 5,743,200 5,989,700 6,232,500 6,868,600
Development and Economic Growth 467,100 1,118,800 957,800 964,200 957,800 922,700
Neighbourhoods 7,939,000 8,848,500 8,651,600 9,103,700 9,183,200 9,220,300

18,195,000

18,864,500

Total Net Service Expenditure
Funding

16,338,900

17,733,000

17,215,100

17,691,800

Reversal of Capital Charges (1,894,600) (4,246,400) (4,007,400) (3,869,600) (3,889,600) (3,869,600)
Transfer to/(from) Reserves 2,148,000 3,398,000 3,232,000 3,424,700 1,759,700 1,685,700
Minimum Revenue Provision 1,174,000 1,237,000 432,000 312,000 318,000 325,000

16,383,100

16,985,600

Total Funding

(19,888,700)

(17,945,200)

(17,028,900)

(16,768,200)

Other Grant Income (1,761,000) (6,004 ,900) (4,633,700) (3,254 ,800) (3,180,000) (3,257 400)
Business Rates (6,676,000) (2,674,800) (2,795,500) (2,857,300) (2,943,000) (3,031,300)
Collection Fund (Surplus)/Deficit (835,000) 131,400 0 0 0 0
Business Rates Pool Surplus (400,000) 0 0 0 0 0
Transitional Reliefs 0 (484,000) (255,500) (859,300) 0 0
Council Tax Income

- Rushcliffe (7,727 ,500) (7,843 ,600) (8,241,200) (8,682 300) (9,134 ,600) (9,609,200)
- Special Expenses Areas (1,011,600) (1,069,300) (1,103,000) (1,114 ,500) (1,136,700) (1,159,600)
New Homes Bonus (1,477,600) 0 0 0 0 0

(16,394,300)

(17,057,500)

Net Budget (Surplus) / Deficit

(3,549,800)

(212,200)

186,200

923,600

(11,200)

(71,900)

48



APPENDIX 3
Rushcliffe

Borough Council

12.3 Appendix 3 — Capital Programme and Appraisals

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Scheme Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Development & Economic Growth
The Point Enhancements 0 400 0 0 0 400
6F Boundary Court 0 0 35 0 0 35
Manvers Business Park Enhancements 70 0 50 0 0 120
Bingham Arena 0 0 30 0 0 30
Colliers BP Enhancements 50 0 0 0 0 50
Wilwell Cutting Bridge 0 0 50 0 0 50
Devonshire Road Railway Bridge 0 0 100 0 0 100
WBTC Regeneration 0 0 500 0 0 500
1 Car park resurfacing (Needham Street/RCP) 200 0 0 0 0 200
2 POS enhancement Waltham Close WB 0 50 0 0 0 50
3 Hammerhead Moorbridge 150 0 0 0 0 150
4 Radcliffe-on-Trent Masterplan 1,000 0 0 0 0 1,000
Development & Economic Growth Total 1,470 450 765 0 0 2,685
Neighbourhoods
5 Vehicle Replacement Programme 1,868 305 665 1,288 1,983 6,109
Recycling Bins 0 351 0 0 0 351
Support for Registered Housing Providers 0 417 1,617 1,617 0 3,651
Hound Lodge - Enhancements 395 0 0 0 0 395
Disabled Facilities Grants 920 920 920 870 870 4,500
6 Keyworth Leisure Centre Enhancements 0 125 0 200 0 325
7 East Leake Leisure Centre Enhancements 0 125 0 0 0 125
8 Rushcliffe Arena Enhancements 450 175 0 35 0 660
9 Play Areas - Special Expense 100 100 75 75 75 425
10 Gresham Sports Pavilion 200 0 0 0 0 200
11 Rushcliffe Country Park - Enhancements 25 25 25 25 25 125
12 Rushcliffe Country Park - Play Area 0 30 0 0 0 30
Lutterell Hall Special Expense 0 125 75 0 0 200
Warm Homes Grants 535 525 0 0 0 1,060
13 Edwalton Golf Course Enhancements 50 0 0 0 0 50
14 West Park & Bridgford Park Tennis court 50 0 0 0 0 50
15 Storage solution West Park 30 0 0 0 0 30
Keyworth Leisure Centre Intruder alarm & CCTV
16 system. 20 0 0 0 0 20
Toot Hill Athletics track 0 0 0 300 0 300
17 Footpath Improvements The Hook 50 0 0 0 0 50
18 Empty Home Compulsory purchase order 250 500 0 0 0 750
19 Grants for Football Facilities 200 200 0 0 0 400
Neighbourhoods Total 5,143 3,923 3,377 4,410 2,953 19,806
0
Finance & Corporate Services 0
20 ICT Replacement Prog 135 50 50 50 50 335
20 Technical Infrastructure 65 160 160 160 160 705
20 Digital Strategy 60 20 20 20 20 140
20 ICT Security 50 0 0 0 0 50
20 Applications & Apps 75 0 0 0 0 75
Contingency 100 100 100 100 100 500
Finance & Corporate Services Total 485 330 330 330 330 1,805
TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 7,098 | 4,703 | 4,472 | 4,740 | 3,283 24,296
49

page 87



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Car Park Resurfacing —

Needham Street and RCP Cost Centre: 0325 Ref: 1

Project lead: Property Services Manager

Request for project from: Property Services Team

Detailed Description: Existing macadam surfaces are approx. in excess of 20 yrs old and
wearing course is failing; various holding repairs have been carried out to extend current life.
Proposal is to plane-off and replace macadam finishes including replacement line markings
to maintain the facilities in good order.

Location: Needham St Bingham & RCP

Ruddington Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

e Maintain and enhance our resident’s quality of life.

¢ Transforming the Council to enable the delivery of highly efficient high-quality services

Strategic Commitments:

o Examine the future viability of all Council owned assets including property and
equipment.

e Improve efficiency and reliability of service and reduce operating costs.

Community Outcomes:
Improvement works will enhance customer experience/perception and minimise short term
maintenance costs.

Environmental Outcomes:
Wholesale resurfacing will mitigate the requirement for ongoing pothole and other incidental
repair work which are an inefficient use of resources and result in higher carbon emissions

Other Options Rejected and Why:
Do not resurface the car parks — this would result in lower customer experience/perception of
the facility and miss an opportunity to minimise operational costs.

Procurement route proposed and stage:
Either via Framework or dedicated open tender — identified scheme cost is based upon
similar works carried out recently.

Project Management Office support required: ¥es/No

Start Date: January 2027 Completion Date: March 2027

Capital Cost (Total): Year 1:26/27 Year 2: 27/28

£200,000

Capital Cost (Breakdown) £:

Works Equipment Other Fees
£182,000 £18,000
Additional Revenue cost/ Year 1: 26/27 Year 2: 27/28
(saving) per annum:

Year 3: 28/29 Year 4: 29/30 Year 5: 30/31

50
page 88



Proposed Funding

External:

Internal: Organisation Stabilisation Reserve

Useful Economic Life (years): 20 years

New/Replacement: Replacement

Depreciation per annum: £10,000

Capital Financing Costs: £7,500 p.a.

Residual Value:

Category of Asset: Operational Land &
Building

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed

N/A

VAT Treatment Assessed

N/A

| Approval required from | Council Budget Setting March 2026

page 89

51



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Public Open Space . .
Enhancements Waltham Close WB Cost Centre: 0181 Ref: 2
Project lead: Property Services Manager
Request for project from: Design & Landscape Officer

Detailed Description:

The proposal is for improvement works to a little used and unattractive area of public open
space located between properties on Waltham Close and Nearsby Drive which is in the
ownership of the Council. The open space includes a disused play area, random shrubs, turf
and hard surfacing which are which are unattractive and reflect poorly on adjacent housing.
Improvements planned include reduction to the paved areas to create focused pathways
bordered by green areas laid to turf enabling easier regular maintenance.

Location: West Bridgford Director: Development and Economic Growth

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

¢ Quality of Life —improvements will encourage use of the area/pathways by the public and
help to deter anti-social use.

o Efficient Services — improvements will help to streamline and simplify maintenance
activity.

e Sustainable Growth

e The Environment — reduction in paved area will improve drainage of the area.

Strategic Commitments:

e Protecting our residents and assets

e Protecting our natural resources and to implement environmentally beneficial
infrastructure changes

e Protecting the environment and public health by fulfilling our statutory responsibilities

Community Outcomes:
Improvements will encourage legitimate use of the space and pathways by the public and
enhance the local area which currently appears neglected and unwelcoming.

Environmental Outcomes:

Improvements will minimise hard surfaced areas and increase planted/turfed areas, this will
improve local drainage and enhance biodiversity. The area will be easier to maintain which in
turn will help to minimise carbon intensive maintenance activity.

Other Options Rejected and Why:
Do nothing — the open space would remain unattractive detracting from the local area,
underutilised and more costly to maintain

Procurement route proposed and stage:
Closed tender — current estimate based on quotations received for similar recent schemes.

Project Management Office support required: ¥Yes/No

Start Date: Apr 27 Completion Date: Jun 27

Capital Cost (Total): Year 1:26/27 Year 2: 27/28

52
page 90



£50,000

Capital Cost (Breakdown) £:

Works £45,500 | Equipment | Other

| Fees £4,500

Additional Revenue cost/
(saving) per annum:

Year 1: 26/27

Year 2: 27/28

Year 3: 28/29

Year 4: 29/30

Year 5: 30/31

Proposed Funding

External:

Internal: Organisation Stabilisation Reserve

Useful Economic Life (years): 20

New/Replacement: Replacement

Depreciation per annum: £2,500

Capital Financing Costs: £1,875 p.a.

Residual Value:

Category of Asset: Infrastructure

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed

N/A

VAT Treatment Assessed

N/A

| Approval required from

| Council Budget Setting March 2026

page 91

53




PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Hammerhead Cost Centre: 0944 .
. Ref: 3
Moorbridge
Project lead: Senior Property Estates Surveyor
Request for project from: Director Development and Economic Growth

Detailed Description:

Purchase of small connecting strip of land to Butt Field from Hofton and Sons, allowing the
creation of a new access to Butt Field Sports Pavilion and Playing Fields. Ongoing project to
provide new long stay car parking for Bingham Town Centre from this location. Planning
permission needed followed by construction project.

Location: Bingham Director: Development and Economic Growth

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

o Efficient Services — ongoing appraisal and alignment of resources linked to growth
aspirations.

¢ Quality of Life — working with our stakeholders to create safe communities to live and
work in.

e Sustainable Growth — nurturing existing businesses.

Strategic Commitments:

o Quality of Life — review assets to ensure they meet community/business need.

e Sustainable Growth — support the delivery of improved transport infrastructure.

Community Outcomes:

e Quality of Life — flourishing town centres

o Efficient Services — residents/businesses satisfied with the quality of service.
e Sustainable Growth — infrastructure assets delivered.

Environmental Outcomes:
e Provides improved access to Sports Club.

Other Options Rejected and Why:

If we do not proceed with the project, the current inadequate access to the Sports’ Club will
remain, which may affect future funding bids for Bingham Town Council, and impedes
development of a long stay car park.

Procurement route proposed and stage:
Land to be purchased for a £1, followed by planning permission. The works will be procured
through Nottinghamshire County Council procurement framework.

Project Management Office support required: Yes/No
Not required

Start Date: Apr 26 Completion Date: Mar 27

Capital Cost (Total): Year 1:26/27 Year 2: 27/28

£150,000

Capital Cost (Breakdown) £:

Works Equipment Other Fees
£136,000 £14,000

54

page 92



Additional Revenue cost/
(saving) per annum:

Year 1: 26/27

Year 2: 27/28

Year 3: 28/29

Year 4: 29/30

Year 5: 30/31

Proposed Funding

External:

Internal: Organisation Stabilisation Reserve

Useful Economic Life (years): 40

New/Replacement: New

Depreciation per annum: £3,750

Capital Financing Costs: £5,625 p.a.

Residual Value:

Category of Asset: Infrastructure

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed

N/A

VAT Treatment Assessed

N/A

| Approval required from

| Council Budget Setting March 2026

page 93

95




PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Radcliffe on Trent Cost Centre: 0213 .
Ref: 4
Masterplan
Project lead Senior Property Estates’ Surveyor
Request for project from ROT Masterplan and the Economic Growth Strategy

Detailed Description:

The Radcliffe on Trent Masterplan provides a long-term vision for the village but also breaks

down that vision into phases. Phase | A & B being deliverable sub-projects to include:

¢ Increase much needed parking provision which will protect and grow retail business and
reduce shopper leakage to neighbouring villages/West Bridgford.

¢ Provide additional car parking around the existing Medical Centre to accommodate the
increase in demand through population increase.

¢ Regenerate the existing car parking provision.

e Strategic Land Purchases to facilitate link to key areas and future proof opportunities for
the area.

e Provide the village with a modern, designated multiuse village centre which can be used
for markets and events.

There is the potential to utilise UKSPF funding if advance survey/design/professional fees
are incurred in 2025/26. If this is the case, budget provision will be accelerated from
2026/27.

The scheme will be subject to a Cabinet report in March 2026.

Location: Radcliffe on Trent Director: Development and Economic Growth

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

The Environment

Quality of Life

Sustainable Growth

Efficient Services

Strategic Commitments:

e Recognising opportunities to create vibrant town centres which are attractive and
accessible to all.

¢ Working with our partners to create great, safe, and clean communities to live and work
in.

e Ongoing appraisal and alignment of resources linked to growth aspirations.

¢ Bringing new businesses to the Borough and nurturing our existing businesses helping
them to grow and succeed.

Community Outcomes:
e Supporting the provision of high-quality community facilities as well as employment
opportunities.
e Through Partnership Boards which focus on shaping growth at a local level
e To provide additional community infrastructure.

Environmental Outcomes:
¢ Working with community and private sector partners as well as our supply chain and
making public our commitment to protecting our environment.

Other Options Rejected and Why:
The Council could consider possible larger scale grant funding applications to EMCCA to
complete a significant part of the Masterplan; however, timescales are unknown and we are

56
page 94



aware that there is significant demand from other Councils with a higher deprivation ratio

than Rushcliffe.

Not providing investment for this scheme may lead to the village centre and Main Street retail
contracting (retail vacancies and increased business failure) and see increased shopper
leakage to other villages and West Bridgford.

Procurement route proposed and stage:

Main contract will be procured via Notts County Council.

Project Management Office support required: Yes

Start Date: Jan 26

Completion Date: Jun 27

Capital Cost (Total): Year 1:26/27

Year 2: 27/28

£1,000,000 £1,000,000
Capital Cost (Breakdown) £: to be determined
Works Equipment Other Fees

Additional Revenue cost/
(saving) per annum:

Year 1: 26/27 £0

Year 2: 27/28 If a decision is
made to charge for car
parking, the 20 new spaces
could generate up to £23,800.
And the existing 91 spaces
could generate up to
£132,000. This income would
be partially offset by
maintenance/repairs costs.

Possible licence fee for
Events up to £5,000.

Year 3: 28/29 See 27/28

Year 4: 29/30 See 27/28

Year 5: 30/31 See 27/28

Proposed Funding

External: Potential use of UKSPF funding
if advance survey/design/professional
fees are incurred in 2025/26. If this is the
case, budget provision will be
accelerated. ROT Parish Council potential
indicative input of £165k Local CIL

Internal: New Homes Bonus Reserve for the
balance of funding required.

Useful Economic Life (years): Various

New/Replacement: New and Replacement

Depreciation per annum: will vary

Capital Financing Costs: up to £31,300 p.a.
being the opportunity costs of lost interest on
RBC capital resources used.

Residual Value: N/A

Category of Asset: Various

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed

N/A

VAT Treatment Assessed

on the
transaction

This will depend

\ Approval required from

| Council Budget Setting March 2026

page 95

57



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Vehicle Replacement Cost Centre: 0680 Ref: 5

Project Lead: Fleet and Vehicle Infrastructure Manager/Service Manager Neighbourhoods

Request for Project from: Rolling Vehicle Replacement Programme.

Detailed Description:

The authority owns vehicles ranging from large refuse freighters to small vans and items of
mechanical plant. As these vehicles and plant age and become uneconomic to maintain and
run, they are replaced on a new for old basis. Although there is a programme for replacements
for the next ten years, each vehicle or machine is assessed annually, and the programme is
continually adjusted to take account of actual performance and monitoring of repair and
maintenance costs. This provision will be used to acquire new vehicles and plant, undertake
refurbishments to extend vehicle life and value and to purchase second-hand vehicles and
plant as and when appropriate. There is a concentration of focussing on newer cleaner
technology as we replace existing fleet vehicles in line with the Council’s Carbon management
agenda, exploring alternatives such as electric and hydrogen cell technology as well as
alternative fuel use to look at cutting down on emissions whilst ensuring the vehicles remain
operationally viable and offer value for money. At present the Council is a user of
Hydrogenated Vegetable Oil (HVO) on much of its large fleet where appropriate

The 26/27 programme includes £1.250m for the acquisition of 9 new Food Waste Collection
vehicles as part of Simpler Recycling legislation to be introduced in October 2027

Location: Eastcroft Depot Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

e Quality of Life

e Efficient Services

e The Environment

Strategic Commitments:

¢ Working with our partners to create great, safe, and clean communities to live and work
in.

e Ongoing appraisal and alignment of resources linked to growth aspirations.

¢ Reviewing our policies and ways of working to protect natural resources, and to
implement environmentally beneficial infrastructure changes. To reduce waste and
increasingly reuse and recycle to protect the environment for the future.

e Working with key partners to respond to any proposals from the new Environment Act
and any changes or directives from central government regarding what wastes should be
collected and how including the Simpler Recycling legislation in place.

¢ Delivering a high-quality waste and recycling collection service.

e Delivering a high-quality street cleansing, grounds maintenance and arboriculture service

¢ A commitment to look at cleaner vehicles in line with our commitment to protect the
environment, in particularly alternative fuel vehicles or the use of alternative fuels.

e Working to achieve a carbon neutral status for the Council’s operations

The replacement of vehicles is critical to the performance of the front-line services. Regular
vehicle and plant replacement with new updated engines help to meet climate change and
national indicator targets for emissions and helps maintain a cleaner air quality within the
Borough.

Community Outcomes:

58
page 96



o To address climate change and the need to reduce carbon emissions. The introduction of
new euro standard engines will lower emissions. The new vehicles will also reduce
maintenance costs on the vehicles they replace however it should be noted that the
remainder of the fleet ages and therefore the fleet profile and maintenance costs overall
remain stable.

e Glass Recycling — the addition of a kerbside glass recycling service has seen a high take
up from residents and increased resident satisfaction with waste and recycling services.
Data suggest that take up rates are high for such services, preventing the need to travel
and visit recycling bring sites and increasing recycling rates.

Environmental Outcomes:

e The Council is actively looking at newer cleaner technologies and is committed to
working with others to consider options and procure newer vehicles that will help commit
to our carbon management plan. Whilst larger HGV electric vehicles may not be an
option for Rushcliffe due to the range and geographical nature of our Borough, we
continue to use alternative fuels such as the use of Hydrogenated Vegetable QOil (HVO)
following a trial in late 2021. Much of the larger fleet is now using HVO on a daily basis
with potential 90% reduction in emissions and the operational logistics and infrastructure
arrangements as well as the costs of fuelling our vehicles utilising HVO. Smaller fleet
vehicles such as small vans, etc could be replaced by electric vehicles which are readily
available, and this option will be considered as and when such vehicles are due for
replacement in line with the replacement programme. The introduction of EV charging
points at Bingham (Streetwise) will further facilitate the use of electric vehicles and we
have invested in a number of smaller electric vehicles in 2025/2026

e Glass Recycling — it is likely we will see an increase on overall tonnage collected and
further diversion of glass from the residual waste bin. Glass is colour separated and fully
recycled back into glass bottles and jars and an increase in the overall recycling rate will
also be seen.

Other Options Rejected and Why:

An historic review was undertaken to consider the leasing and hiring in of vehicles. Due to the
level of capital resources, it was concluded that it was uneconomical to do either of these two
options but as resources are reduced, these options may need to be revisited again. However,
there are also distinct advantages in direct purchase: -

a) The authority has control over the maintenance of the vehicles.

b) It is difficult to change the terms and conditions of a lease.

¢) High performing vehicles can have their lifespan lengthened.

d) Poor performing vehicles can have their lifespan shortened.

Not being tied into lengthy lease/hire contracts means the service can react and adapt to
change quickly.

The Council now actively looks at the possible purchase of 2" hand vehicles and will
refurbish vehicles to extend their life and value.

Glass Recycling — whilst the Council has previously collected glass from a range of bring
sites, the new Simpler Recycling legislation places a statutory service for collection of glass
from the kerbside by April 2026 and the Council’s new service commenced in December
2025.

Procurement route proposed and stage:

Vehicles likely to be procured through existing vehicle procurement frameworks as part of the
wider Nottinghamshire Transport Group contracts. Containers required will be through
frameworks in place working in conjunction with Nottinghamshire County Council
procurement team.

59
page 97



Project Management Office support required: No

Start Date: Ongoing Completion Date: Ongoing
Capital Cost (Total): Year 1: 26/27 Year 2: 27/28
£2,173,000 (2 years) £1,868,000 £305,000

Capital Cost (Breakdown)

Works VPE Other Fees
£0 £2,173,000 £0 £0
Additional Revenue cost Year 2: 26/27 £129,400 Year 3: 27/28 £770,700

Glass Recycling/ Food Waste
(saving) per annum:

Year 4: 28/29 £1,423,800 Year 5: 29/30 £1,450,000 | Year 6: 30/31 £1,479,000

As each vehicle replaces an existing vehicle, there is no increase in the overall revenue
costs. Whilst newer vehicles can lead to less expenditure on breakdown and repair, older
vehicles will cost more. The overall fleet profile remains relatively constant and therefore
service budgets remain the same. However, with property growth and the potential impact on
waste collections as a result of the Environment Act, there is the likelihood moving forward
that additional revenue expenditure may be incurred, and this will need to be considered for
future budget years. The introduction of mandatory weekly food waste collections (due
October 2027) means additional vehicles and staff will be required leading to additional
revenue costs.

The costs will primarily be met by Government Grant (new burdens funding, grants and
Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) payments) with any shortfall to be covered from the
Simpler Recycling Reserve.

Proposed Funding:

External: Government Grant £819k Internal: Capital Receipts, Vehicle Replacement
Reserve, and Simpler Recycling Reserve

Useful Economic Life (years): Various New/Replacements: New and Replacements

Capital Financing Costs: £70k p.a. in year 1
Depreciation per annum: Various plus £11k p.a. in year 2 as opportunity cost of
lost interest on outlay of capital resources

Residual Value: Various Category of Asset: Vehicle and Plant
IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed? N/A

VAT treatment assessed? N/A

Approval Required from: Council Budget Setting March 2026

60
page 98



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Keyworth Leisure Centre | Cost Centre: 0402

(KLC) Enhancements Ref: 6

Project Lead: Team leader Leisure Contract, Sport and Health/Communities’ Manager

Request for Project from: Team leader Leisure Contract, Sport and Health/Communities’
Manager

Detailed Description:

£125k has been included in the 27/28 Capital Programme for the replacement of the 13-year-
old boiler at KLC. The existing gas boiler will be replaced with an Air Source Heat Pump in
line with the corporate commitment to decarbonisation.

Location: Keyworth Leisure Centre Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

e Quality of Life

o Efficient Services

e The Environment

e Sustainable Growth

Strategic Commitments:

o Protecting our residents’ health and facilitating healthier lifestyle choices.

e Provide high quality community facilities which meet the needs of our residents and
contribute towards the financial independence of the Council.

Ensuring well maintained facilities to support growing populations and increased usage
Creating opportunities for young people to realise their potential.

Ongoing appraisal and alignment of resources linked to growth aspirations.
Working to achieve carbon neutral status for the Council’s operations.

Community Outcomes:
e To ensure the provision of high-quality community facilities which meet community need.
e To protect our residents’ health and facilitate healthier lifestyle choice.

Environmental Outcomes:
e Material selection, wherever possible locally sourced, carbon efficient production,
longevity of materials will be considered when selecting finishes.

Other Options Rejected and Why:

Do not replace the boiler — this will result in an unreliable heating and hot water supply at the
leisure centre, increasing maintenance costs and repairs, and leading to customer
dissatisfaction. Not replacing the gas boiler will result in carbon emissions, preventing the
council achieving their net zero by 2030 ambitions.

This may also lead to loss of customers resulting in a less efficient service and not be in line
with the commitments made in the Leisure Strategy refresh which was adopted by Cabinet in
December 2022.

Procurement route proposed and stage:
Framework or NCC tender

Project Management Office support required: Yes/No
The scheme is being delivered through internal project management through the Team
leader, Leisure Contract, Sport and Health.

Start Date: 2027 Completion Date: 2028

61
page 99




Capital Cost (TOTAL): Year 1: 26/27 Year 2: 27/28

£125,000 £125,000

Capital Cost (Breakdown) £:

Works Equipment Other Fees
£125,000

Additional Revenue Year 1: 26/27 Year 2: 27/28

cost/(saving)per annum:

Year 3: 28/29 Year 4: 29/30 Year 5: 30/31

Proposed Funding:

External:

Internal: Climate Change Reserve

Useful Economic Life (years): 15

New/Replacement: Replacement

Depreciation per annum: £8,300

Capital Financing Costs: £4,700

Residual Value: N/A

Category of Asset: Vehicle, Plant, and
Equipment

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed

N/A

VAT Treatment Assessed

N/A

Approval required from

Council Budget Setting March 2026

page 100

62



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: ELLC Enhancements Cost Centre: 0686 Ref: 7

Project lead: Team Leader Leisure Contracts, Sport and Health

Team Leader Leisure Contracts, Sport and
Request for project from: Health/
Communities’ Manager

Detailed Description:

This scheme is to enhance East Leake Leisure Centre when the PFl arrangement ends.
Whilst the PFI requires the centre to be handed back with a determined lifespan remaining
on assets, mechanical & electrical installations and fixtures and fittings, it is anticipated that
some cosmetic enhancement to aid with rebranding from the incumbent operator Mitie to
bring the centre in line with other RBC leisure facilities will be required. The precise use of
the funds will be better understood as the PFI dilapidation and handover surveys are
completed in Summer 2026 and there is clarity on the standard of assets being handed back.
Works may include decoration, flooring, replacement lighting, new signage, enhanced audio-
visual equipment and public realm items to improve the attractiveness of the centre,
alongside renewable energy schemes, in agreement or partnership with East Leake
academy/NCC.

Location: East Leake Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

e Quality of Life

o Efficient Services

e The Environment

e Sustainable Growth

Strategic Commitments:

e Protecting our residents’ health and facilitating healthier lifestyle choices.

e Provide high quality community facilities which meet the needs of our residents and
contribute towards the financial independence of the Council.

¢ Ensuring attractive and well-maintained facilities to support growing populations and

increased usage

Creating opportunities for young people to realise their potential.

Ongoing appraisal and alignment of resources linked to growth aspirations.

Working to achieve carbon neutral status for the Council’s operations.

Community Outcomes:

e To ensure the provision of high-quality community facilities which meet community need.
e To protect our residents’ health and facilitate healthier lifestyle choice.

[ ]

Environmental Outcomes:

e Material selection, wherever possible locally sourced, carbon efficient production,
longevity of materials will be considered when selecting finishes

e Upgrades to lighting and mechanical building elements will look to use low energy
technology wherever feasible

Other Options Rejected and Why:
Do not carry out any enhancement and accept the centre exactly as passed back — this
would fail to optimise ability to rebrand to the community and modernise the offer to attract

63
page 101




new customers, thus limiting the financial success of the centre. Failure to invest may be
detrimental to the visual appearance and diminish customer experience/satisfaction.

Procurement route proposed and stage:

appropriate.

Once the works packages are known, the services/products will be procured either as a
series of small lots/individual items, or as a single enhancement package, in line with the
council’s procurement policy and financial regulations, through seeking 3 quotes or tender as

Project Management Office support requ
These works will be managed by the Team

ired: ¥es/No
Leader Leisure Contracts, Sport and Health

Start Date: 2027

Capital Cost (Total): Year 1:26/27 Year 2: 27/28

£125,000 £125,000

Capital Cost (Breakdown) £: to be determined

Works Equipment Other Fees
Additional Revenue cost/ Year 1: 26/27 Year 2: 27/28
(saving) per annum:

Year 3: 28/29 Year 4: 29/30 Year 5: 30/31

Proposed Funding

External:

Internal: Leisure Centre Maintenance Reserve

Useful Economic Life (years): 10

New/Replacement: New and replacement

Depreciation per annum: £12, 500

Capital Financing Costs: £4,700 p.a.

Residual Value:

Category of Asset: Operational Land &
Building

Checked will no
IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed longer be a

leased asset
VAT Treatment Assessed N/A

| Approval required from: | Council Budget Setting March 2026

page 102

64



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Rushcliffe Arena Cost Centre: 0415

Enhancements Ref: 8

Team leader Leisure Contract, Sport and

Project lead: Health/Communities’ Manager

Team leader Leisure Contract, Sport and

Request for project from: Health/Communities’ Manager

Detailed Description:

A provision of £450k has been made in 26/27 for Heating and Ventilation Strategy works to
Sports Hall and Studio 3; roof enhancements on Sports Hall and Studio 3; and works to
address the low wall in the old bowls hall. The estimated breakdown for this £450K is

£50k. Bowls Hall/Studio 3 low wall
£200k. Roof works
£200k. Ventilation Strategy Enhancements

A provision of £175k has been included in the 27/28 capital programme to replace the gas
boilers and Combined Heat Pump with Air Source Heat Pump solution.

Location: Rushcliffe Arena, WB Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

e Quality of Life

o Efficient Services

e The Environment

e Sustainable Growth

Strategic Commitments:

e Ensuring well maintained facilities to support growing populations and increased usage

e Provide high quality community facilities which meet the needs of our residents and
contribute towards the financial independence of the Council.

e Protecting our residents’ health and facilitating healthier lifestyle choices.

Community Outcomes:
o Well maintained health and wellbeing facilities enabling residents to make healthier
lifestyle choices

Environmental Outcomes:

¢ Material selection, wherever possible locally sourced, carbon efficient production,
longevity of materials will be considered when selecting finishes

e Upgrades to mechanical building elements will look to use low energy technology
wherever feasible

Other Options Rejected and Why:

Retain the low wall around the old bowls rink as current.

The low wall creates a hazard as users attempt to step over the wall. It restricts access onto
the floor space with only 4 wider ramped disability access points. It limits the true multi-
functional purpose of the space.

Don’t invest in roof and ventilation strategies.
If repairs are not carried out the roofs may deteriorate further and current leaks will worsen,
additionally roofs in poor condition may prevent installation of renewable energy such as

page 103

65



solar panels in the future. As studio 3 has changed in use from a bowls hall to a
multifunctional activity, fithess and conference space since built, the existing mechanical
ventilation strategy leaves the venue very uncomfortable for certain events, particularly those
where the space is full of people moving about/dancing/working out such as group exercise,
conference, party and awards events. This results in negative experience for customers.

Procurement route proposed and stage:

Wall — Three quotes. Not started.

Roof and ventilation strategy - NCC tender or framework. Not started

Project Management Office support required: Yes/No
No, these projects will be led by the communities’ team

Start Date: 2026

Completion Date: 2028

Capital Cost (Total):

Year 1: 26/27

Year 2: 28/29

£625,000 £450,000 £175,000
Capital Cost (Breakdown) £:
Works £595,000 Equipment Other Fees £30,000

Additional Revenue cost/
(saving) per annum:

Year 1: 26/27

Year 2: 27/28

Year 3: 28/29

Year 4: 29/30

Year 5: 30/31

Proposed Funding

External:

Internal: Regeneration and Community Projects
Reserve and Climate Change Reserve

Useful Economic Life (years):

Wall 15 years
Roof 25 years
Ventilation 25 years

New/Replacement: New and Replacements

Depreciation per annum:
Wall £3,300

Roof £8,000

Ventilation £8,000

Capital Financing Costs: £23,450 p.a.

Residual Value:

Buildings/Plant

Category of Asset: Operational Land &

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist

Completed

N/A

VAT Treatment Assessed

N/A

| Approval required from

| Council Budget Setting March 2026

page 104

66



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name:

Play Areas W.B. (Special Expense) Cost Centre: 0664 Ref: 9

Project Lead: Communities’ Manager

Request for Project from: Rushcliffe Play Strategy

Detailed Description:

2026/2027

West Park Junior Play area will be accelerated from the 2026/27 capital programme to
2025/26 to cover estimated cost: £60k.

v

West Park Play Area 06/08/2025 2508 48855(WestParkPA_RushclifleBC)

JPS KS 1:150 @ A3

The remainder of the 2026/2027 programme will not necessarily focus on a one out and one
in project but will instead be informed by undertaking a full audit of all the special expenses
play provision and safety surfacing across all sites and aim to replace end of life equipment
and surfacing across multiple sites instead of focussing on one of the lesser used sites.

The replacement equipment and surfacing will aim to be more inclusive following the

refreshed play strategy guidance and will also take pressure off the revenue repairs budget

over the financial year.

2027/28

The Hook Toddler and Junior Play have been identified as the next play areas that require
refurbishment, these play spaces are incredibly popular but are large play areas so work will

page 105

67



be done to maximise funding to do a full refurbishment of the spaces including the surfaces
to ensure that areas remain fit for purpose.

%,

. Hoo
Welcom rvisit

e hope you enjoy you

Location: West Bridgford Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

e Quality of Life

e Efficient Services

e The Environment

Strategic Commitments:

e Protecting our residents’ health and facilitating healthier lifestyle choices.
Provide high quality community facilities which meet the needs of our residents.
Creating opportunities for young people to realise their potential.

Delivering a scheme refurbishment identified within the Rushcliffe Play Strategy
Working to achieve carbon neutral status for the Council’s operations.

Community Outcomes:

e To ensure the provision of high-quality community facilities which meet community need

e To protect our residents’ health and facilitate healthier lifestyle choice.

¢ To provide a facility to engage with young people who may otherwise not take part in
formal sports or physical activity.

Environmental Outcomes:

e The tender process will take into consideration supply chain, Carbon reduction measures

from the supplier use of materials to procure the most sustainable play facility for the
community.

Other Options Rejected and Why:

Doing nothing would result in increased maintenance costs for ageing equipment, reduced
appeal of the play areas leading to lower levels of use and be inconsistent with the vision of
high-quality parks and leisure facilities. A lack of replacement programme would over time
lead to an increased health and safety risk.

Procurement route proposed and stage:

page 106

68



ESPO Framework tender for larger schemes that has the 12 leading play manufacturers on
it. The procurement will be supported by Nottinghamshire Councils procurement team and

project managed by VIA East Midlands

Project Management Office support requi

Due to lack of internal capacity or expertise within the property and Estates team we propose
to use the tried and trusted project management relations established with VIA East Midlands
over the last 5 years, who provide procurement and project management support through to

completion

red: Yes

Start Date: April 2026

Completion Date: March 2028

Capital Cost (Total): Year: 26/27

Year 2: 27/28

£200,000 £100,000

£100,000

Capital Cost (Breakdown) £: split of equipment costs to be determined

Works Equipment Other Fees
£182,000 £18,000
Additional Revenue cost/ Year 1: 26/27 Year 2: 27/28
(saving) per annum:

Year 3: 28/29 Year 4: 29/30 Year 5: 30/31

External:

Internal: Regeneration and Community
Projects Reserve (Special Expense)

Useful Economic Life (years): 15

New/Replacement: Replacement and new

Depreciation per annum: £6,700 25/26
plus £6,700 26/27

Capital Financing Costs: Nil as funds raised
through WB Special Expense

Residual Value: N/A

Category of Asset: Operational Land &
Building/Equipment

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed? | N/A

VAT treatment assessed?

N/A

Approval required from:

Council Budget Setting March 2026

69

page 107



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Gresham Sports Pavilion Cost Centre: 0347 Ref: 10
Enhancements

Project Lead: Communities’ Manager

Request for Project from: Communities Manager/Leisure Strategy

Detailed Description:

The below proposals at Gresham have been set out in priority order for funding with
any underspend being used to work down the list of identified schemes

Legionella

The priority issue to address at Gresham Sports Park is the ongoing Legionella issues
experienced on site to ensure public safety, improve service continuity and loss of changing
rooms when a positive reading is confirmed. We also wish to reduce costs related to
excessive flushing and external contractor if we can achieve a stabilised system, which will in
turn improve staffing productivity.

The proposal is to implement the recommendations of the NBS Legionella investigation and
site survey report: namely the heating and system and local temperatures conditions, the
ventilation air handling unit, local extract ventilation, cold water pipework insulation, pipework
routing and segregation. The immediate actions are to review and rationalise the
temperature control strategy, reduce TRV settings in changing rooms, improve ventilation
control TRVs and stabilise the cold-water supply and integrated controls.

The NBS report does not give a budgetary estimate for these works so a high-level
estimate of £100k has been used for budgetary purposes. We have requested a high-
level estimate breakdown of costs from NBS.

Solar PV and Carbon Reduction

As part of the Council’s Carbon reduction programme commitments and to reduce the
electrical bills officers have commissioned GEP Environmental to undertake a heat
ST ; T LA decarbonisation plan. The
3 "" E majority of the
i V- - decarbonisation actions are
_cost prohibitive and will not be
-+ taken forward.
4

-

However, as a minimum to
contribute to our carbon

. reduction commitments and

N i reduce energy costs we
would like to proceed with the
solar PV on the roof without
battery storage. The capital
cost for the installation of
the solar is estimated at
£77,671 and is set out in the

70

page 108



below table less the battery storage.

Calculations and assumptions

The site has been modelled with a Unit Price of Electricity of 21.1p/kWh.

Itis estimated that 14% of excess generation will be exported to the grid, and 30% of excess generation will be
stored within the battery storage system to be consumed during peak demand.

Itis estimated that the solar PV array and battery storage system will provide 36.2% of the site’s total electrical
consumption.

The solar PV added to the rooftop is clear of any potential shading.

Cost breakdown can be seen below:

Capital Cost Breakdown
Element Cost £ %
Design and Engineering £3,393 5%
Main equipment capital £33,930 50%
Installation & commissioning £23,751 35%
Project delivery £6,786 10%
Contingency £9,811 10%
Battery Storage £30,250
Total Costs £107,921

Catering Concession

Officers have, in principle, been offered a grant of up to £50k from the Football Foundation
Catering Unit Grants Funding | Grassroots Football This has been a continual request from
users of the site due to the current location of the meeting room. It is estimate to cost £25k
including fees to create a concrete pad for the unit and connect foul drainage.

Classroom

We have been approached by a number of external operators about setting up teaching
football academy onsite and this would provide a significant additional revenue stream on
site and increase daytime usage bring the site up to almost 100% occupancy over the 7days
per week. This would require the reduction of two changing rooms which is something the
football foundation have been resistant of in the past but are now in support of as per the
below design. This would also have an ancillary benefit to legionella by reducing the showers
on site by two changing rooms ensure the other rooms are busier and the tur over is
increased in the other rooms.

71
page 109



https://footballfoundation.org.uk/grant/Catering-Unit?_gl=1*55vym2*_up*MQ..*_gs*MQ..&gclid=EAIaIQobChMI_JjK-qKukgMV65JQBh0cpSv7EAAYASAAEgKX3vD_BwE

Estates Proposal

The proposal is for a scheme of upgrade works to the shower areas within individual
changing rooms — existing finishes which predominantly comprise ceramic wall and floor tiles
are circa 15 years old. They are visually unappealing and expensive to maintain. The
planned upgrade would introduce a modern seamless resin finish to floors and an acrylic
panelling system to the walls, thereby improving the visual appearance and simplifying
maintenance.

Location: Gresham Sports Pavilion Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

e Quality of Life

o Efficient Services

Strategic Commitments:

e Protecting our residents’ health and facilitating healthier lifestyle choices

e Providing high quality community facilities which meet the needs of our residents.
o Creating opportunities for young people to realise their potential.

¢ Ongoing appraisal and alignment of resources linked to growth aspirations.

Community Outcomes:

e Number of leisure users

e Satisfaction of leisure users
e Participation in sport figures
e Quality of facility

Environmental Outcomes:

e The planned upgrade work will result in safe more efficient showers and water systems
reduction the health risks on site, it is also hoped to reduce the water flushing of a cube
of water per changing room per week.

e The solar pv will reduce the carbon footprint of the building

Other Options Rejected and Why:

72
page 110



¢ Doing nothing — would fail to address the ongoing legionella issues on site and not
contribution to our carbon reduction and cost reduction strategy on site

Procurement route proposed and stage:

Open tender for the legionella, Framework for the solar PV, quotes for the supply of services

to the huddle spot.

Project Management Office support required: YES

The Corporate Projects Support Officer is supporting the catering grant application.

Start Date: May 2026

Completion Date: August 2026

Capital Cost (Total): Year 1:26/27

Year 2: 27/28

£200,000 £200,000

Capital Cost (Breakdown) £: to be determ

ined

Works Equipment

Other Fees

Additional Revenue cost/ Year 1: 26/27 | Year 2: 27/28

(saving) per annum:

Not quantifiable at this stage but should
see revenue spend on repair work reduce.

Year 3: 28/29 Year 4: 29/30 | Year 5: 30/31

As 27/28 As 27/28

As 27/28

Proposed Funding

External: Potential funding from the
Football Foundation for the Catering
Concession.

Internal: Regeneration and Community Projects
Reserve

Useful Economic Life (years): 10

New/Replacement: Replacement

Depreciation per annum: £20,000

Capital Financing Costs: £7,500 p.a.

Residual Value: N/A

Category of Asset: Operational Land and
Buildings/Plant and Equipment

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist
Completed?

N/A

VAT treatment assessed?

N/A

Approval required from

Council Budget Setting March 2026

73

page 111



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Rushcliffe Country Park Cost Centre: 0504 Ref: 11
Enhancements

Project Lead: Communities’ Manager

Request for project from: Neighbourhoods Feedback/Communities’ Manager

Detailed Description: Rushcliffe Country Park Footpath rolling investment programme.

Rushcliffe Country Park will be 32 years old in 2026 and up to 2022 had a passive
management of the paths, by filling potholes and spreading some material in worn areas
over the last 30 years.

In 2022 the council began to proactively manage the 8km of paths by undertaking some path
resurfacing work. This has enabled a specialist contractor to tackle the poorest and most
heavily trafficked paths sections in the park in priority order to improve the overall quality and
longevity of these sections. It also has re-instated the camber in the paths to support
rainwater runoff and tackled stretching in sections where the path appears bigger than
intended so the path return to its original intended state.

In more recent years this work has been supplemented with UKSPF funding to improve
access as part of our Equality and Inclusion efforts and to meet the commitment of the
Rushcliffe Leisure Strategy priorities to “maintain the existing local standards for provision of
open space,” and “creating more outdoor wellbeing opportunities including walking and
cycling throughout the borough”.

The works in 2026/27 and 2027/28 will, amongst other areas, focus on the orbital path
around the lake with the aim to provide as inclusive a surface as possible for those visiting
the park with mobility issues and compliment the café areas and Changing Places toilet
provision.

MushroomCircle @
'
r \ Treeitrail
5 \ Rushcliffe Country
. ® Park Lake

N

LittlelWhite Cloud g
ForestiSchool

74
page 112



The country park has seen massive increase in recent years post Covid in the popularity of
both the adult and junior Parkrun events with a consistent 500 to 600 taking part in the adult
Parkrun event and between 100 and 150 taking part in junior park run event which are a free
event held on a weekly basis every week of the year.

This is fantastic in the health outcomes it achieves for the residents of the borough but
inevitably has an impact on the quality of the footpath so the need for investment to continue
this work has never been greater.

Location: Rushcliffe Country Park Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:
Corporate Priorities:
e Quality of Life

75

page 113



o Efficient Services

Strategic Commitments:

e Protecting our residents’ health and facilitating healthier lifestyle choices.

¢ Provide high quality community facilities which meet the needs of our residents and
contribute towards the financial independence of the Council.

o Creating opportunities for young people to realise their potential.

e Ongoing appraisal and alignment of resources linked to growth aspirations.

Community Outcomes:
e To ensure the provision of high-quality community facilities which meet community need.
e To protect our residents’ health and facilitate healthier lifestyle choice.

Environmental Outcomes:

e The tender process will take into consideration supply chain, Carbon reduction measures
from the supplier use of materials to procure the most sustainable outdoor facility for the
community.

Other Options Rejected and Why:
Doing nothing would put at risk the operational performance and efficiency of the facility,
reducing customer experience/satisfaction and, in turn, reduce revenue income.

Procurement route proposed and stage:

We would aim to get three quotes for the surfacing but have struggled in the past with getting
three companies to quote.

Project Management Office support required: No

This project will be managed by the Country Park Manager with the support of the
Communities’ Manager in house.

Start Date: April 2026 Completion Date: Mar 2028
Capital Cost (Total): Year 1:26/27 Year 2: 27/28
£50,000 £25,000 £25,000

Capital Cost (Breakdown) £: to be determined

Works Equipment Other Fees
£46,000 £4,000
Additional Revenue Year 1: 26/27 Year 2: 27/28
cost/(saving)per annum:
Year 3: 28/29 Year 4: 29/30 Year 5: 30/31
Proposed Funding
External: Internal: Regeneration and Community Projects
Reserve
Useful Economic Life (years): 15 New/Replacement: Replacement
Depreciation per annum: £1.6k for Capital Financing Costs: £1.9k p.a. as
26/27 expenditure and a further £1.6k for | opportunity cost of lost interest on capital
27/28 expenditure resources used.
Residual Value: N/A Category of Asset: Infrastructure
76

page 114



IFRS16 New Lease Checklist
Completed?

N/A

VAT Treatment Assessed

N/A

Approval required from

Council Budget Setting March 2026

page 115

77



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Rushcliffe Country Park Play

Cost Centre: 0412 Ref: 12
Area

Project Lead: Communities’ Manager

Request for project from: Neighbourhoods feedback/Rushcliffe Play Strategy

Detailed Description: Rushcliffe Country Park Play Area Inclusive Enhancements

Rushcliffe Country Park has a 4X (four-cross) cycle track created in 2008. It was designed in
collaboration with the Free Riders 4-cross club and council engineers to provide a
competition-standard track with jumps and obstacles.

The track is extremely 4 v AN Q;hwh TR
popular with all ages but ) e B T B
is a particularly important ; :
facility for the council
catering for wheeled
sports and creating a
more challenging
environment for older
competitive adults.

The track has been
enhanced in more recent
years by the pump track
on boundary road
designed as an
introduction to the sport.

B

< @
gy e 2

B G
»Google. Maps

The track has increased in importance for our sports offer since the inclusion of BMX racing
as an Olympic sport in 2008 and its inclusion in the 2028 Los Angeles Olympic games,
ensuring that this local provision provides the opportunity for an introduction into the sport.

Although the Bike track has a service maintenance contract in place, £30,000 has been
included in the 27/28 capital programme for essential enhancement works to the bike track to
ensure that it remains a safe and exciting for all users.

Proposed works

The work will include stabilisation of the burns, ensuring the cut through sections are
removed, fencing and signage is improved and topdressing of the track is undertaken.

78
page 116



Our aim is to capture the imagination of every
visitor through inventive designs and inclusive
i play and sports opportunities for all.

Finally, the project aligns with the Rushcliffe
Leisure Strategy by providing cycling
opportunities to our residents.

Location: Rushcliffe Country Park Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

e Quality of Life

o Efficient Services

Strategic Commitments:

e Protecting our residents’ health and facilitating healthier lifestyle choices.

e Provide high quality community facilities which meet the needs of our residents and
contribute towards the financial independence of the Council.

e Creating opportunities for young people to realise their potential.

e Ongoing appraisal and alignment of resources linked to growth aspirations.

Community Outcomes:
e To ensure the provision of high-quality community facilities which meet community need.
e To protect our residents’ health and facilitate healthier lifestyle choice.

Environmental Outcomes:

e The tender process will take into consideration supply chain, Carbon reduction measures
from the supplier use of materials to procure the most sustainable facility for the
community.

Other Options Rejected and Why:
Doing nothing would put at risk the operational performance and efficiency of the facility,
reducing customer experience/satisfaction and, in turn, reduce revenue income.

Procurement route proposed and stage:
Given the capital value, we will look to get quotes for this work to enable swift completion of
the scheme in advance of the summer peak season.

Project Management Office support required: /No

79
page 117



To save costs, it is proposed that this work will be project managed directly between the
Country Park Manager and the Communities’ Manager.

Start Date: April 2027 Completion Date: April 2028
Capital Cost (Total): Year 1:26/27 Year 2: 27/28

£30,000 £30,000

Capital Cost (Breakdown) £:

Works Equipment Other Fees
£27,000 £3,000
Additional Revenue Year 1: 26/27 Year 2: 27/28
cost/(saving)per annum:

Year 3: 28/29 Year 4: 29/30 Year 5: 30/31

Proposed Funding

External:

Internal: Regeneration and Community Projects
Reserve

Useful Economic Life (years): 15

New/Replacement: Replacement

Depreciation per annum: £2k

Capital Financing Costs: £1k p.a. as
opportunity cost of lost interest.

Residual Value: N/A

Category of Asset: Infrastructure

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist
Completed?

N/A

VAT Treatment Assessed

N/A

Approval required from

Council Budget Setting March 2026

80
page 118



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Edwalton Golf Course Cost Centre: 0420

Enhancements Ref: 13

Communities’ Manager/Team Manager for

Project lead: Leisure Contracts, Sport, and Health

Communities’ Manager/Team Manager for

Request for project from: Leisure Contracts, Sport, and Health

Detailed Description

Works to address climate change resilience measures including: Building flood prevention
measures such as Flood protection measures for the pavilion such as flood doors, flood
bricks, flood gates and raising plug sockets.

Location: West Bridgford Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

e Quality of Life

o Efficient Services

e The Environment

e Sustainable Growth

Strategic Commitments:

¢ Ensuring well maintained facilities to support growing populations and increased usage

¢ Provide high quality community facilities which meet the needs of our residents and
contribute towards the financial independence of the Council.

e Protecting our residents’ health and facilitating healthier lifestyle choices.

Community Outcomes:
e Ensure continued existence of high-quality community facilities to meet community need
¢ Providing facilities to protect residents’ health and facilitates healthier lifestyle choices

Environmental Outcomes:
e Protecting assets from flood events resulting in frequent replacement of damaged fixtures
and fittings thus reducing waste and environmental impact

Other Options Rejected and Why:

Don’t implement climate change resilience measures.

This will leave the building at increased risk of future flood events. The pavilion has flooded
in 2020, 2023, 2024 and 2025. Each time fixtures and fittings must be stripped out and
replaced, or dried and professionally cleaned depending on the extent of the flood. This
results in cost and closures with associated temporary loss of facilities for the community.

Procurement route proposed and stage:
Three quotes — not started.

Project Management Office support required: Yes/No
No, will be managed by the Team Manager for Leisure Contracts, Sport, and Health

Start Date: April 26 Completion Date: Mar 27
Capital Cost (Total): Year 1:26/27 Year 2: 27/28
£50,000 £50,000

81
page 119




Capital Cost (Breakdown) £:

Works Equipment Other Fees
£45,500 £4.500
Additional Revenue cost/ Year 1: 26/27 Year 2: 27/28
(saving) per annum:

Year 3: 28/29 Year 4: 29/30 Year 5: 30/31

Proposed Funding

External:

Internal: Leisure Centre Maintenance Reserve

Useful Economic Life (years): 15

New/Replacement: New and Replacement

Depreciation per annum: £3,300

Capital Financing Costs: £1,900 p.a.

Residual Value: Ca_te_gory of Asset: Operational Land &
Buildings

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed N/A

VAT Treatment Assessed N/A

| Approval required from

| Council Budget Setting March 2026

page 120

82




PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: West Park and Bridgford .

Park Tennis Court refurbishments — Cost Centre: 0320 Ref: 14
Special Expense

Project lead: Hamish Maclnnes Communities’ Manager

Request for project from: Communities’ Manager/Leisure Strategy

Detailed Description: Works to refurbish the Borough Council’s Tennis court provision at
Bridgford Park and West Park. The works will include deep cleaning removing moss and
weeds, minor repairs to the porous macadam surface where cracks have appeared or
become damaged and the full repaint of the surface and lines on the courts.

" — >y i~  — ~
S . —— i A’ i e =
-~ e b

The perimeter fencing and gates will also be refurbished to align with the new code locks
technology installed in the 2025/26

The second redundant tennis court at West Park will no longer be redeveloped due to
emerging needs of Nottinghamshire County Cricket Club and their aspiration to develop this
space to meet the growing demand for cricket on site.

Location: West Bridgford Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

e Quality of Life

o Efficient Services

Strategic Commitments:

Protecting our residents’ health and facilitating healthier lifestyle choices
Providing high quality community facilities which meet the needs of our residents.
Creating opportunities for young people to realise their potential.

Ongoing appraisal and alignment of resources linked to growth aspirations.

Community Outcomes:
Number of tennis users
Satisfaction of tennis users
Participation in sport figures
Quality of facility

page 121

83



Environmental Outcomes:

e The tender process will take into consideration the local supply chain, Carbon reduction
measures from the supplier use of materials to procure the most sustainable outdoor
facility for the community.

Other Options Rejected and Why:
Doing nothing would put at risk the operational performance and efficiency of the facility,
reducing customer experience/satisfaction and, in turn, reduce revenue income.

Procurement route proposed and stage:
We would aim to get three quotes for the works five the value of the scheme

Project Management Office support required: No

It is envisaged that this project will be managed by the Facilities and Corporate CCTV
Manager with the support of the Communities’ Manager in house.

Start Date: April 26 Completion Date: Mar 27
Capital Cost (Total): Year 1:26/27 Year 2: 27/28
£50,000 £50,000

Capital Cost (Breakdown) £: 25k +Vat

£8,000+ VAT for cleaning, minor repairs, and repainting per tennis court
Three tennis courts in total
£1k for the repainting of the code-lock backing plates and fencing repairs.

The remaining balance of £25k will be reviewed in light the need for tennis court 2 by
cricket development

Works Equipment Other Fees
£45,500 £4,500
Additional Revenue cost/ Year 1: 26/27 Year 2: 27/28
(saving) per annum:

Year 3: 28/29 Year 4: 29/30 Year 5: 30/31

Proposed Funding

External: Internal: Capital Receipts in the first instance
repayable by a Special Expense Annuity

Useful Economic Life (years): 8 New/Replacement: New and Replacement
Capital Financing Costs: Net nil as

Depreciation per annum: £6,250 expenditure covered by a Special Expense
annuity

Residual Value: N/A Ca.te.gory of Asset: Operational Land &
Buildings

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed N/A

VAT Treatment Assessed N/A

‘ Approval required from Council Budget Setting March 2026 |

page 122

84



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Alternative Storage Cost Centre: 0320 Ref: 15
Solution West Park — Special Expense )
Project lead: Nicola Wells Communities’ Manager

Request for project from: Communities’ Manager

Detailed Description: Works to provide a long-term storage solution for the Events,
Community Safety, and IT equipment which is currently stored at West Park Sports Pavilion
since the sale of the Depot on Abbey Road.

The current proposal being explored is to provide a storage solution at Gresham Sport Park
in the external store which is not fit for purpose to store football goals and to create a storage
unit at Bridgford Park for the storage of town centre events materials

Please see the proposed location of the events storage until in Bridgford Park below. The
cabin is being commissioned by Streetwise to provide mess facilities for the parking
enforcement team instead of renting.

L1Z

The below image shows the external equipment store at Gresham Sports Park which will be
repurposed to better meet the needs of the council with the existing equipment being
relocated elsewhere on site to accommodate the new equipment.

85

page 123



The relocation of this equipment will ensure that West Park sport Pavilion can return to its
original purpose of providing changing facilities to meet the growing demand for cricket on
the site ensuring that we continue to create opportunities for young people to reach their
potential.

Location: West Bridgford Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

o Efficient Services

Strategic Commitments:

e Providing high quality community facilities which meet the needs of our residents.
o Creating opportunities for young people to realise their potential.

¢ Ongoing appraisal and alignment of resources linked to growth aspirations.

Community Outcomes:
e To ensure the provision of high-quality community facilities which meet community need.
e To protect our residents’ health and facilitate healthier lifestyle choice.

Environmental Outcomes:

e The tender process will take into consideration supply chain, Carbon reduction measures
from the supplier use of materials to procure the most sustainable outdoor facility for the
community.

e The events storage will remove the need for additional vehicle movement transporting
event equipment at West Park

Other Options Rejected and Why:
Doing nothing would put at risk the operational performance and efficiency of the facility,
reducing customer experience/satisfaction and, in turn, reduce revenue income.

Procurement route proposed and stage:
Three quotes

Project Management Office support required: Yes/No

86
page 124




It is envisaged that this project will be managed by the Team Manager for Communities and
Streetwise Manager with the support of the Communities’ Manager in house.

Start Date: April 26

Completion Date: Mar 27

Capital Cost (Total):

Year 1:26/27

Year 2: 27/28

£30,000

£30,000

requirements.

Capital Cost (Breakdown) £:

£10k for Parking enforcement cabin
£5k for Events Storage Unit

£5k removing and making good storage unit at West Park
£5k Gresham Sports Park storage repurposing

The remaining balance will be used to take into consideration Community Safety and IT

Works

£10k

Equipment
£15k

Other
£3k

Fees
£2k

(saving) per annum:

Additional Revenue cost/

£25,000

Year 1: 26/27

Year 2: 27/28

Year 3: 28/29

Year 4: 29/30

Year 5: 30/31

Proposed Funding

External:

Internal: Capital Receipts in the first instance
repayable by a Special Expense Annuity

Useful Economic Life (years): 15

New/Replacement: New

Depreciation per annum: £2k

annuity

Capital Financing Costs: Net nil as
expenditure covered by a Special Expense

Residual Value:

Buildings/Equipment

Category of Asset: Operational Land &

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed

N/A

VAT Treatment Assessed

N/A

| Approval required from

‘ Council Budget Setting March 2026

page 125

87



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Keyworth Leisure Centre . .
(KLC) Intruder Alarm and CCTV System Cost Centre: 0402 Ref: 16

Project Lead: Team leader Leisure Contract, Sport and Health/Communities’ Manager

Request for Project from: Team leader Leisure Contract, Sport and Health/Communities’
Manager

Detailed Description:
£20k has been included in the 26/27 Capital Programme for the replacement KLC Intruder
Alarm and CCTV System.

Location: Keyworth Leisure Centre Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

e Quality of Life

o Efficient Services

e The Environment

e Sustainable Growth

Strategic Commitments:

o Meeting contractual obligations

o Protecting our residents’ health and facilitating healthier lifestyle choices.

e Provide high quality community facilities which meet the needs of our residents and
contribute towards the financial independence of the Council.

¢ Ensuring well maintained facilities to support growing populations and increased usage

Community Outcomes:
e To ensure the provision of high-quality community facilities which meet community need.
e To protect our residents’ health and facilitate healthier lifestyle choice.

Environmental Outcomes:

e Low energy cameras and monitors will be selected.

o Where possible, existing infrastructure will be reused, e.g door contact points, sounders
and bells and wiring to minimise waste.

Other Options Rejected and Why:

Do not replace the intruder Alarm and CCTV System.

This will breach the council’s lease obligations with Nottinghamshire County Council and the
council’s repair and maintenance obligations within the Leisure Services Contract which
places full-scale capital replacement of these end-of-life systems on the council.

Failure to meet contractual obligations places a financial and reputational risk on the
authority should NCC or Parkwood Leisure insurers fail to make payments against insurance
claims due to lack of CCTV or intruder alarm.

This may also lead to loss of customers resulting in a less efficient service and not be in line
with the commitments made in the Leisure Strategy refresh which was adopted by Cabinet in
December 2022.

Procurement route proposed and stage:
Three Quotes

Project Management Office support required: Yes/No
The scheme is being delivered through internal project management through the Team
leader, Leisure Contract, Sport and Health.

88
page 126




Start Date: Apr 26

Completion Date: Mar 27

Capital Cost (TOTAL):

Year 1: 26/27

Year 2: 27/28

£20,000 £20,000
Capital Cost (Breakdown) £:
Works Equipment Other Fees

£20,000

Additional Revenue
cost/(saving)per annum:

Year 1: 26/27

Year 2: 27/28

Year 3: 28/29

Year 4: 29/30

Year 5: 30/31

Proposed Funding:

External:

Internal: Capital Receipts

Useful Economic Life (years): 15

New/Replacement: Replacement

Depreciation per annum: £1,300

Capital Financing Costs: £750 p.a.

Residual Value: N/A

Buildings

Category of Asset: Operational Land &

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed

N/A

VAT Treatment Assessed

N/A

Approval required from

Council Budget Setting March 2026

page 127

89



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Footpath Improvements Cost Centre:

The Hook — Special Expense Ref: 17

Project lead: Paul Phillips, Alastair

. Communities’ Manager
Glenn, Hamish Maclnnes 9

Request for project from: Communities’ Manager

Detailed Description: Works to improve the Hook Recreation Ground and nature reserve
paths considering the significant development of the Bridge over the river Trent.

The Hook Recreation ground and wider nature reserve has several paths which crisscross
the site, the paths range from porous macadam, crushed limestone or grass mown paths.

River Tre,”

sihe Nottinghamshire.
Sports Club w

a Holme Lodge/ =
g Valorum Care’

=
5
2

¥ - L
s ‘\Uatly:Bay Chii @
SA Environment at All Hallows) e =
B g o W s o 802 - il
e G o Gertrude House i

page 128




This project will only focus primarily on the crushed limestone paths along the river Trent in
Rushcliffe Borough Council ownership and to connect with the significant strategic
investment in the new bridge over the river Trent to ensure walking and cycling opportunities
are maximised and ensure strategic alignment with the Trent sports Quarter redevelopments
being promoted by EMCCA.

Location: West Bridgford Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

e Quality of Life

o Efficient Services

e Economic Growth

Strategic Commitments:

o Protecting our residents’ health and facilitating healthier lifestyle choices.

¢ Provide high quality community facilities which meet the needs of our residents and
contribute towards the financial independence of the Council.

o Creating opportunities for young people to realise their potential.

¢ Ongoing appraisal and alignment of resources linked to growth aspirations.

Community Outcomes:
e To ensure the provision of high-quality community facilities which meet community need.
e To protect our residents’ health and facilitate healthier lifestyle choice.

Environmental Outcomes:

e The tender process will take into consideration supply chain, Carbon reduction measures
from the supplier use of materials to procure the most sustainable outdoor facility for the
community.

o Careful consideration will also be given to ensure that works compliment the local nature
reserve characteristics.

Other Options Rejected and Why:

Doing nothing would put at risk the operational performance and efficiency of the facility,
reducing customer experience/satisfaction and considering the significant strategic
investment could be reputationally damaging if they leave the end of the new work on to
Rushcliffe owned and managed land to be experience potholed and poorly maintained
walking and cycling infrastructure.

Procurement route proposed and stage:
We would aim to get three quotes for the surfacing but have struggled in the past with getting
three companies to quote.

Project Management Office support required: /No
It is envisaged that this project will be managed by the Facilities and Country Park Manager
with the support of the Communities’ Manager in house.

Start Date: April 26 Completion Date: Mar 27
Capital Cost (Total): Year 1:26/27 Year 2: 27/28
£50,000 £50,000

Capital Cost (Breakdown) £: to be determined

Works Equipment Other Fees

91
page 129




Additional Revenue cost/
(saving) per annum:

Year 1: 26/27

Year 2: 27/28

Year 3: 28/29

Year 4: 29/30

Year 5: 30/31

Proposed Funding

External:

Internal: Capital Receipts in the first instance
repayable by a Special Expense Annuity

Useful Economic Life (years): 15

New/Replacement: New and Replacement

Depreciation per annum: £3,300

Capital Financing Costs: Net nil as
expenditure covered by a Special Expense
annuity

Residual Value: N/A

Category of Asset: Infrastructure

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed

N/A

VAT Treatment Assessed

N/A

| Approval required from

| Council Budget Setting March 2026

page 130

92




PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Empty Homes Cost Centre: 0428 Ref: 18
Compulsory Purchase Orders

Assistant Director of Public Protection/Principal

Project lead: Officer Environmental Health

Request for project from: Chief Executive

Detailed Description: This project aims to focus on the 9 most problematic long term empty
properties within the Rushcliffe Borough, focusing time and resources into bringing them
back into residential use within a three-year timeframe. This is deemed necessary since
these properties have been scored as the highest priority on the Empty Property Scoring and
Rating Matrix, and all actions in line with the Empty Homes Strategy 2024 — 2029 have been
exhausted, including engagement with the homeowners and enforcement actions. It is
deemed that without further council intervention these properties may remain empty
indefinitely and continue to put a strain on the council’s resources. Furthermore, the empty
properties are attracting negative attention and are located in prominent high street locations,
which is devaluing for the community.

The project also aims to create a legacy for Rushcliffe Borough Council, as bringing back into
use these problematic properties will bring social, regenerative, financial and strategic
benefits by reinvigorating the community, in addition to cementing community trust and
perception of the council.

It is planned that the properties acquired using CPOs will be disposed of concurrently in a
back-to-back acquisition and disposal thus ensuring that the Council does not hold these
assets for any length of time. There is a risk that any time delay between acquisition and
disposal will have revenue consequences. There could be an opportunity cost of holding the
assets, even for a short time, in the form of lost interest on sale proceeds.

Location: Rushcliffe Borough Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:
Corporate Priorities:

The Environment Protecting the local environment by minimising environmental
crime
Quality of Life The visual appearance of the Borough is an important factor in

terms of the quality of life felt by residents. Unsightly, neglected
and run-down properties contribute to a feeling that a
neighbourhood is unsafe which also has a bearing on quality of life
Efficient Services Additional charges linked to Empty and Unoccupied homes in the
Borough provides additional income which is used to take positive
action in this area.

Sustainable Growth [ None

Strategic Commitments:

e This project is supported by the Council’'s Empty Homes Strategy 2024-2029.

Community Outcomes:

o Sense of pride in local area, positive impact on local crime and disorder associated with
vacant properties and increase in availability of local housing.

e Bringing empty homes back into use improves their appearance and safety of the street

e Several properties contained within this project are Listed Buildings. By bringing these
back into use local identity and continuity is reinforced and erosion of village character is
prevented.

93
page 131



Environmental Outcomes:

Borough and safeguards landscape cha

decay and pest infestation.

e Bringing empty homes back into use is more environmentally sustainable than building
new houses, which emits high levels of carbon emissions.
¢ By making use of buildings already available we aim to preserve the rural nature of the

e A reduction in vacancy related environmental harm including damp, mould, structural

racter

Other Options Rejected and Why:

informal and low-level enforcement options
properties continue to be problematic to the

The Council’'s Empty Homes Strategy 2024-2029 outlines the steps that the Council will take
to bring empty homes back into use. This project will deal with those empty homes where all

have failed to bring them back into use and those
Council and the community.

Procurement route proposed and stage:
To be confirmed.

Project Management Office support requ
Already in place

ired: Yes/No

Start Date: Jan 2026 Completion Date: April 2028
Capital Cost (Total): Year 1:26/27 Year 2: 27/28

£750,000 £250,000 £500,000

Capital Cost (Breakdown) £: to be determined

Works Equipment Other Fees
Additional Revenue cost/ Year 1: 26/27 Year 2: 27/28
(saving) per annum:

Year 3: 28/29 Year 4: 29/30 Year 5: 30/31

Proposed Funding

External:

Internal: £250k initial costs met from the New
Homes Bonus Reserve; £500k will be covered
from the capital receipt generated through back-
to-back purchase/disposals.

Useful Economic Life (years): N/A

New/Replacement: New

Depreciation per annum: N/A

Capital Financing Costs: £9,300 the
opportunity cost of lost interest on capital
resources used

Residual Value:

Category of Asset: REFCUS for £250k; no
resultant assets from CPO acquired property as
bought and sold.

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed

N/A

VAT Treatment Assessed

To be checked

| Approval required from | Council Bu

dget Setting March 2026 |

94

page 132



PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Strategic 3G Artificial
Turf Pitch and Changing Pavilion
Grant Programme for Rushcliffe

Cost Centre: 0677 Ref: 19

Project lead:

Communities Manager

Request for project from:

Communities Manager

Detailed Description: Grant contribution of a maximum grant of £50k to the strategic
projects which have been identified in the FA’s Local Football Facilities Plan (LFFP) and the
supporting Borough Council’s Playing Pitch Strategy strategic projects.

The grants would be used as the Borough Council’s contribution to Strategic projects as
follows:

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Regatta Way- West Bridgford

Keyworth- site to be confirmed
Ruddington- Jubilee Field
Cotgrave- site to be confirmed

East Leake-site to be confirmed

Bingham Area- site to be confirmed

In addition, the two-clubhouse refurbishment identified in the LFFP for strategic investment at

Keyworth United Platt Lane and Bingham Road Radcliffe on Trent would also be eligible for

funding.

page 133

95



The grant pot would be used as match funding alongside successful monies being received
from the Football Foundation, Strategic CIL infrastructure funding and the applicants own
resources.

The grant would be subject to confirmation of all the necessary planning permissions, grant
confirmations and is for capital works only.

The total grant pot available is £400k with a maximum of £50k towards any single project.

Location: West Bridgford Director: Neighbourhoods

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:
Corporate Priorities:

e Quality of Life

o Efficient Services

e Economic Growth

Strategic Commitments:

e Protecting our residents’ health and facilitating healthier lifestyle choices.

e Provide high quality community facilities which meet the needs of our residents and
contribute towards the financial independence of the Council.

o Creating opportunities for young people to realise their potential.

¢ Ongoing appraisal and alignment of resources linked to growth aspirations.

Community Outcomes:

e To ensure the provision of high-quality community facilities which meet community need.
e To protect our residents’ health and facilitate healthier lifestyle choice.

Environmental Outcomes:

e The tender process will take into consideration supply chain, Carbon reduction measures
from the supplier use of materials to procure the most sustainable outdoor facility for the
community.

e All projects would require full planning permission and associated Biodiversity Net Gain
and ecology assessments

Other Options Rejected and Why:

Doing nothing would put at risk the opportunity to lever in up to 65% strategic funding per
project from the football foundation. It also would stall the spending of the Strategic CIL
funding which has been allocated to playing pitches across the borough

Procurement route proposed and stage:
Successful project would proceed through the Football Foundation’s Framework tendering
exercise and comply with all procurement requirement to achieve the grant funding

Project Management Office support required: /No

It is envisaged that this project will be supported by the Borough Council’s Sports
Development Officer and Communities’ Manager in conjunction with our external partners at
Notts FA and the Football Foundation.

Start Date: April 26 Completion Date: Mar 28
Capital Cost (Total): Year 1:26/27 Year 2: 27/28
£400,000 £200,000 £200,000

96
page 134




Capital Cost (Breakdown) £:

Works Equipment Other — Grants
£400,000

Fees

Additional Revenue cost/ Year 1: 26/27
(saving) per annum:

Year 2: 27/28

Year 3: 28/29 Year 4: 29/30

Year 5: 30/31

Proposed Funding

External: Internal: New Homes Bonus reserve

Useful Economic Life (years): N/A -
Grants

New/Replacement: New and Replacement

Depreciation per annum: NIL -

REFCUS Capital Financing Costs: £15,000
Residual Value: Category of Asset: REFCUS
IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed N/A
Outside the
VAT Treatment Assessed scope of VAT

| Approval required from | Council Budget Setting March 2026

page 135

97




PROJECT APPRAISAL FORM

Project Name: Information Systems Strategy Cost Centre: Various Ref: 20

Project Lead: Strategic ICT Manager

Request for Project from: Rolling Capital Programme

Detailed Description:

The strategy enables an agile approach to operational delivery, taking advantage of new
proven developments. The ICT Technical Delivery Plan details all technical projects, and the
schedule for implementation, during the lifetime of the ICT Strategy.

Location: Rushcliffe Arena Director: Finance and Corporate

Contribution to the Council’s aims and objectives:

Corporate Priorities:

o Efficient Services

e Quality of Life

e Protecting the Environment

Strategic Commitments:

¢ Ongoing appraisal and alignment of resources linked to growth aspirations.

¢ Include digital principles in our communications and ways of undertaking business.

e Working to achieve carbon neutral status for the Council’s operations.

e Continue to invest in Cloud Services to enhance the Council’'s Business Continuity Plans
and provide support for ‘Smarter Ways of Working’ policies.

e People and Technology working together to provide efficiencies and remove barriers to
simplify the Council’s operations.

Community Outcomes:

e To ensure that we make best use of digital development where appropriate to deliver
better services and operate more efficiently.

e To enable residents to do business with us in a digital way if that is their preference.

e To use public spend in an efficient and economical way.

The ICT Strategy is closely aligned to the Council’s “Four Year Plan” reviews and ICT will be
instrumental in delivering the outcomes identified during these reviews. The Strategy will
deliver:

e People and Smarter Ways of Working.

o With a focus on people and their experience when accessing Council
services. Investing time to find the correct and appropriate solution, which
provides efficient and economic systems across the Council. To bring people
along the journey and promote flexible, remote and agile solutions, and digital
transformation programmes that take advantage of self-service initiatives,
intelligent automation (lIA), and artificial intelligence (Al). Key elements are
people and the use of technology as an enabler and improving customer
service and experience.

e Business Continuity, Cloud Services and Hybrid Technologies

o Continue to improve business continuity arrangements and underpin other
strategic objectives and their success. Seek opportunities to use cloud
services to improve access and resilience for our residents and staff
accessing Council services. Recognising when Hybrid technologies can be
used to accommodate for complex and flexible solutions. Currently Cloud
Services are not cost effective so in-house solutions are being sourced.

¢ Information Management and Governance, and Security

o To safeguard Council data by ensuring legislative, central government security

standards are followed and using security and privacy by design principles.
e Think Green

98
page 136



o To be aware of and help achieve local net zero targets from energy efficiency
savings when upgrading existing or implementing new systems. To report on
energy usage and seek out opportunities to provide positive impact on carbon
reduction.

Environmental Outcomes:

e When new infrastructure or ICT equipment is procured, power consumption forms part of
the decision making when assessing quality of products. The supplier is also reviewed to
see what their carbon footprint is and will add to the Council’s carbon reduction target.

Other Options Rejected and Why:

Every project is the subject of a proposal or business case to be presented to and approved
by the Executive Manager for the corresponding Service Area to ensure that the most
appropriate IT solution is chosen, having due regard to the alignment of technologies already
in use across other local authorities, value for money and resilience. The option of not doing
so would lead to outdated or incompatible technology, which would result in lower
performance, higher maintenance costs and hinder the drive for greater efficiencies.

Proposed Procurement route and stage: schemes will be procured in line with
procurement rules, utilising the Framework where possible, with open tenders where
necessary.

Project Management Office support required: No

Start Date: On-going Completion Date: On-going
Capital Cost (Total): Year 1:25/26 Year 2: 26/27
£615,000 (2 years) £385,000 £230,000

Capital Cost (Breakdown):

Works | Equipment £460,000 | Other £155,000 | Fees
Additional Revenue cost/ | Year 1: 26/27 Year 2: 27/28
(saving) per annum:

Year 3: 28/29 Year 4: 29/30 Year 6: 30/31

Proposed Funding

External: N/A Internal: Regeneration and Community Projects
Reserve and Organisation Stabilisation Reserve

Useful Economic Life (years): New/Replacement: New and Replacement

3

Depreciation per annum: £128k 26/27

plus £77k 27/28 Capital Financing Costs: £23,000

Residual Value: Nil Catt_agory of Asset: Intangible Assets and
Equipment

IFRS16 New Lease Checklist Completed? N/A

VAT treatment assessed? N/A

Council Budget
Setting March 2026

Approval Required:

99
page 137



(R}

Earooen Couns
12.4 Appendix 4 — Use of Earmarked Reserves in 2026/27
. . Projected
Use of Earmarked Reserves in 2026/27 Projected Prnjec.ted NEft Change Closing
Income  Expenditure in Year
Balance
Investment Reserves:
Regeneration and Community Projects 363 (1.454) (1.091) 2534
Sinking Fund - Investments 200 (120} 80 649
Corporate Reserves: 0 0 0 0
Organisation Stabilisation 530 (478) h2 6,411
Treasury Capital Depreciation Reserve 0 0 0 1,310
- Climate Change Action 0 (285) (285) 534
& Flood Grant & Resilience 0 0 0 27
g Simpler Recycling Reserve 1,150 (430) 720 1,685
o Vehicle Replacement Reserve 685 (300} 385 845
LGR Reserve 1,000 (76) 024 2,014
Risk and Insurance 0 0 0 100
Planning Appeals 0 0 0 340
Elections 50 0 50 201
Operating Reserves: 0 0 0 0
Planning 0 0 0 85
Leisure Centre Maintenance 515 {50} 465 498
Total Excluding NHB Reserve 4,493 (3,193) 1,300 17,225
MNew Homes Bonus 0 (2.239) (2.239) 6,144
Total Earmarked Reserves 4,493 (5,432) (939) 23,369

APPENDIX 4

100



12.5 Appendix 5 — Transformation and Efficiency Plan

APPENDIX 5

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31 Total

THEMATIC 0
LEISURE STRATEGY (116) (485) (207) (807)
CREMATORIUM (70) (64) (40) (174)
WEST PARK NCCC (SPECIAL EXPENSE) (36) 1 1 (34)
CUSTOMER CONTACT CENTRE (1) 1) 1) (3)
ADDITONAL INCOME 0
CAR PARKING (100) (100)
GREEN BIN SCHEME (100) (100) (100) (100) (100) (500)
GREEN BIN SCHEME (2ND AND SUBSEQUENT

PRICE INCREASE) (69) (71) (75) (81) (85) (381)
BINGHAM ENTERPRISE (8) (8)
COTGRAVE PHASE 2 (6) (6)
SERVICE EFFICIENCIES 0
HOME ALARMS DIGITALISATION 15 (6) 2 11
MARKETING SERVICES 10 10
PUBLIC CONVENIENCES (1) (1)
DIGITAL BIN CALENDAR (6) (6)
TOTAL (386) (726) (522) (181) (183)  (1,998)
CUMULATIVE SAVINGS TO DATE (6,658)  (7,044) (7,770) (8,292)  (8,473)
CUMULATIVE SAVINGS CARRIED FORWARD (7,044)  (7,770)  (8,292)  (8,473)  (8,656)

page 139

101



12.6 Appendix 6 — Core Spending Power

Funding Breakdown

APPENDIX 6

2025126 2028/29 Change
Baseline Funding Level 5,612,000 2264 432 | (64 98%)
Grants rolled into RSG 213616 - (100.00%)
Revenue Support Grant (R5G) 1,824 603 2,904 836 37.28%
Better Care Grant - -
Fair Funding Allocation 7.850.219 4789268 | (44.06%)
Homelessness Domestic Abuse 211,660 663,226 204 78%
Families First Partnership - -
100% income floor protection - -
95% income protection floor - 859,268
Recovery Grant - -
Recovery Grant Guarantee - -
Government Funding 8,061,879 6,311,762 (21.71%)
Council Tax 8,739,007 10,111,229 15.70%
Core Spending Power (CSP) 16,800,886 16,422,991 (2.25%)
Projected Population 126,612 129,696 2.44%
Per head analysis of Core Spending Power (CSP)

2025126 2028/29 Change
Rushcliffe 13270 126.63 (4.57%)
Nottinghamshire 15022 148.29 (1.28%)
District 166.57 169.6 1.82%

page 140

102



APPENDIX 7

12.7 Appendix 7 — Business Rate Pool

Nottinghamshire Finance Officers Report

Nottinghamshire Business Rates Pool: future pooling arrangements
(2026/27 and beyond)

Purpose of the Report

1. To determine whether the Nottinghamshire Business Rates Pool should continue to operate for
2026/27.

Background

2. The Nottinghamshire Business Rates Pool has operated since 2023/14 with all members of
Nottinghamshire being part of the pool barring Nottingham City Council and the Nottinghamshire
Fire Authority.

3. In that time (to 31° March 2025) £74.6m has been retained locally that would otherwise have
been paid to MHCLG.

4. Pooling has been a lucrative option for Local Government and has been utilised across the
Country since 2013/14. Initially the number of pools (and their size in terms of LAs) was
low (less than 10). More recently, as there was a greater understanding of Business Rates
Retention and a greater confidence that authorities were going to be above baseline,
numbers increased to over 25 pools with nearly 200 local authorities included.

5. This number was drastically reduced to be provisionally continued for the 2026/27
financial year. Only 11 pools signalled their intent to continue prior to the provisional LGFS
announcement. It is also anticipated that this would be reviewed further as more
information regarding how the system would work was announced as part of the
provisional LGFS.

6. As part of the provisional LGFS, the Business Rates system has been reviewed and
revamped. Under the previous system as Nottinghamshire County Council’s top-up status
exceeded the sum of the District and Borough tariff’s the pool’s overall levy rate was 0%.
This meant the 50% levy that would have been due to MHCLG, should there not have been
a pool, that each individual District and Borough incurred, would remain within
Nottinghamshire. Therefore, where authorities were collecting more in business rates
than the set NNDR baseline this triggered a levy to be paid. As the levy rate for the pool
was 0% this meant that that levy was not payable to MHCLG, enabling the funds to stay
within Nottinghamshire as pooling gains.

103
page 141



APPENDIX 7

7. For 2026/27 there are two significant changes in the Business Rate Retention (BRR)
system that impact on the viability of business rate pools:

e Full reset of the BRR system:- all authorities will have a new NNDR Baseline
amount that is expected to be equal to the amount to be collected — hence there
is unlikely to be significant variances between the amount to be collected and the
baseline amount. These variances are just as likely to leave authorities above or
below the NNDR baseline.

e Reform to the levy/safety net system:- For 2026/27 onwards the levy rates have
been changed. These are now uniform for all authorities, instead of being linked
to top up/tariff status. The new rates being:

Business rates

retention income as a Levy rate charged on

business rates retention

% of a local authorities’

income over Baseline

Baseline Funding Funding Level

Level
1. Initial growth 100% - 110% 10%
2. Further growth 110% - 200% 30%
3. High growth 200%+ 45%

For the safety net, the level of support has increased in 2026/27 and 2027/28, from
92.5% of Baseline Funding Level (BFL), with the new rates being:

2026/27 safety net guaranteeing 100% of BFL
2027/28 safety net guaranteeing 97% of BFL
2028/29 safety net guaranteeing 92.5% of BFL.

Proposals

8. Due to the changes in the system, it is anticipated that the risks outweigh the rewards in respect
of pooling. As baseline funding levels have been adjusted to be more accurate, it is more likely
that authorities will need a safety net payment, which would need to be funded by the other
authorities in the pool where a pool exists. MHCLG would fund any safety net payments for
authorities where they are not in a pool. The example below demonstrates this.

Two authority pool:
Authority A — growth of £200k

Authority B — below baseline £100k

104
page 142



APPENDIX 7

Where the authorities are pooled:

Add up, so effectively A gives B £100k as it is below the baseline (hence needs the safety net
payment)

Total net growth of £100k, 10% levy, so £10k paid in levy to MHCLG

Total net growth retained of £90k

Where the authorities are not pooled

A has growth of £200k hence 10% levy payable to MHCLG — A retains £180k
B receives £100k from MHCLG in safety net payment

Total net growth retained of £180k (£90k better off not pooling)

9. Based on the above it is therefore proposed that Nottinghamshire would not operate a Business
Rates pool for 2026/27. This decision could be reviewed as part of Q1 monitoring in order to
understand what the impact of the changes have been on individual authorities, to determine
pooling viability in 2027/28.

Recommendations

1. To note the significant benefits of operating the Nottinghamshire Business Rates pool since
2013/14

2. To agree the dissolution of the Nottinghamshire Business Rates pool at the end of 2025/26 and
revoke the intent to pool in 2026/27 with MHCLG.

3. To review 2026/27 Business Rates Income levels after Q1 monitoring to determine potential
pooling viability in 2027/28.

105
page 143



12.8 Appendix 8 — Pay Policy Statement

1.1

1.2

1.3

2.2

Rushcliffe Borough Council
Pay Policy Statement 2026-2027
Introduction

This Statement sets out the Council’s policies in relation to the pay of its
workforce, particularly its Senior Officers, in line with Section 38 of the Localism
Act 2011. The Statement is approved by full Council each year and published
on the Council’s website demonstrating an open and transparent approach to

pay policy.

This Statement draws together the Council’s policies relating to the payment of
the workforce particularly:

. Senior Officers

. Its lowest paid employees; and

. The relationship between the pay of Senior Officers and the pay of other
employees

For the purposes of this statement ‘pay’ includes basic salary, pension and all
other allowances arising from employment.

Objectives of this Statement

This Statement sets out the Council’s key policy principles in relation to pay
evidencing a transparent and open process. It does not supersede the
responsibilities and duties placed on the Council in its role as an employer and
under employment law. These responsibilities and duties have been considered
when formulating the Statement.

This Statement aims to ensure the Council’'s approach to pay attracts and
retains a high performing workforce whilst ensuring value for money. It sits
alongside the information on pay that the Council already publishes as part of
its responsibilities under the Code of Practice for Local Authorities on Data
Transparency. Further details of this information can be found on the Council’s
website at the following address: https://www.rushcliffe.qov.uk/about-
us/about-the-council/senior-officers/

Senior Officers

For the purposes of this Statement, Senior Officers are defined as those posts
with a salary above £50,000 in line with the Local Government Transparency
Code 2015. Using this definition Senior Officers within Rushcliffe currently
consists of 11 posts out of an establishment of 320. The posts are as follows:

Chief Executive

Director — Finance and Corporate Services (Section 151 Officer)
Director — Development and Economic Growth

Director - Neighbourhoods

Monitoring Officer and Assistant Director of Law, Governance and HR

106
page 144


https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/about-the-council/senior-officers/
https://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/about-us/about-the-council/senior-officers/

5.2

5.3

6.2

Assistant Director of Finance

Assistant Director of Economic Growth, Property and Projects
Assistant Director of Planning

Assistant Director of Environment and Communities
Assistant Director of Public Protection

Assistant Director of Corporate Services

The Policies

The Council consults when setting pay for all employees. The Council will meet
or reimburse authorised travel, accommodation and subsistence costs for
attendance at approved business meetings and training events. The Council
does not regard such costs as remuneration but as non-pay operational costs.

Pay of the Council’s Lowest Paid Employees

The total number of Council employees is presently 320 The Council has
defined its lowest paid employees by taking the average salary of five
permanent staff on the lowest pay grade the Council operates, who are not
undergoing an apprenticeship. On this basis the lowest paid full-time equivalent
employee of the Council earned £24,521. The Council currently pays £12.71
per hour for its lowest paid employees but this will increase once the 2026/27
annual pay award is agreed.

The Council does not explicitly set the pay of any individual or group of posts
by reference to a pay multiple. The Council feels that pay multiples cannot
capture the complexity of a dynamic and highly varied workforce in terms of job
content, skills and experience required. In simple terms, the Council sets
different levels of basic pay to reflect differences in levels of responsibility.
Additionally, the highest paid employee of the Council’s salary does not exceed
10 times that of the lowest paid group of employees.

The Head of Paid Service, or their delegated representative, will give due
regard to the published Pay Policy Statement before the appointment of any
Officers. Full Council will have the opportunity to discuss any appointment of
Statutory Officer roles before an offer of appointment is made, in line with the
Council’'s Officer Employment procedure rules within Part 4 of the Council’s
Constitution. Appointment to Director level is via a member employment panel.

Additional Payments Made to Chief Officers — Election Duties

The Chief Executive is nominated as the Returning Officer. In accordance with
the national agreement, the Chief Executive is entitled to receive and retain the
personal fees arising from performing the duties of Returning Officer, Acting
Returning Officer, Deputy Returning Officer or Deputy Acting Returning Officer
and similar positions which they perform subject to the payment of pension
contributions thereon, where appropriate.

The role of Deputy Returning Officer may be applied to any other post and
payment may not be made simply because of this designation. Payments to the
Returning Officer are governed as follows:

« for national elections, fees are prescribed by legislation;

» for local elections, fees are determined within a local framework used by
other district councils within the county. This framework is applied
consistently and is reviewed periodically by lead Electoral Services Officers

107
page 145



6.3

within Nottinghamshire. This includes proposals on fees for all staff
employed in connection with elections. These fees are available for perusal
on the Council’s website.

As these fees are related to performance and delivery of specific elections
duties, they are distinct from the process for the determination of pay for Senior
Officers. The fees have been reviewed for 2026/27 and agreement made that
the fees will increase annually in line with the national pay award.

108
page 146



APPENDIX 8

Appendix to the Pay Policy
Policies on other aspects of pay
Process for setting the pay of Senior Officers

The pay of the Chief Executive is based on an agreed pay scale which is agreed
by Council prior to appointment. Changes to this are determined by the Leader,
Deputy Leader and Leader of the Opposition, who are advised by an agreed
external professional and the Strategic Human Resources Manager.

The pay of all Officers including Senior Officers is determined by levels of
responsibility, job content and the skills and experience required. Consideration
is also given to benchmarking against other similar roles, market forces and the
challenges facing the authority at that time and to maximise efficiency. The pay
of these posts is determined through the Chief Executive, or their nominated
representative, in consultation with the Strategic Human Resources Manager
and in line with the Council’s pay scales and its agreed scheme of delegation.

The Council moved away from the national conditions of service in 1990 and
pay scales are set locally.

As with all employees, the Council would look to appoint on the best possible
terms to secure the best candidate for the job. However, there are factors that
could influence the rate offered to an individual, including the relevant
experience of the candidate, their current rate of pay and market forces.

All Senior Officers are expected to devote the whole of their service to the
Authority and are excluded from taking up additional business, ad hoc services
or additional appointments without consent as set out in the Councils code of
conduct.

Terms and Conditions — All Employees

All employees are governed by the local terms and conditions as set out in the
Employee handbook available on the intranet.

Local Government Pension Scheme

Every employee is automatically enrolled into the Local Government Pension
Scheme. Employer and employee contributions are based on pensionable pay,
which is salary plus, for example, shift allowances, bonuses, contractual
overtime, statutory sick pay and maternity pay as relevant.

For more comprehensive details of the local government pension scheme see:
www.lgps.org.uk and www.nottspf.org.uk

Neither the scheme nor the Council adopt different policies with regard to
benefits for any category of employee and the same terms apply to all staff. It
is not normal Council policy to enhance retirement benefits but there is flexibility

109
page 147


http://www.lgps.org.uk/
http://www.nottspf.org.uk/

APPENDIX 8

contained within the policy for enhancement of benefits and the Council will
consider each case on its merits.

Car Allowances
The Council pays mileage rates at HMRC recommended rates.
Pay Increments

Where applicable pay increments for all employees are paid on an annual basis
until the maximum of the scale is reached. The Chief Executive, or their
nominated representative, has the discretion to award and remove increments
of officers’ dependant on satisfactory or unsatisfactory performance.

Relocation Allowance

Where it is necessary for a newly appointed employee to relocate to take up
appointment, the Council may make a contribution towards relocation
expenses. The same policy applies to Senior Officers and other employees.
Payment will be made against a range of allowable costs for items necessarily
incurred in selling and buying a property and moving into the area. The costs
include estate agents’ fees, legal fees, stamp duty, storage and removal costs,
carpeting and curtains, short term rental etc. The Council will pay 80% of some
costs and 100% of others or make a fixed sum available. If an employee leaves
within two years of first employment, they may be required to reimburse a
proportion of any relocation expenses.

Professional fees

The Council currently meets the cost of professional fees and subscriptions for
employees where it is a requirement of their employment or their contract.

Returning Officer Payments

In accordance with the national agreement the Chief Executive is entitled to
receive and retain the personal fees arising from performing the duties of
returning officer, acting returning officer, deputy returning officer or deputy
acting return officer and similar positions which they perform subject to the
payment of pension contributions thereon, where appropriate.

Fees for returning officer and other electoral duties are identified and paid
separately for local government elections, elections to the UK Parliament and
other electoral processes such as referenda. As these relate to performance
and delivery of specific elections duties, they are distinct from the process for
the determination of pay for Senior Officers.

Managing Organisational Change Policy

The Council has a Managing Organisation Change Policy which was originally
agreed by Council in March 2007 and is regularly reviewed. The Council also
has policies related to redundancy payments which is based on the length of

110
page 148



APPENDIX 8

continuous local government service, which is used to determine a multiplier,
which is then applied to actual pay.

The policy provides discretion to enhance the redundancy and pension
contribution of the individual, and each case would be considered taking into
account individual circumstances. Copies of the policies are available on the
Council’s website.

Payments on termination

The Council does not provide any further payment to employees leaving the
Council’'s employment other than in respect of accrued leave, which by
agreement is untaken at the date of leaving, or payments that are agreed or
negotiated in line with current employment law practices.

Publication of information relating to remuneration of Senior Officers

The Pay Policy Statement will be published annually on the Council’'s website
following its approval by full Council each year.

Gender Pay gap reporting

The Council publishes its Gender Pay Gap information annually on the
Council’'s website and on the Governments website.

111
page 149



APPENDIX 8

12.9 Appendix 9 — Capital and Investment Strategy 2026/27-2030/31

CAPITAL AND INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2026/27 — 2030/31

Introduction

1. The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to comply with the CIPFA
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the CIPFA code) when
carrying out capital and treasury management activities.

2. The Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) has
issued Guidance on Local Council Investments that requires the Council to
approve an investment strategy before the start of each financial year.

3.  This report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act
2003 to have regard to both the CIPFA Code and the MHCLG Guidance.

The Capital Strategy

4. The Council’s capital expenditure plans are summarised below and forms the
first of the prudential indicators. Capital expenditure needs to have regard to:

Corporate Priorities (e.g., strategic planning)

Stewardship of assets (e.g. asset management planning)

Value for money (e.g. option appraisal)

Prudence and sustainability (e.g. implications for external borrowing and
whole life costing)

Affordability (e.g. implications for council tax)

o Practicability (e.g. the achievability of the Corporate Strategy)

o Proportionality (e.g. risks associated with investment are proportionate
to financial capacity); and
o Environmental Social Governance (ESG) (e.g. address environmental

sustainability in a manner which is consistent with our corporate policies.
This is now a requirement of the Treasury Management (TM) Code)

5. Each year the Council will produce a Capital Programme to be approved by Full
Council in March as part of Council Tax setting.

6. Each scheme is supported by a detailed appraisal (which may also be a Cabinet
Report), as set out in the Council’s Financial Regulations. The capital appraisals
will address the following:

a) A detailed description of the project
b) How the project contributes to the Council’s Corporate Priorities and Strategic
Commitments (particularly the Council’s environmental and carbon policies)

112
page 150



APPENDIX 8

c) Anticipated outcomes and outputs

d) A consideration of alternative solutions

e) An estimate of the capital costs and sources of funding

f) An estimate of the revenue implications, including any savings and/or future
income generation potential

dg) A consideration of whether it is a new lease agreement (IFRS 16)

h) How the project affects the Council’'s Environmental targets

i) Any other aspects relevant to the appraisal of the scheme as the S151 Officer
may determine.

The appraisal requirement applies to all schemes except where there is regular
grant support and if commercial negotiations are due to take place and further
reporting to Cabinet or Full Council is therefore required.

From time-to-time unforeseen opportunities may arise, or new priorities may
emerge, which will require swift action and inclusion in the Capital Programme.
These schemes are still subject to the appraisal process, and the Capital
Programme will contain a contingency sum to allow such schemes to progress
without disrupting other planned capital activity.

Capital Prudential Indicators
a) Capital Expenditure Estimates

Capital expenditure can be financed immediately through the application of
capital resources, for example, capital receipts, capital grants or revenue
resources. However, if these resources are insufficient or a decision is taken not
to apply resources, the capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.
Table 1 summarises the capital expenditure projections and anticipated
financing. The detail behind the schemes is included in the Medium-Term
Financial Strategy (MTFS) presented to Full Council.

Table1: Projected Capital Expenditure and Financing

2025126 2026127 2027128 2028129 2029/30 2030/

Estimate Estimate  Estimate Estimate  Estimate Estimate

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital Expenditure 14,186 6,898 5,703 4,472 4,740 3,283
Less Financed by:

Capital Receipts 4 460 325 625 315 915 435
Capital Grants/ Contributions 3,720 2224 3,350 2487 1,850 a870
Reserves 6,006 4349 1,728 1670 1,975 1978
Total Financing 14,186 6,898 5,703 4,472 4,740 3,283
Underlying need to Borrow 0 0 0 0 0 0

113

page 151



APPENDIX 8

9. The key risks to the capital expenditure plans are that the level of grants
estimated are subject to change, anticipated capital receipts are not
realised/deferred or spend is more than expected in the medium term. We now
know New Homes Bonus has been discontinued in the 2026/27 finance
settlement.

b) The Council’s Underlying Need to Borrow and Investment position

10. The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) which remains a key indicator under the
Prudential Code. The CFR increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure
and reduces with Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) and capital receipts used
to replace debt. In addition, the CFR will reduce with any voluntary contributions
(VRP) made.

11. The Council also holds usable reserves and working capital which represent the
underlying resources available for investment. The Council’s current strategy is
to use these resources, by way of internal borrowing, to avoid the need to
externalise debt.

12. Table 2 below summarises the overall position regarding borrowing and available
investments. It shows a decrease in CFR as the final residual MRP payment in
relation to the Arena is made in 2026/27.

Table 2: CFR and Investment Resources

2025/26 2026127 2027128 202829 2029130  2030/31

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Opening CFR 10,010 8,362 7,125 6,693 6,381 6,063
CFR in year - - - - - -

Less: MRP,VRP IFRS16 MRP |  (1,848)] (1,237) (432) (312) (318) (325)
Closing CFR 8,362 7,125 6,693 6,381 6,063 5,738
Less: External Borrowing - - - - - -

Internal Borrowing 8,362 7,125 6,693 6,381 6,063 5738
Less:

Usable Reserves (33,573)| (32,7058) (33,1058) (32,8568)| (30,937)| (30,466)
Working Capital (46,301)] (44,301) (42,301) (40,301)] (38,301)] (38,301)
Available for Investment (71,512)| (69,881) (68,713) (66,776) (63,175)| (63,029)

*The CFR increase in 2024/25 arose from a change in the accounting for leases.

13. The Council is currently debt free and the assumption in the capital expenditure
plan is that the Council will not need to externally borrow over the period of the

114
page 152



14.

15.

APPENDIX 8

MTFS predominantly due to the ability to internally borrow using Community
infrastructure Levy (CIL) and S106 monies. Available resources (usable reserves
and working capital) gradually reduce with usable reserves being used over the
medium term to finance both capital and revenue expenditure. Reserves will
decrease further when spending plans are finalised and unknown costs such as
those relating to Local Government Reorganisation impact on the Council.
Working capital is projected to steadily reduce as S106 monies in relation to
education are no longer paid to the Council and monies from developers are
released.

Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding debt are shown below,
compared with the capital financing requirement (see above). Statutory
guidance is that debt should remain below the CFR, except in the short term. As
can be seen from table 3, the Council expects to comply with this. A reducing
CFR is also positive as the Council’s underlying need to borrow reduces.

Table 3 — Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing
Requirement

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Debt (IFRS16 lease liability) 2,321 1,848 1,350 1,093 955 811
Capital Financing Requirement 8,362 7,125 6,693 6,381 6,063 5,738

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy

MHCLG Regulations require the Governance Scrutiny Group to consider a
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement in advance of each year. Further
commentary regarding financing of the debt is provided in paragraphs 27-32. A
variety of options are provided to Councils, so long as there is prudent provision.
As with previous strategies, the Council implements the Asset Life Method
(Option 3 within the Guidance) with the following recommended MRP Statement:

MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in accordance with Option
3 of the regulations. Estimated life periods within this limit will be determined
under delegated powers, subject to any statutory override. (MHCLG revised
guidance states maximum asset lives of 40 and 50 years for property and land
respectively)

As some types of capital expenditure incurred by the Council are not capable of
being related to an individual asset, asset lives will be assessed on a basis which
most reasonably reflects the anticipated period of benefit that arises from the
expenditure. Also, whatever type of expenditure is involved, it will be grouped

115
page 153



16.

17.

18.

19.

APPENDIX 8

together in a manner which reflects the nature of the main component of
expenditure and will only be divided up in cases where there are two or more
major components with substantially different useful economic lives.

This option provides for a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately
the asset’s life.

As well as the need to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund
borrowing requirement, used to fund capital expenditure each year (the CFR),
through a revenue charge (the MRP), the Council is also permitted to make
additional voluntary contributions (VRP). In times of financial crisis, the Council
has the flexibility to reduce voluntary contributions. Once payments in relation to
the Arena finish (2026-27) the Council does not envisage making VRP
contributions on any other scheme. Table 2 (paragraph 12) includes the use of
capital receipts to bring the CFR down by funding capital expenditure.

Treasury Management Strateqy 2026/27 to 2030/31

The CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Services
(the “CIPFA Treasury Management Code”) defines treasury management
activities as:

“The management of the organisation’s borrowing, investments and
cash flows, including its banking, money market and capital market
transactions,the effective control of the risks associated with those
activities, and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with
those risks.”

The code also includes non-cash investments which are covered at paragraph
70 below. Under the revised Prudential code, investments are separated into
categories for Treasury Investment, Service Investment and Commercial
Investment.

The CIPFA CIPFA Treasury Management Code and the CIPFA Prudential Code
require local authorities to produce a Treasury Management Strategy before the
start of each financial year.

This Strategy includes those indicators that relate to the treasury management
functions and help ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are
affordable, prudent, and sustainable, while giving priority to the security and
liquidity of those investments. Treasury Management Practices (TMP) 1 sets out
the Council’s practices relating to Environmental Social Governance (ESG) and
is a developing area.

116
page 154



20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

APPENDIX 8

The Current Economic Climate and Prospects for Interest Rates

The impact on the UK from the government’s Autumn Budget, is an
influence on the Council’s treasury management strategy for 2026/27.
Other influences will include lower short-term interest rates alongside
higher medium and longer-term rates, modest economic growth, together
with ongoing uncertainties around the global economy, stock market
sentiment, and ongoing geopolitical issues.

The Bank of England’s (BoE) reduced the base rate to 3.75% at its meeting in
December 2025, down 25 basis points from 4%. This follows multiple cuts during
2025. The Council’s treasury advisors are expecting this downward trend to
continue over the medium turn with the next cut anticipated in February 2026 and
rates expected to stabilise around 3.25%.

The Consumer Prices Index (CPI) was 3.2% in November, down from 3.8% in
September and lower than the 3.5% expected. Core CPI eased to 3.2% from
3.5%, against forecasts of it being 3.6%. The BoE projects inflation to reach the
2% target by late 2026 or early 2027.

The labour market continues to ease with rising unemployment, falling vacancies
and flat inactivity. In the three months to October 2025, the unemployment rate
increased to 5.1%, while the employment rate slipped to 74.9%. Going forward,
the Bank predicts the unemployment rate will remain around 5.0% before
trending downwards in 2026 at a gradual pace over the rest of the time horizon.

Table 4 below shows the assumed average interest (which reflects a prudent
approach) that will be made over the next five years for budget setting purposes.

Table 4: Budgetary Impact of Assumed Interest Rate Going Forward

2026/27  2027/28  2028/29  2029/30 2030/31
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Anticipated Interest Rate 331%| 325%| 300%|  3.00% 3.00%
Epe"te” interest from investments | , 562 100| 1.235.200| 1.163.300| 1.001.000| 1,033,900
Other interest (£) 54400] 48s800] 44300 39.000] 35200
Total Interest (£) 1,317.500| 1,284,000 1,207,600| 1,131,800 1,069,100
Sensitivity: 3 3 3 3 3

" 0.25% Interesi Rate 82.100] _ 78.600]  84.700]  77.800] _ 83.100
+ 0.25% Interest Rate (82.100)] (78.600) (B4.700)] (77.800) (83.100)

In the event that a bank suffers a loss, the Council could be subject to bail-in to
assist with the recovery process. The impact of a bail-in depends on the size of
the loss incurred by the bank or building society, the amount of equity capital and
junior bonds that can be absorbed first and the proportion of insured deposits,
covered bonds and other liabilities that are exempt from bail-in.

117
page 155



26.

27.

28.

APPENDIX 8

The Council has managed bail-in risk by both reducing the amount that can be
invested with each institution to £10 million and by investment diversification
between creditworthy counterparties.

Borrowing Strateqgy 2026/27 to 2030/31

Prudential Indicators for External Debt

Table 2 above identifies that the Council will not need to externally borrow over
the MTFS instead choosing to internally borrow. Whilst this means that no
external borrowing costs (interest/debt management) are incurred, there is an
opportunity cost of using internal borrowing by way of lost interest on cash
balances.

The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

HM Treasury’s PWLB lending facility

National Wealth Fund (formerly UK Infrastructure Bank)

Any institution approved for investments

Any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK

Any other public sector body

UK public and private sector pension funds

Capital market bond investors

Retail investors via a regulated peer-to-peer platform

Special purpose companies created to enable local authority bond
issues

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) borrowing is at Gilts +80bps (certainty rate).
If applying, there is the need to categorise the capital programme into 5
categories including service, housing and regeneration (not anticipated). If any
Council has assets that are being purchased ‘primarily for yield’ anywhere in their
capital programme they will not be able to access PWLB funding.

Other sources of debt finance, in addition to the above, that are not borrowing
but may be classed as other debt liabilities are listed below. These options would
be subject to due diligence in the event that any are proposed methods to finance
Council debt.

Leasing

Hire purchase

Private Finance Initiative
Sale and leaseback

118
page 156



APPENDIX 8

. Similar asset-based finance

a) Authorised Limit for External Debt

29. The authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” required by section 3 (1)
of the Local Government Act 2003 and represents the limit beyond which
borrowing is prohibited. It shows the maximum amount the Council could afford
to borrow in the short term to maximise treasury management opportunities and
either cover temporary cash flow shortfalls or use for longer term capital
investment. It should be set higher than the CFR (see table 3) plus a safety
margin of £10m to £15m. The limits below satisfy this requirement.

Table 5: The Authorised Limit

2025/26  2026/27  2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000 £000

Authorised Limit 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000

b) Operational Boundary for External Debt

30. The operational boundary is the expected borrowing position of the Council
during the year. The operational boundary is not a limit, and actual borrowing
can be either below or above the boundary subject to the authorised limit not
being breached. The Operational Limit has been set at £15m (Table 6) and,
whilst the Council is not expected to externally borrow over the period of the
MTFS, this provides a cushion and gives flexibility should circumstances
significantly change.

Table 6: The Operational Boundary

2025/26  2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
o 1[1]1] o 1[1]1] £000 £'000 £000 £000

Operational Boundary 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000

119
page 157



31.

32.

APPENDIX 8

Chart 1 below shows the prudential indicators graphically

Prudential Indicators

25,000

20,000

15,000

£'000

10,000

5,000

2025-26 2026-27 2027-28 2028-29 2025-30 2020-31

s futhorised Limit — =s==QOperational Boundary CFR

The Council’s is required to show the maturity structure of borrowing. The Council
had no debt and is unlikely to need to borrow over the medium term and if it did,
it would only be for small amounts so there are no significant refinancing risks
and therefore the limits in the strategy do not need to be restrictive (see Table
7).

Table 7 — Prudential Indicator: Refinancing Risk Indicator

Refinancing rate risk indicator Upper limit Lower limit

Under 12 months 100% 0%
12 months an within 24 months 100% 0%
24 months and within 5 years 100% 0%
5 years and within 10 years 100% 0%
10 years and above 100% 0%

The Liability Benchmark reflects the real need to borrow and can be seen in table
8. In accordance with the Code this must also be shown graphically (Chart 2).
The Council’s CFR is reducing due to MRP repayments. Reserves are being
used to fund future capital expenditure and working capital/S106 monies are
returning to a normal level. As demonstrated by the credit figures below, the
Council expects to be a long-term investor and has no need to borrow over the
medium term.

120
page 158



Table 8 Prudential Indicator: Liability Benchmark

Closing CFR

Less:

Usable Reserves

Working Capital

Plus minimum investments
LIABILITY BENCHMARK

APPENDIX 8

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'000
8,362

£'000
7,125

£'000
6,693

10,000 10,000 10,000

(33,573) (32,705) (33,105) (32,856) (30,937) (30,466)
(46,301) (44,301) (42,301) (40,301) (38,301) (38,301)

£'000
6,381

£'000
6,063

£'000
5,738

10,000 10,000 10,000

(61,512) (59,881) (58,713) (56,776) (53,175) (53,029)

Chart 2 Prudential Indicator: Liability Benchmark

Total Amount (£:000)

Liability Benchmark

£20,000

£10,000

£0
£10,000
£20,000
-£30,000
-£40,000
£50,000

-£60,000

£70,000

-£80,000

2025 2026 2027 2028 2025 2030

=== Net Loans Requirement (forecast net loan debt) | pans CFR

= = | jahility Benchmark [Gross Loans Requirement)

2021

Prudential Indicators for Affordability

33. Affordability indicators provide details of the impact of capital investment plans
on the Council’s overall finances.

34.

stream

a) Actual and estimates of the ratio of net financing costs to net revenue

This indicator identifies the trend in net financing costs which include borrowing
costs (MRP and IFRS16 interest for Rushcliffe) less investment income, against
net revenue income. The purpose of the indicator is to show how the proportion
of net income used to pay for financing costs is changing over time.

page 159

121



APPENDIX 8

35. A credit indicates net interest earned rather than an interest cost. The figures
fluctuate over the MTFS period, but all figures after 2026/27 are a credit. This is
reflective of the reducing MRP payments, as payments in relation to Rushcliffe
Arena finish in 2026/27. There are other non-treasury capital commitments in
relation to Rushcliffe Oaks Crematorium and Bingham Arena and Enterprise
Centre which give rise to further MRP, but repayments are lower because they
are spread over a longer period.

36. Net revenue streams fluctuate over the period. Following the Fair Funding
Review, individual income streams (such as New Homes Bonus) have now been
replaced with a single Revenue Support Grant to support transition and provide
a funding ‘floor’. Allocations are confirmed until 2028/29 after which it is expected
that this will reduce. Later years also reflect both the downward trend in interest
from lower investment balances and fluctuating net revenue streams from
Council Tax and Localised Business Rate changes.

Table 9: Proportion of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Net Interest Payable/(Receivable) 34 (762) (831) (762) (699)
Net Revenue Stream 17,907 17,705 17,445 16,394 17,057

Financing costs:Net Revenue Stream 0.19% -4.30% -4.76% -4.65% -4.10%

b) Estimates of net income to net revenue stream

37. This indicator that looks at net income from commercial and service investments
(for example it includes Rushcliffe Oaks Crematorium and Bingham Market) and
expresses it as a percentage of net revenue streams. The increase reflects rent
increases and improved commercial performance of the crematorium.

Table 10: Proportion of Net Income to Net Revenue Stream

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Net Income from investments (2,094) (2,284) (2,345) (2,411) (2,482)
Met Revenue Stream 17,90? 17,705 17,445 16,394 1?,057

Net Income:Net Revenue Stream 11.7%  129%  134%  14.7%  14.6%

Investment Strateqgy 2026/27 to 2030/31

122
page 160



APPENDIX 8

38. Table 11 below shows the Council’s investment balance projections. The
downward movement reflects the use of capital receipts to finance capital
expenditure. In addition, it reflects the release of S106 monies and the loss of
S106 receipts for Education which are no longer paid to the Council.

Table 11: Investment Projections

2025/26  2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Investments at 31

March £'000 71,500 59,900 68,700 66,600 63,200 63,000

39. The CIPFA Code requires the Council to invest its funds prudently, and to have
regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest
rate of return. The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an
appropriate balance between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring
losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitable low investment income.
Where balances are expected to be invested for more than one year, the Council
will aim to achieve a total return that is equal or higher than the prevailing rate of
inflation, to maintain the spending power of the sum invested. The Council aims
to be a responsible investor and will consider environmental, social and
governance (ESG) issues when investing (see paragraph 41). The Council
ensures that robust due diligence procedures cover all external investments.

40. As demonstrated by the liability benchmark above (paragraph 32), the Council
expects to be a long-term investor and treasury investments will therefore include
both short-term low risk instruments to manage day to day cash flows and longer-
term instruments where limited additional risk is accepted in return for higher
investment income to support the services the Council provides.

41. ESG policy: Environmental, social and governance (ESG) considerations are
increasingly a factor in global investors’ decision making, but the framework for
evaluating investment opportunities is still developing and therefore the Council’s
ESG policy does not currently include ESG scoring or other real-time ESG criteria
at an individual investment level. When investing in banks and funds, the Council
will (in accordance with treasury advice) prioritise banks that are signatories to
the UN Principles for Responsible Banking and funds operated by managers that
are signatories to the UN Principles for Responsible Investment, the Net Zero
Asset Managers Alliance (NZAM) and/or the UK Stewardship Code. Note that
the NZAM is currently suspended but has announced a resumption from January
2026. Ultimately security, liquidity and yield are the overriding principles that
drive where the council invests its resources.

123
page 161



42.

43.

44,

45.

APPENDIX 8

The Council will keep under review the sensitivity of its treasury assets and
liabilities to inflation and will seek to manage the risk accordingly in the context
of the whole of the Council’s inflation exposures.

The Council will invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types in
Table 12 below, subject to the limits shown and counterparties included at
Appendix i.

Table 12: Counterparty Details

Sector Time limit Counterparty limit Sector limit
The UK Government 50 years Unlimited n/a
Igsii::suthorities & other government 25 years £10m Untimited
Secured investments - government collateral 25 years £10m Unlimited
Secured investments - other collateral® 10 years £10m Unlimited
Banks (unsecured) * 13 months E£5m Unlimited
Building societies (unsecured) * 13 months £5m £5m
Registered providers (unsecured) * 5 years £5m £5m
Money market funds * n/a £10m Unlimited
Strategic pooled funds n/a £10m £30m
Real estate investment trusts n/a £5m E10m
Other investments * 5 years £5m £10m

*Please refer to Glossary at Appendix (iv)

Although the above table details the counterparties that the Council could invest
funds with, it would not invest funds with counterparties against the advice of
Arlingclose (the Council’s Treasury Management Advisors) even if they met the
criteria above.

Credit rating information is provided by Arlingclose on all active counterparties
that comply with the criteria above. A counterparty list will be maintained from
this information and any counterparty not meeting the criteria will be removed
from the list.

Where an entity has its credit rating downgraded so that it fails to meet the
approved investment criteria then:
¢ no new investments will be made,

124
page 162




46.

47.

48.

49.

50.

51.

APPENDIX 8

e any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, and
e full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing
investments with the affected counterparty.

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for
possible downgrade (also known as “rating watch negative” or “credit watch
negative”) so that it may fall below the approved rating criteria, then only
investments that can be withdrawn (on the next working day), will be made with
that organisation until the outcome of the review is announced. This policy will
not apply to negative outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel
rather than an imminent change of rating.

The Council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors
of investment default. Full regard will be given to other available information on
the credit quality of the organisations in which it invests, including financial
statements, information on potential government support, reports in the quality
financial press and analysis and advice from Arlingclose.

The Council is aware that investments with certain counterparties, while
considered secure from a purely financial perspective, may leave it open to
criticism that may affect its public reputation, and this risk will also be considered
when making investment decisions. Many local authorities are not rated by credit
rating agencies, although some are. The Council will always take reasonable
steps as mentioned in paragraph 47 and carry out due diligence before investing.

Although the Council has never made use of financial derivatives and has no
current plans to do so, in line with the CIPFA code, the Council would seek
external advice before entering into such an agreement to ensure that it fully
understands the implications (see paragraph 64 for more detail).

Credit Risk

The CIPFA Treasury Management Code recommends that organisations should
clearly specify the minimum acceptable credit quality of its counterparties;
however, they should not rely on credit ratings alone and should recognise their
limitations. Full regard will therefore be given to other available information on
the credit quality of the organisations, in which it invests, including credit default
swap prices, financial statements, information on potential government support
and reports in the quality financial press. No investments will be made with an
organisation if there are substantial doubts about its credit quality, even though
it may meet the credit rating criteria.

When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the credit worthiness of all
organisations, as happened in 2008 and 2011, this is not generally reflected in
credit ratings, but can be seen in other market measures. In these
circumstances, the Council will restrict its investments to those organisations of

125
page 163



52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

APPENDIX 8

higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its investments to
maintain the required level of security. The extent of these restrictions will be in
line with prevailing financial market conditions. If these restrictions mean that
insufficient commercial organisations of high credit quality are available to invest
the Council’s cash balances, then the surplus will be deposited with the UK
Government, via the Debt Management Office or invested in government
treasury bills for example, or with other local authorities. This will cause a
reduction in the level of investment income earned but will protect the principal
sum invested.

Current investments

The Council uses its own processes to monitor cash flow and determine the
maximum period for which funds may prudently be committed. The forecast is
compiled on a prudent basis to minimise the risk of the Council being forced to
borrow on unfavourable terms to meet its financial commitments. Limits on long-
term investments are set by reference to the Council’s medium term financial
strategy and cash flow forecast.

Surplus funds are invested in accordance with the Council’'s cash flow
requirements in order to gain the maximum benefit from the Council’s cash
position throughout the year. Generally speaking, in times of declining interest
rates it is prudent to lock into longer deals to take advantage of higher rates,
whilst also ensuring a diversified portfolio. Funds are separated between service
investment and non-specified investments as detailed in paragraphs 57 to 59
below.

The Council currently holds a total of £15m in pooled/diversified funds. The fair
value of these funds fluctuates, and the current value of these investments can
be seen in Appendix ii. The downward trend experienced in previous years is
starting to reverse but these funds are still susceptible to global unrest, inflation
and monetary policies.

The fluctuations in capital value of the pooled/diversified funds to date is a loss
of £0.561m. This is currently reversed by the statutory override preventing any
accounting loss impacting on the revenue accounts. This is due to end 1 April
2029. The risk of this loss crystalising after this period has been mitigated by
appropriations of £1.310m to the Treasury Capital Depreciation Reserve.

It should be noted that whilst the capital value of this type of investment can
fluctuate, the revenue returns make up a significant proportion of the overall
returns on investments. The fair value of these investments accounted for 16%
of average investment balances in 2024/25 but generated 34% interest. The
Council will continue to monitor the position on these investments and take
advice from the treasury advisors.

126
page 164



57.

58.

59.

60.

APPENDIX 8

Service investments

The Council invests its money for three broad purposes:

e because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities (treasury
management),

e to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other
organisations (service investments), and

e to earn investment income (or known as commercial investments where this
is the main purpose).

The Council can lend money to its suppliers, parish councils, local businesses,
local charities, employees, housing associations to support local public services
and stimulate local growth, normally at market interest rates. The Council has
existing loans to Nottinghamshire Cricket Club which not only stimulates the local
economy but provides social outcomes. The Trent Bridge Community Trust
delivers projects that have positive impacts on local communities such as
tackling social exclusion and anti-social behaviour. The main risk when making
service loans is that the borrower may be unable to repay the principal lent and/or
the interest due. In order to limit this risk and ensure that total exposure to service
loans remains proportionate to the size of the Council, the upper limit on any
category of borrower will be £5 million.

Non-specified investments

Shares are the only investment type that the Council has identified that meets
the definition of a non-specified investment in the government guidance. The
Council does not intend to make any such investments, that are defined as
capital expenditure by legislation.

Investment Limits

The Council’s revenue reserves available to cover investment losses in a worst-
case scenario are forecast to be around £17.5 million on 31st March 2026 and
£19.3 million on 318t March 2027. The maximum that will be lent unsecured to
any one organisation (other than the UK Government) will be £10 million (table
12). This figure is constantly under review to assess risk in the case of a single
default. A group of banks under the same ownership will be treated as a single
organisation for limit purposes. Limits will also be placed on fund managers,
investments in brokers’ nominee accounts, foreign countries, and industry
sectors as below. Investments in pooled funds and multilateral development
banks do not count against the limit for any single foreign country since the risk
is diversified over many countries.

127
page 165



61.

62.

APPENDIX 8

Table 13: Additional investment limits

Cash limit
Any group of pooled funds under the same management £10m per manager
Investments held in a broker’s nominee account £10m per broker
Foreign countries £3m per country

Treasury Management limits on activity

The Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury management
risks using the following indicators:

a) Interest Rate Exposures

This indicator is set to control the Council’'s exposure to interest rate risk. The
upper limits on fixed and variable rate interest rate exposure is usually expressed
as a percentage of the amount of net interest payable. However, for the Council,
interest costs on borrowing are greatly exceeded by interest and investment
income, therefore the upper limit for fixed and variable interest rate exposure in
absolute terms will be negative. The Council has set a limit of 50% on fixed
interest rate exposure. During a time of falling interest rates as forecast
(paragraph 24) this indicator should not be restrictive or prevent the Council from
locking more investments into higher interest rates. The definition of fixed rate
investments and borrowings are those where the rate of interest is fixed for at
least 12 months, measured from the start of the financial year or the transaction
date if later. All other instruments are classed as variable rate.

Table 14: Interest Rate Exposure

2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

Upper Limit on fixed

. 50% 50% 50% 50% 50%
interest rate exposure

50%

Upper Limit on variable

. 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
interest rate exposure

100%

128
page 166




63.

64.

65.

66.

APPENDIX 8

Principal Sums Invested over 1 year

This limit is intended to contain exposure to the possibility of any loss that may
arise as a result of the Council having to seek early repayment of any
investments made. It includes long-term investments with no fixed maturity date
including strategic pooled/diversified funds. The limits on the long-term principal
sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end are set at 50% of the sum
available for investment (to the nearest £100k), as follows:

Table 15: Principal Sums Invested over 1 year

2025/26  2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30  2030/31

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Limit on Principal
invested over 1 35,800 34,900 34,400 33,400 31,600 31,500
year £'000

Policy on the use of financial derivatives

Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded
into loans and investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g., interest rate
collars and forward deals) and to reduce costs or increase income at the expense
of greater risk (e.g., LOBO (Lender Option Borrowers Option) loans and callable
deposits). The general power of competence in Section 1 of the Localism Act
2011 removes much of the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of standalone
financial derivatives (i.e., those that are not embedded into a loan or investment).

The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps,
forwards, futures, and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce
the overall level of the financial risks that the Council is exposed to. Additional
risks presented, such as credit exposure to derivative counterparties, will be
considered when determining the overall level of risk. Embedded derivatives,
including those present in pooled funds and forward starting transactions, will not
be subject to this policy, although the risks they present will be managed in line
with the overall treasury risk management strategy.

Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that
meets the approved investment criteria. The current value of any amount due
from a derivative counterparty will count against the counterparty credit limit and
the relevant foreign country limit.

129
page 167



67.

68.

69.

70.

71.

APPENDIX 8

Treasury Management Advisors

Arlingclose will act as the Council’s treasury management advisors until 31
October 2026 (with optional extension to 31 October 2028). The company
provides a range of services which include:

o Technical support on treasury matters and capital finance issues

o Economic and interest rate analysis

o Investment advice on interest rates, timing, and investment instruments;
and

o Credit ratings/market information service comprising the three main

credit rating agencies.

Whilst the treasury management advisors provide support to the internal treasury
function, the current market rules and the CIPFA Treasury Management Code
confirms that the final decision on treasury management matters rests with the
Council. The service provided by the Council’s treasury management advisors
is subject to regular review.

Other Options Considered

The MHCLG Guidance and the CIPFA Code do not prescribe any particular
treasury management strategy for local authorities to adopt. The Director of
Finance and Corporate Services, having consulted the Cabinet Member for
Finance, believes that the above strategy represents an appropriate balance
between risk management and cost effectiveness. Our policy is to have a
feathered approach ie a range of counterparties spread over different time
periods (short/medium/long term), this mitigates risk of changes in credit ratings
and interest rates whether they go up or down.

Commercial Investments

The CIPFA definition of investments in treasury management activities above
(paragraph 17) covers all financial assets of the organisation as well as other
non-financial assets which the organisation holds primarily for financial returns,
such as investment property portfolios. This may therefore include investments
which are not managed as part of normal treasury management or under treasury
management delegations.

Under the updated Prudential Code, Local Authorities are no longer allowed to

borrow to fund non-financial assets solely to generate a profit.

130
page 168



72.

73.

74.

75.

76.

77.

APPENDIX 8

The Council will maintain a summary of current material investments,
subsidiaries, joint ventures, and liabilities, including financial guarantees and the
organisation’s risk exposure. The current summary is included at Appendix iii.

The Council will also monitor past commercial property investments against
original objectives and consider plans to divest as part of a biennial review. The
last report was presented to Governance Scrutiny Group in February 2024 (see
paragraph 83) with the next report due in June 2026.

Proportionality is included as an objective in the Prudential Code. Clarification
and definitions to define commercial activity and investment are also included,
and the purchase of commercial property purely for profit cannot lead to an
increased capital financing requirement (CFR).

The Council must disclose its dependence on commercial income, and the
contribution non-core investments make towards core functions. This covers
assets previously purchased through the Council’s Asset Investment Strategy
(AIS), as well as other pre-existing commercial investments.

a. Dependence on commercial income and contribution non-core
investments make towards core functions

The expected contributions from existing commercial investments are shown in
Table 16. To manage the risk to the Council’s budget, the contribution from
commercial investments should not account for a significant proportion of the
Council’s total income. Over the medium term the contribution from commercial
investments is around 10% each year leaving the Council less exposed to risks
surrounding commercial property.

This percentage is declining over the medium term due to the Council’s budgeted
total income increasing relative to rental income.

131
page 169



78.

APPENDIX 8

Table 16: Commercial Investment income and costs

2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 2029/30 2030/31

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Commercial Property Income (1,837) (1,940) (1,940) (1,940) (1,940)
Running Costs 503 483 492 501 510
Net Contribution to core functions (1,333) (1,457) (1,448) (1,439) (1,430)
Interest from Commercial Loans (55) (49) (44) {(40) (35)
Total Contribution (1,388) (1,508) (1,492) (1,479) (1,465)
Sensitivity:

+/- 10% Commercial Property Income 184 194 194 194 194
Indicator:

Total Contribution as a % of total

Council Income 100% 104% 10.0% 98% 95%
Total Income 13,952 14,441 14,864 15,147 15435

b) Risk Exposure Indicators

The Council can minimise its exposure to risk by spreading investments across
sectors and by avoiding single large-scale investments (Chart 3 and 4 below).
Generally, there is a spread of investment across sectors in the Council’s
portfolio. The Council’s previous commitment to economic regeneration (not
purely financial return) has meant that many of its investments have been in
industrial units, which have been very successful. This is closely followed by
income from Office accommodation which in some cases is linked to economic
regeneration schemes. Bingham Enterprise Centre is the latest investment which
is now fully let and generating rental income of £108,000 per annum.

132
page 170



APPENDIX 8

Chart 3 Investment Income by Cateqgory

Investment Property Income by Category

Category b
= [ndustrial
= Office
= Other
Retail

= Commerdial Loans

c) Security and Liquidity

Chart 4 Investment by Asset Value

% split by asset value 31.3.25

Category -
= £1,000,000 to £2,000,000

= £500,000 to £1,000,000
® Greater Than £2,000,000

under £500,000

79. Commercial investments are held for longer term asset appreciation as well as
yield. Investments or sales decisions will normally be planned as part of the
consideration of the 5-year capital strategy to maximise the potential return.
Nevertheless, the local and national markets are monitored to ensure any gains
are maximised or losses minimised.

80. To help ensure asset values are maintained the assets are given quarterly
inspections, together with a condition survey every 3 years. Any works required
to maintain the value of the property will then form part of Council’s spending
plans.

133
page 171



81.

82.

83.

84.

85.

APPENDIX 8

The liquidity of the assets is also dependent on the condition of the property, the
strength of the tenants and the remaining lease lengths. The Council keeps these
items under review with a view to maximising the potential liquidity and value of
the property wherever possible.

The liquidity considerations for commercial investments are intrinsically linked to
the level of cash and short-term investments, which help manage and mitigate
the Council’s liquidity risk.

The investments are subject to ongoing review with regards to their financial
viability or indeed whether they are surplus to requirement. At the February 2024
Governance Scrutiny Group Meeting, details on the risks surrounding the
Council’'s commercial properties were reported, as well as providing a pathway
to potential commercial asset disposal, if required.

Knowledge and Skills

The TM Code requires Local Authorities to document a formal and
comprehensive knowledge and skills schedule reflecting the need to ensure that
both members and officers responsible for treasury management are suitably
trained and kept up to date (TMP 10). There will be specific training for members
involved in scrutiny and broader training for members who sit on full Council.
Training for Members was last delivered in January 2026. The Council
specifically addressing this important issue by:

o Periodically facilitating workshops for members on finance issues.
o Interim reporting and advising members of Treasury issues when
necessary via Governance Scrutiny Group.

With regards to officers, the Council employs professionally qualified and
experienced staff in senior positions and continues to support professional
development by:

. Attendance at training events, seminars, and workshops; and
o Support from the Council’s treasury management advisors
o Identifying officer training needs on treasury management related issues

through the Performance Development and Review appraisal process

The Council will continue to have its Annual Treasury Management training
session with Councillors provided by its Treasury advisers.

134
page 172



APPENDIX 8

Appendix (i)

Counterparty Registrations under MIFID I

The Council is registered with the following regulated financial services
organisations who may arrange investments with other counterparties with
whom they have themselves registered:

BGC Brokers LP

Royal London Asset Management
Tradition UK Ltd

King & Shaxson

Aberdeen Asset Management
Aviva

Institutional Cash Distributors Ltd
Federated Investors (UK) LLP
Invesco Asset Management Ltd
CCLA

Goldman Sachs Asset Management
Black Rock

Aegon Asset Management
Ninety-One

HSBC Asset Management
Imperial Treasury Services

135
page 173



APPENDIX 8

Appendix (ii)

Pooled Funds — Changes in Fair Value since Acquisition

Difference

Difference in valuation

Fair Value  Fair Value from Amount from initial

Pooled Funds 31.03.25 31.12.25 31.03.25 Invested investment
Aegon-Previously Kames 4,560,790 4,955,654 394,864 5,000,000 (44,346)
Ninety One-Previously Investec 4,518,894 4,621,171 102,277 5,000,000 (378,829)
RLAM 1,015,613 1,026,306 10,692 1,000,000 26,306
CCLA Property 2,008,092 2,011,052 2,960 2,000,000 11,052
CCLA Divesified 1,825,481 1,824,177 (1,303) 2,000,000 (175,823)
13,928,870| 14,438,360 509,491 15,000,000 (561,640)

136

page 174



APPENDIX 8

Appendix (iii)
Current Book Value of Non-Treasury Investments

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The Point Office Accommodation 3.282 3.272
Hollygate Lane, Cotgrave Industrial Units 2.944 2.776
Unit 3 Edwalton Business Park 2.194 2.223
Bardon Single Industrial Unit 1.929 1.929
Unit 1 Edwalton Business Park 1.731 1.787
Trent Boulevard 1.414 1.428
Colliers Business Park Phase 2 1.511 1.386
Cotgrave Phase 2 1.231 1.227
Bingham Hub Offices 1.116 1.112
Bridgford Hall Aparthotel and Registry O 0.955 1.061
Finch Close 0.914 0.911
Boundary Court 0.742 0.787
Colliers Business Park Phase 1 0.863 0.775
Cotgrave Precinct Shops 0.526 0.487
Mobile Home Park 0.477 0.477
New Offices Cotgrave 0.504 0.470
TOTAL INVESTMENT PROPERTY 22.333 22.108
Notts County Cricket Club Loan 1.384 1.499
TOTAL 23.717 23.607

137
page 175



APPENDIX 9

Appendix (iv)
Glossary

CPI: is the consumer price index. A measure of the cost of living for the typical person.

Core CPI: is the CPI for energy and food prices.

Minimum credit rating: Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an asterisk
will only be made with entities whose lowest published long-term credit rating is no
lower than [AA-]. Where available, the credit rating relevant to the specific investment
or class of investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used.
However, investment decisions are never made solely based on credit ratings, and all
other relevant factors including external advice will be considered.

For entities without published credit ratings, investments may be made either (a)
where external advice indicates the entity to be of similar credit quality; or (b) to a
maximum of £10 million per counterparty as part of a diversified pool e.g. via a peer-
to-peer platform.

T Time limits

These start on the earlier of date that the Authority is committed to make the
investment and the date that cash is transferred to the counterparty.

UK Government

Sterling-denominated investments with or explicitly guaranteed by the UK
Government, including the Debt Management Account Deposit Facility,
treasury bills and gilts. These are deemed to be zero credit risk due to the
government’s ability to create additional currency and therefore may be made
in unlimited amounts for up to 50 years.

Local authorities and other government entities: Loans to, and bonds and
bills issued or guaranteed by, other national governments, regional and local
authorities and multilateral development banks. These investments are not
subject to bail-in, and there is generally a lower risk of insolvency, although they
are not zero risk. The counterparty limit for loans to local authorities will be
increased to an unlimited amount where (a) the government has announced
that the Council will merge with the borrowing authority and (b) the loan is
scheduled to be repaid after the expected date of the merger.

138
page 176



APPENDIX 9

Secured investments: Investments secured on the borrower’s assets, which
limits the potential losses in the event of insolvency. The amount and quality of
the security will be a key factor in the investment decision. Covered bonds,
secured deposits and reverse repurchase agreements with banks and building
societies are exempt from bail-in. Where there is no investment specific credit
rating, but the collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit
rating, the higher of the collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating
will be used. The combined secured and unsecured investments with any one
counterparty will not exceed the cash limit for secured investments. A higher
limit applies for investments fully secured on UK or other government collateral.

Banks and building societies (unsecured): Accounts, deposits, certificates
of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks and building societies, other
than multilateral development banks. These investments are subject to the risk
of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine that the bank is failing
or likely to fail. See below for arrangements relating to operational bank
accounts.

Registered providers (unsecured): Loans to, and bonds issued or
guaranteed by, registered providers of social housing or registered social
landlords, formerly known as housing associations. These bodies are regulated
by the Regulator of Social Housing (in England), the Scottish Housing
Regulator, the Welsh Government and the Department for Communities (in
Northern Ireland). As providers of public services, they retain the likelihood of
receiving government support if needed.

Money market funds: Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice liquidity
and very low or no price volatility by investing in short-term money markets.
They have the advantage over bank accounts of providing wide diversification
of investment risks, coupled with the services of a professional fund manager
in return for a small fee. Although no sector limit applies to money market funds,
the Council will take care to diversify its liquid investments over a variety of
providers to ensure access to cash at all times.

Strategic pooled funds: Bond, equity and property funds, including exchange
traded funds, that offer enhanced returns over the longer term but are more
volatile in the short term. These allow the Council to diversify into asset classes
other than cash without the need to own and manage the underlying
investments. Because these funds have no defined maturity date, they can be
either withdrawn after a notice period or sold on an exchange, their
performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s investment
objectives will be monitored regularly.

Real estate investment trusts: Shares in companies that invest mainly in real
estate and pay the majority of their rental income to investors in a similar

139
page 177



APPENDIX 9

manner to pooled property funds. As with property funds, REITs offer enhanced
returns over the longer term but are more volatile especially as the share price
reflects changing demand for the shares as well as changes in the value of the
underlying properties.

Other investments: This category covers treasury investments not listed
above, for example unsecured corporate bonds and unsecured loans to
companies and universities. Non-bank companies cannot be bailed-in but can
become insolvent placing the Council’s investment at risk.

Operational bank accounts: The Council may incur operational exposures,
for example though current accounts, collection accounts and merchant
acquiring services, to any UK bank. These are not classed as investments but
are still subject to the risk of a bank bail-in and balances will therefore be kept
below £10 million per bank. The Bank of England has stated that in the event
of failure, banks with assets greater than £25 billion are more likely to be bailed-
in than made insolvent, increasing the chance of the Council maintaining
operational continuity.

140
page 178



APPENDIX 10

12.10 Appendix 10 — Cabinet Addendum 10 February 2026

Second Homes Premium and Terminally lll Council Tax Discount — Extract
Cabinet Addendum 10 February 2026

1. Second Homes Premium

1.1 A second home is defined as a furnished property that is not occupied
as anyone’s main residence but is suitable for overnight accommodation. From
1 April 2025, Rushcliffe Borough Council has applied a 100% Council Tax
premium (doubling the charge) to homes that have been second homes for over
12 months. It was introduced as part of the Levelling-up and Regeneration Act
2023. The intention of the policy was to encourage properties back into full use
and support housing availability, rather than primarily to raise revenue.

1.2 To date 165 properties have been affected by the Second Home
Premium in 2025/26, with 130 currently as at 01 February 2026. This difference
is likely to be because properties have gone back into full occupation. The
premium generates an extra income of £290k for the collection fund per annum.
The Rushcliffe element of this is approximately 7%, which equates to £20,300.
Note these figures are applicable based on Council Tax rates for 2025/26 and
should the precepts increase in future years the income generated will increase
accordingly.

1.3  Several exceptions apply, including where a property is being actively
marketed for sale or rent, is subject to probate, is used as a job-related dwelling
where the individual as a condition of the job has to be located in Rushcliffe eg
a caretaker, forms part of an annexe, or is restricted as holiday accommodation.
Armed forces personnel are also exempt from the premium.

1.4  Empty-homes premiums are designed to encourage occupation, and the
Council has a strong, well-evidenced empty homes strategy. It is arguable
whether the second-homes premium aligns well with the aims or effectiveness
of the existing Empty Homes Strategy. The fact the number has reduced to 130
may indicate some success but the quantum is small given the Council has
over 55,000 chargeable properties (ie 0.23%).

1.5 Interms of comparison of all of the other Nottinghamshire councils RBC,
GBC and Nottingham City are the Councils to adopt the policy. NSDC are
proposing to introduce from April 2026. Based on Collection Fund statistics 73%
of authorities in England have introduced the policy.

1.6  Revoking the policy could reduce the Council’s income by approximately
£20k per year (£100k across the MTFS). However, given the volatility of Council
Tax receipts and possible changes to the tax base and discounts, the impact
will be managed within such fluctuations. The tax base will be adjusted in future
years to reflect the lower chargeable amount when we update the MTFS for
2027/28 onwards.

141
page 179



APPENDIX 10

1.7  As Cabinet are recommending revoking the Policy legislation dictates
that to remove the premium this would have to be agreed in the previous
financial year, thus it will be an additional recommendation in the Full Council
Budget Report and the MTFS will be updated to reflect the policy change within
the Council Tax section. It is now recommended to go to scrutiny first and
if there is any policy change this is to be reflected in the 2027/28 MTFS.

2. Council Tax Discount for the Terminally Il

2.1 During 2024, Marie Curie, the UK’s leading end of life charity, published a report
that explored poverty and fuel poverty at the end of life in the UK. The report
identified that in 2023, 111,000 people died in poverty, more than one in six deaths
registered in England, Scotland and Wales. A number of Councils are starting to
introduce a Council Tax discount scheme for the terminally ill, Newark and
Sherwood being one such Council, with their scheme commencing from April 2026.

2.2 This is the scheme that has currently been approved by NSDC to
operate from 01/04/2026. This does not pre-empt what a scrutiny review may
determine but gives working assumptions:

* Liable for Council Tax in Rushcliffe
* One family member in household is terminally ill
» The household is in receipt of council tax support through the LCTS scheme

* The applicant has a completed SR1 form (completed by a medical
professional), which advises that the named person:

o has a progressive disease, and

o because of that disease, the expected remaining life of the patient is less than
12 months.

2.2 There are risks surrounding estimating the budget. We do not know the number of
people on LCTS and the level of LCTS and therefore the level of Council Tax
support, who are terminally ill or how this may change in the future. The scheme
would be administered as a S13a local discount, so all costs of the scheme would
be borne by Rushcliffe Borough Council. This cost may vary between £30k and
£150k per year.

2.3Based on an average LCTS payment for 36 people who are terminally ill we have
allowed for £27,000 plus £13,000 contingency, so an annual budget of £40,000.
Over 5 years this is £0.2m and therefore will reduce the budget surplus position

2.4MTFS implications:
e An additional £40k expenditure budget is suggested to cover the cost of the

scheme. Over 5 years is £0.2m cost reducing the surplus as currently reported.

142
page 180



APPENDIX 10

Any reference to £0.569m surplus over the MTFS period would become
£0.369m

Any reference to reserves balance would be £0.2m less by 2031(appendix 4,
table 16)

Table 12 — expenditure will increase by £40k per year overall with the increase
on the transfer payments line

Table 14 — gross expenditure line will increase and transfer to reserves will
reduce by £40k per year (table 15 transfer to reserves will be equally affected)

Table 17 — net budget deficit or surplus will change by the £40k each year

To add into the risks section of the report as ultimately we do not know the
number of residents who would be subject to the discount, scheme to be agreed
as part of a Scrutiny Review

The scheme can be applied retrospectively to commence from 1 April 2026
once a policy has been agreed by Cabinet, following scrutiny

Appendix 2 — increase in budget requirement on the Finance and Corporate
Services line and surplus/deficit will change as previously mentioned

The tables below show the effects on the MTFS between current budget report
and the revised proposals.

Table 1 = Five-year Budget Estimate

2020/30 2030131
Net (Surplus)/Deficit (£) (184,900) | (482,400) | 225,000 (33,000) (93,700) (569,000)

Table 1 — Five-year Budget Estimate

2026/27 | 2027/28 | 2028/29 = 2029/30 = 2030/31
Net (Surplus)/Deficit (£) (144,900) (442 .400) 265,000 {7,000) (53,700) (369,000)
143

page 181



APPENDIX 10

144
page 182



Agenda Item 10

Council
Thursday, 5 March 2025

) Council Tax Resolution 2026/27
Rushcliffe

Borough Council

Report of the Director — Finance and Corporate Services
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance, Councillor D Virdi
1. Purpose of report

1.1.  The purpose of this report is to approve the statutory Council Tax Resolution
for 2026/27. The resolution is a statutory requirement for billing authorities to
approve prior to the billing and collection of Council Tax for the forthcoming
financial year.

1.2. The resolution consolidates the precepts of Nottinghamshire County Council,
Nottinghamshire Police and Crime Commissioner, Nottinghamshire Fire
Authority, Rushcliffe Borough Council and individual Town and Parish Councils.
The report and recommendations incorporate the agreed recommendations
from the budget meetings of Nottinghamshire Police and Crime Commissioner
(2 February 2026), Nottinghamshire County Council (26 February 2026), and
Nottinghamshire Fire Authority (27 February 2026).

2. Recommendation

It is RECOMMENDED that Council approves the Council Tax Resolution for
2026/27 as detailed at Appendix A.

3. Reasons for Recommendation

To comply with relevant legislation in setting both the Council’s budget and
associated local taxation levels.

4. Supporting Information
Council Tax Resolution 2026/27

4.1. The resolution is set out at Appendix A of this report.

4.2. The Council Tax for Nottinghamshire Police and Crime Commissioner,
Nottinghamshire County Council, and Nottinghamshire Fire Authority were set

at separate meetings on 2 February 2026, 26 February 2026, and 27 February
2026 respectively.

page 183



4.3.

7.1.

7.2.

The table below illustrates the Council Tax increases approved by each of the
major precepting bodies. It also shows the new average weekly and yearly
Council Tax levels for Band D properties.

Based on Band D Increase New Weekly (£) New Yearly (£)

% Amount Increase Amount Increase
Nottinghamshire 3.99 37.89 1.46 1,970.13 75.59
County Council
Rushcliffe Borough 0 3.11 0.00 161.77 0.00
Council
Nottinghamshire 5.07 5.98 0.29 311.10 15.00
Police
:‘::'”ghamsmre 5.14 1.97 0.10 102.21 5.00

In addition to the major precepting bodies, Town and Parish Councils can elect
to raise a local precept and these will also form part of the Council Tax
Resolution. These are set out at Appendix A (i).

Alternative options considered and reasons for rejection

In order to comply with relevant legislation, the Council must set and approve
the Council Tax levels for the forthcoming year. There are no alternative
options.

Risks and Uncertainties

If the Council Tax levels are not set by 5 March 2026, there is a risk that billing
will be delayed resulting in cash flow issues for the Council.

Implications

Financial Implications

The financial impact of the Council Tax setting is described in the report.
Legal Implications

To accord with both the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended by
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014), Localism Act 2011 and Council
Tax (Demand Notices) (England)(Amendment) Regulations 2017, the Council
has to set its Council Tax Base, Council Tax Requirement, Parish Precepts and
state whether Council Tax referendum limits will be exceeded or not. The
amount of the Council Tax requirement must be sufficient to meet the Council’s
legal and financial commitments, ensure proper discharge of its statutory duties
and lead to a balanced budget. It is a legal requirement for the Council to
approve its budget and set a Council Tax before 11 March each year.

page 184




7.3. Equalities Implications
There are no equality implications connected with this report.
7.4. Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 Implications

None.

7.5. Biodiversity Net Gain Implications

None.
8. Link to Corporate Priorities
The Environment
Quality of Life Council Tax helps ensure the Council has a balanced budget
Efficient Services | to resource all corporate priorities.
Sustainable
Growth
9. Recommendation

It is RECOMMENDED that Council approves the Council Tax Resolution for
2026/27 as detailed at Appendix A.

For more information contact: Peter Linfield

Director — Finance and Corporate Services
0115 914 8439

plinfield@rushcliffe.gov.uk

Background papers available for | Relevant websites and Council tax setting reports
Inspection: for Nottinghamshire County Council,
Nottinghamshire Fire Authority and the
Nottinghamshire Police and Crime Commissioner

List of appendices: Appendix A — Council Tax Resolution 2026/27

page 185


mailto:plinfield@rushcliffe.gov.uk

APPENDIX A

Council Tax Resolution 2026/27

Report of the Director — Finance and Corporate Services

The Council is recommended to resolve as follows:

That it be noted that the Council calculated the following amounts for the year
2026/27 in accordance with the Local Government Finance Act 1992 as amended
(the “Act”);

a)

b)

Rushcliffe Borough Council’'s Council Tax Base for 2026/27 has been
calculated as 48,486.3 [ltem T in the formula in Section 31B of the Local
Government Finance Act 1992 as amended by Section 74 of the Localism
Act 2011 (the “Act”)];

For dwellings in those parts of the Borough to which a Parish Precept relates
as detailed in Appendix Ai;

The Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for 2026/27
(excluding Parish Precepts) is £7,843,600;

That the following amounts be now calculated by the Council for the year
2026/27 in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government
Finance Act 1992 as amended by Section 74 of the Localism Act 2011;

i. £48,783,631 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council
estimates for the items set out in Section 31 A (2)(a) to (f) of the Act
taking into account all precepts issued to it by Parish Councils.
(Gross expenditure, parish and special expenses, any contingencies,
any provisions for reserves);

ii. £36,185,400 being the aggregate of the amounts which the Council
estimates for the items set out in Section (A) (3) (a) to (d) of the Act.
(Gross income, any use of reserves);

iii. £12,598,231 being the amount by which the aggregate at (d)(i)
above exceeds the aggregate of (d) (ii) above, calculated by the
Council, in accordance with Section31A (4) of the Act, as its Council
Tax Requirement. [Item R in the formula in Section 31B of the Act]
(Expenditure less income);

iv. £259.83 at (d) (iii) above [ltem R], all divided by ltem T (a) above,
calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 31B (1) of the
Act, as the basic amount of its council tax for the year (including parish
precepts and special expenses);

page 186




f)

g9)

h)

V. £4,754,631 being the aggregate amount of the Parish Precepts and
Special Expenses referred to in Section 34 (3) of the Act. (Total
amount of parish precepts as per Appendix Ai);

Vi. £161.77 being the amount at (d) (iii) above less (d) (v) above dividing the
result by item T ((1) (a) above), calculated by the Council, in
accordance with section 34 (2) of the Act, as the basic amount of its
Council Tax for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which
no Parish Precepts or Special Expenses relate. (i.e. the Borough
Council’'s precept of £7,843,600 divided by the Council Tax base of
48,486.3 this Council’'s own Council Tax at Band D);

That it be noted for the year 2026/27 Nottinghamshire County Council,
Nottinghamshire Police and Crime Commissioner and Nottinghamshire and
City of Nottingham Fire Authority have issued precepts in accordance with
Section 40 of the Act for each of the categories of dwellings shown in Table 1;

That the Council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local
Government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the aggregate amounts shown
in the Appendices A(i) and A(ii) for 2026/27 for each part of the Borough and
for each of the categories of dwellings;

It has been proposed that a district council shall require a referendum if it is to
set a basic amount of council tax for 2026-27 that is both;

a) 3% or more than 3%, above its 2025-26 level; and

b) More than £5 above its 2025-26 level

The Council has determined that its relevant basic amount of Council Tax for
2026/27 is not excessive in accordance with principles approved under Section
527B Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended by the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014). As the billing authority, the Council has not been
notified by a major precepting authority that its relevant basic amount of Council
Tax for 2026/27 is excessive and that the billing authority is not required to hold
a referendum in accordance with Section 52ZK Local Government Finance Act
1992.

page 187



Table 1

Rushcliffe Nottinghamshire Nottinghamshire | Nottingham and
Band Borough e — Police & Crime |Nottinghamshire Total
Council Commissioner Fire Authoriy
A 107.85 1,313.42 207.40 68.14 | 1,696.81
B 12582 1,632.32 241 .97 7950 | 1,979.61
C 14380 1,751.23 276.53 9085 | 226241
D 161.77 1,970.13 311.10 102.21 | 2,545.21
E 197.72 2,407 94 380.23 12492 | 3,110.81
F 23367 284574 449 37 14764 | 3676.42
G 269.62 3,283.55 518.50 170.35 | 4,242.02
H 323.54 3,940.26 62220 204.42 | 509042

page 188




Appendix A (i)

Council Tax to be Levied Within the Borough for the Year Ending 31 March 2027

TAX RATE COUNCIL
2026/27 SPECIAL PARISH MAJOR TAX BAND
PARISH/AREA TAX BASE | PRECEPT CHARGES AREA PRECEPTS D

ASLOCKTON 464.8 23,950 0 51.53 2,545.21 | 2,596.74
BARTON-IN-FABIS 2475 6,415 0 25.92 2,545.21 | 2,571.13
BINGHAM 4,360.5 470,311 0 107.86 2,545.21 | 2,653.07
BRADMORE 171.3 6,165 0 35.99 2,545.21 | 2,581.20
BUNNY 310.5 27,290 0 87.89 2,545.21 | 2,633.10
CAR COLSTON 94.8 510 0 5.38 2,545.21 | 2,550.59
CLIPSTON 32.4 0 0 0.00 2,545.21 | 2,545.21
COLSTON BASSETT 135.2 13,367 0 98.87 2,545.21 | 2,644.08
COSTOCK 307.1 20,750 0 67.57 2,545.21 | 2,612.78
COTGRAVE 2,466.4 288,265 0 116.88 2,545.21 | 2,662.09
CROPWELL BISHOP 705.9 117,831 0 166.92 2,545.21 | 2,712.13
CROPWELL BUTLER 266.7 16,250 0 60.93 2,545.21 | 2,606.14
EAST BRIDGFORD 864.5 48,875 0 56.54 2,545.21 | 2,601.75
EAST LEAKE 3,507.2 310,306 0 88.48 2,545.21 | 2,633.69
ELTON-ON-THE-HILL 52.6 0 0 0.00 2,545.21 | 2,545.21
FLAWBOROUGH 29.6 0 0 0.00 2,545.21 | 2,545.21
FLINTHAM 215.2 21,111 0 98.10 2,545.21 | 2,643.31
GOTHAM 636.7 42,547 0 66.82 2,545.21 | 2,612.03
GRANBY-CUM-SUTTON 177.0 17,095 0 96.58 2,545.21 | 2,641.79
HAWKSWORTH 74.4 12,000 0 161.29 2,545.21 | 2,706.50
HICKLING 264.4 12,700 0 48.03 2,545.21 | 2,593.24
HOLME PIERREPONT &

GAMSTON 1,108.9 46,075 0 41.55 2,545.21 | 2,586.76
KEYWORTH 3,165.1 238,970 10,600 78.85 2,545.21 | 2,624.06
KINGSTON-ON-SOAR 134.7 8,300 0 61.62 2,545.21 | 2,606.83
KINOULTON 436.0 9,824 0 22.53 2,545.21 | 2,567.74
KNEETON 37.0 0 0 0.00 2,545.21 | 2,545.21
LANGAR-CUM-

BARNSTONE 373.8 51,969 0 139.03 2,545.21 | 2,684.24
NEWTON 501.8 35,000 0 69.75 2,545.21 | 2,614.96
NORMANTON-ON-SOAR 191.1 16,370 0 85.66 2,545.21 | 2,630.87
NORMANTON-ON-THE-

WOLDS 154.3 10,000 0 64.81 2,545.21 | 2,610.02

page 189




TAX RATE COUNCIL
2026/27 SPECIAL PARISH MAJOR TAX BAND
PARISH/AREA TAX BASE | PRECEPT CHARGES AREA PRECEPTS D
ORSTON 232.3 14,015 0 60.33 2,545.21 | 2,605.54
OWTHORPE 46.5 0 0 0.00 2,545.21 | 2,545.21
PLUMTREE 128.3 6,261 0 48.80 2,545.21 | 2,594.01
RADCLIFFE-ON-TRENT 3,278.2 1,022,803 0 312.00 2,545.21 | 2,857.21
RATCLIFFE-ON-SOAR 59.3 0 0 0.00 2,545.21 | 2,545.21
REMPSTONE 2141 8,800 0 41.10 2,545.21 | 2,586.31
RUDDINGTON 3,383.1 450,500 11,500 136.56 2,545.21 | 2,681.77
SAXONDALE 14.0 0 0 0.00 2,545.21 | 2,545.21
SCARRINGTON 84.7 0 0 0.00 2,545.21 | 2,545.21
SCREVETON 89.9 0 0 0.00 2,545.21 | 2,545.21
SHELFORD 117.8 15,536 0 131.88 2,545.21 | 2,677.09
SHELTON 63.3 0 0 0.00 2,545.21 | 2,545.21
SIBTHORPE 59.6 2,200 0 36.91 2,545.21 | 2,582.12
STANFORD-ON-SOAR 67.0 6,000 0 89.55 2,545.21 | 2,634.76
STANTON-ON-THE-
WOLDS 236.0 11,000 0 46.61 2,545.21 | 2,591.82
SUTTON BONINGTON 631.2 64,700 0 102.50 2,545.21 | 2,647.71
THOROTON 91.9 7,500 0 81.61 2,545.21 | 2,626.82
THRUMPTON 80.7 4,020 0 49.81 2,545.21 | 2,595.02
TOLLERTON 808.5 83,202 0 102.91 2,545.21 | 2,648.12
UPPER SAXONDALE 397.9 32,950 0 82.81 2,545.21 | 2,628.02
UPPER BROUGHTON 174.8 12,000 0 68.65 2,545.21 | 2,613.86
WEST BRIDGFORD 15,538.2 0 1,047,200 67.40 2,545.21 | 2,612.61
WEST LEAKE 68.5 2,500 0 36.50 2,545.21 | 2,581.71
WHATTON-IN-THE-VALE 379.5 25,755 0 67.87 2,545.21 | 2,613.08
WIDMERPOOL 172.3 9,975 0 57.89 2,545.21 | 2,603.10
WILLOUGHBY-ON-THE-
WOLDS 304.2 14,964 0 49.19 2,545.21 | 2,594.40
WIVERTON & TITHBY 55.2 0 0 0.00 2,545.21 | 2,545.21
WYSALL & THORPE IN
THE GLEBE 221.9 18,404 0 82.94 2,545.21 | 2,628.15
TOTAL RUSHCLIFFE
BOROUGH COUNCIL 48,486.3 3,685,331 1,069,300 98.06

page 190




Appendix A (ii)
RUSHCLIFFE BOROUGH COUNCIL - COUNCIL TAX BANDS - 2026/27

At its meeting on 5 March 2026, Rushcliffe Borough Council, in accordance with Section 30 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992,
set the amounts shown below as the amounts of Council Tax for the year 2026/2027 for each of the categories of dwellings and areas
indicated.

PARISH AREA A B (o3 D E F G H
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
Aslockton 1,731.16  2,019.69  2,308.21 2,596.74 3,173.79 3,750.85 4,327.90 5,193.48
Barton-in-Fabis 1,714.09 1,999.77  2,285.45 2,571.13 3,142.49 3,713.86 4,285.22 5,142.26
Bingham 1,768.72 2,063.50 2,358.29 2,653.07 3,242.64 3,832.22 4,421.79  5,306.14
Bradmore 1,720.80 2,007.60 2,294.40 2,581.20 3,154.80 3,728.41 4,302.00 5,162.40
Bunny 1,755.40 2,047.97  2,340.53 2,633.10 3,218.23 3,803.37 4,388.50 5,266.20
Car Colston 1,700.40 1,983.79  2,267.19 2,550.59 3,117.39 3,684.19 4,250.99 5,101.18
Clipston 1,696.81  1,979.61 2,262.41 2,54521 3,110.81 3,676.42 4,242.02  5,090.42
Colston Bassett 1,762.72  2,056.51 2,350.29 2,644.08 3,231.65 3,819.23 4,406.80 5,288.16
Costock 1,741.86 2,032.16 2,322.47 2,612.78 3,193.40 3,774.02 4,354.64 5,225.56
Cotgrave 1,774.73  2,070.52  2,366.30 2,662.09 3,253.66 3,845.25 4,436.82 5,324.18
Cropwell Bishop 1,808.09 2,109.44  2,410.78 2,712.13  3,314.82 3,917.53 4,520.22 5,424.26
Cropwell Butler 1,737.43  2,027.00 2,316.57 2,606.14 3,185.28 3,764.43 4,343.57 5,212.28
East Bridgford 1,734.50 2,023.59 2,312.67 2,601.75 3,179.91 3,758.09 4,336.25 5,203.50
East Leake 1,755.80 2,048.43  2,341.06 2,633.69 3,218.95 3,804.22 4,389.49 5,267.38
Elton 1,696.81 1,979.61 2,262.41 2,545.21 3,110.81 3,676.42  4,242.02 5,090.42
Flawborough 1,696.81  1,979.61 2,262.41 2,54521 3,110.81 3,676.42 4,242.02  5,090.42
Flintham 1,762.21  2,055.91 2,349.61 2,643.31  3,230.71 3,818.12 4,40552  5,286.62
Gotham 1,741.36  2,031.58 2,321.81 2,612.03 3,192.48 3,772.94 4,353.39 5,224.06
Granby 1,761.20 2,054.73  2,348.26 2,641.79 3,228.85 3,81592 4,402.99 5,283.58
Hawksworth 1,804.34 2,105.06  2,405.78 2,706.50 3,307.94 3,909.39 4,510.84 5,413.00
Hickling 1,728.83 2,016.97  2,305.10 2,593.24 3,169.51 3,745.80 4,322.07 5,186.48
Holme Pierrepont & Gamston 1,724.51  2,011.93  2,299.34 2,586.76  3,161.59 3,736.44 4,311.27 5,173.52
Keyworth 1,749.37  2,040.94  2,332.50 2,624.06 3,207.18 3,790.32 4,373.43  5,248.12
Kingston-on-Soar 1,737.89 2,027.54  2,317.18 2,606.83 3,186.12 3,765.43 4,344.72 5,213.66
Kinoulton 1,711.83  1,997.13  2,282.44 2,567.74 3,138.35 3,708.96 4,279.57 5,135.48
Kneeton 1,696.81  1,979.61 2,262.41 2,54521 3,110.81 3,676.42 4,242.02  5,090.42
Langar cum Barnstone 1,789.50 2,087.74  2,385.99 2,684.24  3,280.74 3,877.24 4,473.74  5,368.48
Newton 1,743.31  2,033.86  2,324.41 2,614.96 3,196.06 3,777.17 4,358.27  5,229.92
Normanton-on-Soar 1,753.92 2,046.23  2,338.55 2,630.87 3,215.51 3,800.15 4,384.79 5,261.74
Normanton-on-the-Wolds 1,740.02  2,030.02 2,320.02 2,610.02 3,190.02 3,770.03  4,350.04 5,220.04
Orston 1,737.03 2,026.53  2,316.04 2,605.54 3,184.55 3,763.56 4,342.57 5,211.08
Owthorpe 1,696.81  1,979.61 2,262.41 2,54521 3,110.81 3,676.42 4,242.02 5,090.42
Plumtree 1,729.34  2,017.57  2,305.79 2,594.01 3,170.45 3,746.91 4,323.35 5,188.02
Radcliffe-on-Trent 1,904.81 2,222.28  2,539.74 2,857.21 3,492.14 4,127.09 4,762.02 5714.42
Ratcliffe-on-Soar 1,696.81 1,979.61 2,262.41 2,545.21 3,110.81 3,676.42  4,242.02 5,090.42
Rempstone 1,724.21 2,011.58  2,298.94 2,586.31 3,161.04 3,735.79 4,310.52 5,172.62
Ruddington 1,787.85 2,085.82  2,383.79 2,681.77 3,277.72 3,873.67 4,469.62 5,363.54
Saxondale 1,696.81  1,979.61 2,262.41 2,54521 3,110.81 3,676.42 4,242.02  5,090.42
Scarrington 1,696.81  1,979.61 2,262.41 2,54521 3,110.81 3,676.42 4,242.02  5,090.42
Screveton 1,696.81  1,979.61 2,262.41 2,545.21 3,110.81 3,676.42 4,242.02  5,090.42
Shelford 1,784.73 2,082.18  2,379.64 2,677.09 3,272.00 3,866.91 4,461.82 5,354.18
Shelton 1,696.81  1,979.61 2,262.41 2,54521 3,110.81 3,676.42 4,242.02 5,090.42
Sibthorpe 1,721.42  2,008.32  2,295.22 2,5682.12 3,155.92 3,729.73 4,303.54 5,164.24
Stanford-on-Soar 1,756.51  2,049.26  2,342.01 2,634.76  3,220.26  3,805.77 4,391.27  5,269.52
Stanton-on-the-Wolds 1,727.88 2,015.86  2,303.84 2,591.82 3,167.78 3,743.75 4,319.70  5,183.64
Sutton Bonington 1,765.14  2,059.33 2,353.52 2,647.71 3,236.09 3,824.48 4,412.85 5,295.42
Thoroton 1,751.22 2,043.08  2,334.95 2,626.82 3,210.56 3,794.30 4,378.04 5,253.64
Thrumpton 1,730.02 2,018.35  2,306.69 2,595.02 3,171.69 3,748.37 4,325.04  5,190.04
Tollerton 1,765.42 2,059.65 2,353.89 2,648.12 3,236.59 3,825.07 4,413.54  5,296.24
Upper Saxondale 1,752.02 2,044.02  2,336.02 2,628.02 3,212.02 3,796.03 4,380.04 5,256.04
Upper Broughton 1,742.58 2,033.00 2,323.43 2,613.86 3,194.72 3,775.58 4,356.44  5227.72
West Bridgford 1,741.74 2,032.03  2,322.32 2,612.61 3,193.19 3,773.78 4,354.35 5,22522
West Leake 1,721.14 2,008.00 2,294.85 2,581.71 3,155.42 3,729.14 4,302.85 5,163.42
Whatton in the Vale 1,742.06 2,032.40 2,322.74 2,613.08 3,193.76  3,774.45 4,355.14  5,226.16
Widmerpool 1,735.40 2,024.64  2,313.87 2,603.10 3,181.56 3,760.04 4,338.50 5,206.20
Willoughby-on-the-Wolds 1,729.60 2,017.87  2,306.13 2,594.40 3,170.93 3,747.47 4,324.00 5,188.80
Wiverton & Tithby 1,696.81 1,979.61 2,262.41 2,545.21 3,110.81 3,676.42  4,242.02 5,090.42
Woysall & Thorpe in the Glebe 1,752.10 2,044.12  2,336.13 2,628.15 3,212.18 3,796.22 4,380.25 5,256.30

page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 12

Council
Thursday, 5 March 2026

) Barton in Fabis Community Governance Review
Rushcliffe y

Borough Council

Report of the Chief Executive

Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic and Borough-wide Leadership,
Councillor N Clarke

1. Purpose of report

This report has been compiled by the Barton in Fabis Community Governance
Review Task and Finish Group as set up by Council in December 2024. It
outlines the Community Governance Review that has taken place in
accordance with Part 4 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in
Health Act 2007, to establish whether a separate parish should be created for
the new Fairham development, which currently sits within the parish of Barton
in Fabis.

2. Recommendation

The Barton in Fabis Community Governance Review Member Task and Finish
Group recommends that Council resolves to:

a) create a separate parish for the area defined by the map in Appendix
Three and that:

this area be named Fairham;

this area have a parish council;

this council be called Fairham Parish Council;
Fairham Parish Council has nine members; and

b) delegate authority to undertake the necessary steps to formalise the
creation of a separate parish for Fairham to the Chief Executive.

3. Reasons for Recommendation

A petition was brought forward by the community of Barton in Fabis, which
triggered a Community Governance Review in accordance with Part 4 of the
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. The Task and
Finish Group set up by Council has undertaken the Community Governance
Review and presents its findings below. Council must now decide if there is
sufficient evidence to support the recommendation of the Task and Finish
Group, which is to create a separate parish for the new Fairham development
which currently sits within the parish of Barton in Fabis.

page 193



41.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4,

4.5.

Supporting Information

In September 2024, Council received a petition from residents of Barton in
Fabis requesting the creation of a new parish for Fairham (and corresponding
parish council), separate to the existing Barton in Fabis Parish Council. The
petition was validated by the Borough Council’s Electoral Services team with
87 valid signatories.

In December 2024, Council approved the setting up of a cross-party Task and
Finish Group to conduct the Community Governance Review. The Terms of
Reference of the Group were as follows:

e Consider the views of the Barton in Fabis community as put forward by the
lead petitioner from Barton in Fabis Parish Council.

e Consider officer advice in drawing up the stage one consultation materials
for the Barton in Fabis Community Governance Review consultation.

e Consider the submissions received in response to the stage one
consultation for the Review.

e Develop a recommended way forward, which will form the basis of the
second stage of consultation with the Barton in Fabis community.

e Consider the responses of the second round of consultation for the
Community Governance Review of Barton in Fabis.

e Make final recommendations to Council in March 2026.

First meeting of the Barton in Fabis Community Governance Review Task
and Finish Group

The Barton in Fabis Community Governance Review Task and Finish Group
held its initial meeting on 5 June 2025. They heard from Mr Allan Kerr,
Chairman of Barton in Fabis Parish Council and lead petitioner, who outlined
why the community had set up the petition to trigger the Community
Governance Review and why they felt a separate parish for the new Fairham
development would result in convenient and effective local governance.

In addition, officers informed the Group about the legislation and process
surrounding a Community Governance Review before presenting draft
materials, which would form the basis of the first consultation with residents in
the area defined by the petition submitted by the existing parish council.

Following the meeting, the initial consultation period started. A leaflet (Appendix
One) was hand delivered to every household and business in the area on 7
June 2025 with a deadline for submissions of 8 August 2025. This was
supported with a media release and social media posts throughout the
consultation period. The Borough Council created a dedicated webpage and
linked with the Fairham Life community newsletter, and Fairham and Barton
Community Facebook Pages. Letters were also sent to affected parish councils
and Nottinghamshire County Council. The Community Governance Review and
consultation were mentioned at the Fairham Growth Board in June 2025.
Barton in Fabis Parish Council also undertook their own awareness raising

page 194



4.6.

4.7.

4.8.

4.9.

4.10.

campaign locally in support of the consultation and officers from the Council’s
Media team visited the new Fairham development to speak with residents who
have already moved in.

Second meeting of the Barton in Fabis Community Governance Review
Task and Finish Group

The second meeting of the Task and Finish Group was held on 7 October 2025.
The Group considered the results of the first consultation to which was
responded to by 39.5% of the electorate. Of those that were consulted:

e 97% of respondents said ‘yes’ they would like to see a new parish set up for
Fairham

e 3% of respondents said ‘no’ they would not like to see the creation of a new
parish

e 60.5% of residents did not respond to the consultation.

The Task and Finish Group debated the results of the consultation as well as
additional material put forward by officers such as alternatives to the boundaries
defined by the petition map and comparisions with other similary sized parishes
within the Borough in terms of numbers of councillors. The Group also
discussed several issues connected to the creation of a parish council to
ascertain if the Borough Council’s assistance was required during the set up
period.

The decision was made to proceed to the second stage of consultation with a
slightly altered map (which followed visible and sensible local boundaries such
as roads rather than the line of pylons used by the petition group) and a
recommendation that nine councillors would be in keeping with other local
parishes and provide effective governance. There was an indepth debate about
the designation of the new body as a parish, community, neighbourhood, or
village council and it was decided to put that question to residents through the
consultation.

The second stage of consultation started on 16 October 2025 (with a closing
date of 5 December 2025) with a second leaflet (Appendix Two) being hand
delivered to all residential and business premises in the area. The County
Council was invited to respond to the consultation as were the parishes of
Thrumpton, Gotham and Ruddington as in the first consultation. As with the first
stage of consultation, this was supported with a media release and social media
posts throughout the consultation period.

Third meeting of the Barton in Fabis Community Governance Review Task
and Finish Group

The third meeting of the Task and Finish Group was held on 15 January 2026.
The Group considered the results of the second consultation to which the
Council had received 54 responses (19% of the electorate). Of those that
responded:

page 195



4.11.

4.12.

4.13.

4.14.

4.15.

4.16.

4.17.

4.18.

e 98% of residents agreed with the Council’s recommendation to create a
separate parish for Fairham.

e 89% of residents agreed with the new parish being named Fairham.

e 91% of residents agreed with the number of councillors being nine.

e 80% of residents agreed with the proposed boundaries for the new parish.

Residents in the area were given a choice of whether the new council would be
known as a parish, community, neighbourhood or village council in line with the
legislation. Of those that responded to the consultation:

61% favoured the term parish.

15% favoured the term community.
4%favoured the term neighbourhood.
17% favoured the term village.

Fourteen comments of support were made some of which also made some
reference to the proposed boundaries suggesting that the Member Working
Group reconsider the retention of Barton Moor within the parish of Barton in
Fabis due to its historical links and significance.

2% of residents (1) responding to the consultation did not agree with the
Council’'s recommendation to create a separate parish for Fairham.

81% of residents consulted did not respond to the consultation.

Thrumpton Parish Meeting sent the following feedback in response to the
consultation:

‘...these are fundamentally different communities with very
different needs, priorities and concerns.

We therefore think that adopting this two-parish approach is
sensible, proportionate, and best represents the current needs of
Barton-in-Fabis and the future needs of residents of Fairham’.

Ruddington Parish Council, Gotham Parish Council and Nottinghamshire
County Council were also consulted at stage two of the consultaiton but did not
provide any additional feedback.

On taking the views of the local community into account the Barton in Fabis
Community Governance Review Task and Finish Group are recommending the
creation of a separate parish for Fairham, with a parish council named Fairham
Parish Council comprised of nine parish councillors in line with the boundaries
outlined on the map in Appendix Three. This includes the retention of Barton
Moor within the existing parish of Barton in Fabis. The Group feels that this
represents the best model of effective governance for this community.

Should Council decide to accept the recommendations of the Task and Finish

Group, a Reorganisation Order will be sent to the Secretary of State, the
Rushcliffe Electoral Register will be amended before publication in December

page 196



7.1.

7.2.

7.3.

7.4.

7.5.

2026, a parish precept will be set by the Borough Council as part of budget
setting in March 2027, and officers will ensure a suitable polling place is
identified in advance of the first parish council elections for Fairham, which will
be held in May 2027.

Alternative options considered and reasons for rejection

The Council could decide that the governance arrangements already in place
for the new Fairham development through the existing Barton in Fabis Parish
Council are effective and that no change is necessary. This, however, would be
against the views expressed by local residents as part of the Community
Governance Review process.

Risks and Uncertainties

There are risks involved in setting up a separate Parish Council for Fairham
with regard to getting candidates to stand for election, effective operation, and
the transfer of assets. The Task and Finish Group is satisfied that effective
plans are in place to mitigate these risks.

Implications

Financial Implications

There are some costs in setting-up the new parish (such as changes to the
Council Tax system), and these will be recovered from the new parish council
when it is properly constituted. Rushcliffe Borough Council will set the initial
precept in its Council Tax setting report at Full Council (March 2027). The
precept, net of any initial costs, will be transferred to the new parish after the
May local elections and its first constituted meeting.

Legal Implications

There are no legal implications connected to the recommendations contained
in this report other than those mentioned elsewhere in the report.

Equalities Implications

There are no equalities implications connected to the recommendations
contained in this report.

Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 Implications

There are no crime and disorder implications to the recommendations in this
report.

Bio-Diversity Net Gain

There are no bio-diversity net gain implications to the recommendations in this
report.

page 197



8. Link to Corporate Priorities

The Environment

No links to the environment

Quality of Life

It is important that residents feel that their community is
governed at an appropriate level and is representative of their
identify as a community — this contributes towards their
quality of life

Efficient Services

It is important that local governance is appropriate to the
community and operates effectively

Sustainable No links to sustainable growth
Growth
9. Recommendation

The Barton in Fabis Community Governance Review Member Task and Finish
Group recommends that Council resolves to:

a) create a separate parish for the area defined by the map in Appendix
Three and that:

this area be named Fairham;

this area have a parish council;

this council be called Fairham Parish Council;
Fairham Parish Council has nine members; and

b) delegate authority to undertake the necessary steps to formalise the
creation of a separate parish for Fairham to the Chief Executive.

For more information contact: Charlotte Caven-Atack

Assistant Director - Corporate Services
0115914 8278
ccaven-atack@rushcliffe.gov.uk

Inspection:

Background papers available for | Council report 5 December 2024

List of appendices:

Appendix One — Stage One Consultation Materials
Appendix Two — Stage Two Consultation Materials
Appendix Three — Map of the proposed parish

page 198



mailto:ccaven-atack@rushcliffe.gov.uk
https://modgov-rushcliffeborough.msappproxy.net/documents/s15484/Barton%20in%20Fabis%20Community%20Governance%20Review.pdf?$LO$=1

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

June 2025

To all residents in the parish of Barton in Fabis

Have your say on how your parish will be governed in the future...
Rushcliffe Borough Council has received a petition from residents in Barton in Fabis
asking for the separation of the new Fairham development from the existing Barton in

Fabis parish allowing each to have its own parish council.

The petition proposes the separation of the new Fairham development from the existing Barton in
Fabis parish with the wording set out below:

“This proposal is seeking to create a new Parish of Fairham so that the existing
Parish Council can remain focussed on the interests of the Barton in Fabis
population and the residents of Fairham will have their own representation.”

It goes on to present six reasons why this is necessary and proposes new boundaries for both
parishes.

The petition had 87 valid signatures from electors within the existing parish triggering a
Community Governance Review. A Community Governance Review is a process governed by
legislation and undertaken by Rushcliffe Borough Council.
This information sheet explains:

e What a Community Governance Review is

e How it will be carried out

e How you can have your say.

We strongly encourage you to complete and return the enclosed questionnaire, or email us, so
that your views about creating a separate parish for the new Fairham development can be heard.

Yours sincerely

Charlotte Caven-Atack
Head of Corporate Services

RUSHCLIFFE - GREAT PLACE = GREAT LIFESTYLE = GREAT SPORT




Have Your Say...

Do you want a separate parish council for
Fairham?

What is a Community Governance Review?

The Council has received a petition from some residents living in the parish of Barton in Fabis
who want to create a separate parish for the new Fairham development. Because of this
Rushcliffe Borough Council (by law) has to carry out what is known as a Community Governance
Review. As part of this review, the Council has to find out how much support there is in the
current parish of Barton in Fabis (which includes the new homes in Fairham) for a separate
parish from residents and other interested local organisations. We also need to establish whether
it would be a good way to run local politics and matters affecting the area. The boundary of the
two proposed parishes, as proposed by the petitioners, is shown on the map on the back page of
this leaflet.

Rushcliffe Borough Council has to demonstrate there is sufficient community support to make this
change so it is really important that you tell us what you think.

How do | have my say?

By emailing the Council at consultation@rushcliffe.qov.uk. In order for your response to be
counted you must ensure you include your name and address. You can also complete the
enclosed form and return it to the freepost address below.

Please note that the CLOSING DATE for comments is Wednesday 6 August 2025. Any
comments received after that date may not be considered.

The findings of the consultation on whether to set up a separate parish for Fairham will be
considered by Rushcliffe Borough Council. They will make a recommendation which you will be
able to comment on in the autumn in a second stage of consultation. A final decision on this will
be taken by Council in March 2026.

What is a parish council?

Parish councils are the most local level of elected local government which represent the interests
of their community and are funded through an additional charge added to council tax bills, which
is called a ‘precept’.

Many town and parish councils are involved in local matters such as planning, licensing,
managing town and village centres, looking after community halls and other local facilities, as well
as organising community events and providing a vital link between your community and the
Borough Council.

RUSHCLIFFE - GREAT PLACE = GREAT LIFESTYLE = GREAT SPORT



mailto:consultation@rushcliffe.gov.uk

Will it cost me anymore than | pay now?

The amount of charge (precept) depends on the services and facilities each parish council
provides. Parish councils can also apply for grants and loans. The precept is decided by the
parish council and is included in your Council Tax bill issued by Rushcliffe Borough Council.

Currently, residents in the parish of Barton in Fabis pay a parish precept of £25.92 per annum in
addition to their Council Tax. The parish of Barton in Fabis has 228 electors and the precept
helps to maintain the village hall and other small items such as benches and bins.

In 2027, it is expected that Fairham will be home to around 800 electors. This will grow to 2100
by 2031, and ultimately around 5500 electors will live in Fairham. There are plans for a
community hall, school, medical centre, play area and other facilities. There is no doubt that the
community in Fairham will be very different that that in the village of Barton in Fabis on the other
side of the A453. When it is fully developed, Fairham will be more similar to Rushcliffe’s larger
parishes of Ruddington, Keyworth and East Leake than Barton in Fabis.

What is the process and who will have a say?

The Council has now published a detailed terms of reference document which sets out how the
review will be undertaken. This document can be accessed by visiting
www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/barton.

We are now in the first consultation stage. Every household in the petitioned area will receive a
copy of this information sheet and questionnaire. Even if you signed the original petition you
should still respond to this consultation. Please send the completed questionnaire to:

FREEPOST RTJY-BGGZ-EKZK
Rushcliffe Borough Council
Rushcliffe Arena

Rugby Road

West Bridgford

Nottingham

NG2 7YG

OR, send an email response to consultation@rushcliffe.gov.uk

Local businesses and community groups will also receive a copy of the information sheet and
questionnaire.

What happens next?

All comments must be received by Wednesday 6 August 2025 so they can be included. The
comments will be considered and draft proposals will be developed. You can have your say on
the draft proposals which will be published in autumn 2025 when there will be a second stage to
this consultation. It is vital that you respond to both stages of the consultation.

RUSHCLIFFE - GREAT PLACE = GREAT LIFESTYLE = GREAT SPORT



http://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/barton
mailto:consultation@rushcliffe.gov.uk

New boundaries proposed by petitioners

Residents in Barton in Fabis who triggered this Community Governance Review through the
submission of a valid petition had to propose new boundaries for the two separate parishes. Their
proposal is shown on the map below. The pink lines are the existing boundary for the parish of
Barton in Fabis and the blue line is the proposed boundary for a new parish serving the Fairham

community.

PTIAMEOITEN
e

Bartan
in Fabis

Thrumpton

Gabeskes Fanw

o
e si Tl b

During the second stage of this Review, once the community has responded to the first stage of
the consultation indicating their support for the creation of a separate parish for Fairham,
Rushcliffe Borough Council will consider whether the proposed boundaries represent the distinct
community identities of these two areas and whether they can deliver effective local governance.
The Borough Council’s preferred boundaries may be different those those above and will be
consulted on as part of the second stage of the Community Governance Review in the autumn.

RUSHCLIFFE - GREAT PLACE = GREAT LIFESTYLE = GREAT SPORT




No.
Date
Initials

Rushcliffe office use only

Borough Council

Have Your Say...
As we can only consider the views of people who are affected by this proposal,
please include your name, address and postcode in any response.

Full Name

Address

Postcode

Would you like to see a separate parish set up for Fairham?

Yes No

Please provide any comments on this proposal, or any alternative suggestions you
would like to be considered by Rushcliffe Borough Council about setting up a
separate parish for Fairham.

Please feel free to enclose additional responses from other members of your
household on a separate sheet of paper and return in the same envelope to the
address below:

FREEPOST RTJY-BGGZ-EKZK, Rushcliffe Borough Council, Rushcliffe Arena,
Rugby Road, West Bridgford, Nottingham, NG2 7YG

Please ensure names and addresses are included. All responses MUST be
received by the Council by no later than Wednesday 6 August 2025. Any
comments received after that date may not be considered. You can also email us
your comments at consultation@rushcliffe.gov.uk but remember to include your

name and full postal address.

RUSHCLIFFE - GREAT PLACE = GREAT LIFESTYLE = GREAT SPORT



mailto:consultation@rushcliffe.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



7/
«
)
Rushcliffe

Borough Council

What is a parish and a parish council? 17 October 2025
Civic parishes are very local geographic areas. They are non-religious but

are often mistaken as such. They are the most local level of elected Dear Resident

government which represent the interests of their community. Most of
Rushcliffe is parished (except West Bridgford) and communities elect
parish councillors every four years. Legislation allows for the word parish to
be substituted for community, neighbourhood or village in line with
community identity and wishes. You are being given the opportunity to
state a preference for calling the new council for Fairham a parish,
community, neighbourhood or village council.

Parish (community, neighbourhood or village) councils are funded through
an additional charge added to council tax bills called a ‘precept’. Local
councils are consulted on planning and licensing matters, manage their
town and village centres, provide community halls, playgrounds, bins and
benches, and look after playing fields and parks. They may also be
involved in creating “neighbourhood plans” for their areas. You are
currently paying for these services as part of Barton in Fabis parish. Under
this proposal you will pay a separate charge (to Rushcliffe Borough

uncil) for services delivered by Barton in Fabis Parish Council or
fhirham (parish, community, neighbourhood or village) Council, depending
@ where you live.
al

Will it cost me anymore than | pay now?

The amount of charge is something that each local council has to decide
for itself and it depends on what services and facilities it provides. Local
councils can also apply for grants and loans.

Households in the parish of Barton in Fabis currently pay a parish precept
of £25.92 per annum (for a Band D property) in addition to their Council
Tax. There are currently 228 electors in the parish of Barton in Fabis.

It is difficult to accurately predict how fast the new community at Fairham
will grow but we estimate the following numbers of electors in each of the
next four electoral years:

750 in 2027

2,080 in 2031

3,440 in 2035

4,800 in 2039.

RUSHCLIFFE - GREAT PLACE * GREAT LIFESTYLE » GREAT SPORT

Proposal for how your local area will be governed in the future...

In June 2025 we wrote to tell you that Rushcliffe Borough Council had
received a petition from residents asking for the creation of a separate
parish council for the new Fairham development. By law Rushcliffe
Borough Council has to carry out a review of how decisions are made in
the area by doing what is called a ‘Community Governance Review’.

The first part of this process was to ask local residents whether they would
like to see a new parish council set up for Fairham. The consultation
closed on 8 August 2025.

| am now writing to let you know:
e What you told us
¢ What the Borough Council is doing with the results
e How you can have your say on the next stage in the process.

We need you to tell us whether you agree with our recommendation
to create a separate governance arrangement for Fairham. Even if you
signed the petition and / or responded to the first consultation, it is
important that you tell us what you think now.

More details about the review and the consultation are available on the
Council’'s website: www.rushcliffe.qov.uk/barton .

Yours sincerely
il {
/’y\}ﬁz\ /?’:/J\M‘ T

Charlotte Caven-Atack
Head of Corporate Services

RUSHCLIFFE - GREAT PLACE * GREAT LIFESTYLE » GREAT SPORT


http://www.rushcliffe.gov.uk/barton

What'’s the current situation in Fairham and Barton in Fabis?

At the moment, if you live anywhere in the parish of Barton in Fabis
(including in a new home in Fairham) you pay Council Tax to Rushcliffe
Borough Council (which is then distributed to Nottinghamshire County
Council, and Police and Fire authorities) including a parish precept which is
passed on to Barton in Fabis Parish Council.

In September 2024, the Borough Council received a petition from residents
in Barton in Fabis asking for a separate parish council for Fairham to be
created. This triggered a process called a Community Governance Review.
As part of this review, the Council has to find out how much support there
is in the existing parish of Barton in Fabis for a separate council in Fairham
from residents and local businesses. We also need to find out if a separate
council would be a good way to govern and make decisions that affect
Fairham.

To find out what the community thinks about the proposal, the Council
asked residents and businesses in the parish of Barton in Fabis to get in
tgquch. This leaflet presents the results of the initial consultation, outlines
e recommendation of the Borough Council and asks you what you think
aNbout that recommendation.

o

What you told us

Residents were asked if they would like to see a separate parish created
for Fairham. Leaflets were delivered to all households and businesses in
the area. Information was also on the Council’'s website.

o 39% of the electorate responded to the consultation

e 97% of respondents said ‘yes’ they would like to see a new parish set
up for Fairham

o 3% of respondents said ‘no’ they would not like to see the creation of a
new parish.

What is Rushcliffe Borough Council doing with the results?

The Council has considered all of the responses and comments. The
Council’s view is that the large majority of the electorate who responded
(87 out of 90) would like to see the creation of a separate parish for
Fairham. A response to the consultation of 39% demonstrates support for

RUSHCLIFFE - GREAT PLACE * GREAT LIFESTYLE » GREAT SPORT

this. Therefore, it is recommending that a separate parish should be set

up. We are also recommending that:

e The new parish should be named Fairham

e That residents should be given the option of the new area, and its
governance arrangement, being called a parish, community,
neighbourhood or village council

e That this new body should have 9 councillors

e That the boundaries of the parish should match those shown on the
enclosed map.

What happens now ...

The next part of the review is to ask if you agree with the Borough
Council’'s recommendations regarding the creation of a separate parish for
Fairham and an associated council.

To move forward with this recommendation, the Borough Council needs to
be satisfied that a separate parish is in the best interests of the Fairham
and Barton in Fabis communities and that it would provide convenient and
effective local governance. It is important that you get in touch and tell us
what you think.

How do | have my say?

By completing the accompanying form and returning it to FREEPOST
RTJY-BGGZ-EKZK, Rushcliffe Borough Council, Rushcliffe Arena, Rugby
Road, West Bridgford, Nottingham, NG2 7YG. Every person over 18 can
have a view. Please use additional sheets if you need to.

Alternatively, you can send an email response to
consultation@rushcliffe.gov.uk. Even if you signed the petition and/or
replied to the first round of consultation it is important that you tell us what
you think now.

Please note that the closing date for stage two of this Community
Governance Review is 5 December 2025. Any comments received after
that date may not be considered.

The responses to the consultation will be considered by the Council and a
final decision will be made on 5 March 2026.

RUSHCLIFFE - GREAT PLACE * GREAT LIFESTYLE » GREAT SPORT


mailto:consultation@rushcliffe.gov.uk

R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

No.
Date

Initials

office use only

Have Your Say...
As we can only consider the views of people who are affected by this proposal,
please include your name, address and postcode in any response.

Full Name

Address

Postcode

Rushcliffe Borough Council is recommending that a separate parish be
created for Fairham.

Do you agree with this recommendation?

Yes

No

If yes, please answer the rest of the consultation questions on this
page

If no, please return this form to the address in the leaflet

Do you agree with the new parish being named Fairham?

Yes

No

Would you like to name the new council ...

Fairham Parish Council Fairham Community Council
Fairham Neighbourhood Fairham Village Council
Council

RUSHCLIFFE - GREAT PLACE = GREAT LIFESTYLE = GREAT SPORT




44
«
)
Rushcliffe

Borough Council

Do you agree with the number of councillors being 9?

Yes No

Do you agree with the proposed boundaries?

Yes No

If no, please let us know why not ...

The blue area on this map is the existing parish of Barton in Fabis.

The area outlined in red is the proposed parish of Fairham.

RUSHCLIFFE - GREAT PLACE  GREATLIFESTYLE = GREAT SPORT




R,

Rushcliffe

Borough Council

Please provide any comments on this proposal, any alternative name or boundary
you would like to be considered by Rushcliffe Borough Council in the space below,
then return this sheet to Rushcliffe Borough Council at the address provided.

Please include additional responses from other members of your household on a
separate sheet of paper and return in the same envelope. Please ensure their
names and addresses are included.

All responses must be received by the Council by 5 December 2025. Any
comments received after that date may not be considered.

RUSHCLIFFE - GREAT PLACE = GREAT LIFESTYLE = GREAT SPORT




This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix Three

Map of the proposed Parish of Fairham

%

’ ,
srdendale?
endale

[ —

EN

nel ok
~House .

v 1
{ \

{ Gleberarm |

Tﬁrdm/ptén, 7z

/ 5
: ' : y 2 ) 7
"Y.?.g_hii':h.u - f.nii;-u,\ < Gotham Round Spinney

page 211



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meetings held on 20 and 27 November 2025
	Minutes , 27/11/2025 Council

	9 2026/27 Budget and Financial Strategy
	Enc. 1 for Budget and Financial Strategy
	Enc. 2 for Budget and Financial Strategy

	10 Council Tax Resolution 2026/27
	12 Barton in Fabis Community Governance Review
	Enc. 1 for Barton in Fabis Community Governance Review
	Revised household leaflet - Barton
	Revised leaflet insert

	Enc. 2 for Barton in Fabis Community Governance Review
	Stage 2 leaflet insert 
	Stage 2 leaflet

	Enc. 3 for Barton in Fabis Community Governance Review


